Council
Summons and Agenda
Date:

Thursday 30 September 2021

Time:

6.30 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber, Harrow Civic Centre, Station
Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY

All Councillors are hereby summoned to attend the
Council Meeting for the transaction of the business set
out.

Hugh Peart
Director of Legal and Governance Services

Despatch Date: [Wednesday 22 September 2021]

Scan this code for the electronic agenda:

Useful Information
Meeting details:
This meeting is open to the press and public:
Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at:
www.harrow.gov.uk/contact
and can be viewed on www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting

Meeting access / special requirements.
The public will be admitted on a first-come-first basis and you will be directed to seats.
If you are a registered speaker please advise Security on your arrival.
If you are attending the meeting please:
(1)

Take a Covid 19 test up to 24 hours before the meeting. Harrow residents can book
a test by visiting https://www.harrow.gov.uk/coronavirus-covid-19/book-covid-test. If
you are not a Harrow resident, please visit your local authority’s webpages for your
closest test site. Alternatively, you can request a Home Test by visiting
https://www.gov.uk/order-coronavirus-rapid-lateralflow-tests. If you do not have
access to the internet, please call 119 or speak to your Local Chemist;

(2)

Scan the NHS Test and Trace barcode or provide your contact information;

(3)

Wear a face covering and use the hand sanitiser;

(4)

Stay seated during the meeting;

(5)

Access the meeting agenda online at:
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=288&Year=0; and

(6)

Follow the social distancing and other instructions of the Security Officers.

The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets
and lifts to meeting room. If you have special requirements, please contact the officer listed
on the front page of this agenda.

Filming / recording of meetings
Please note that proceedings at this meeting will be recorded or filmed. If you choose to
attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being recorded and/or filmed.
The recording will be made available on the Council website following the meeting.
When present in the meeting room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices.

Agenda publication date: Wednesday 22 September 2021

Council - 30 September 2021

2

Prayers
Imam Professor Hafiz Muhammad Akram, Harrow Central Mosque will open the meeting
with Prayers.
1.

Minute Silence

2.

Council Minutes

(Pages 11 - 16)

That the minutes of the Annual meeting held on 5 May 2021 be taken as read and
signed as a correct record.
3.

Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising from
business to be transacted at this meeting, from all Members of the Council.

4.

Procedural Motions
To receive and consider any procedural motions by Members of the Council in relation to
the conduct of this Meeting. Notice of such procedural motions, received after the
issuing of this Summons, will be tabled.

5.

Civic Functions
To receive any communications from the newly elected Mayor as to the Civic Functions
for 2021/22.
The Annual Civic Remembrance Service will be held on Sunday 14 November 2021.

6.

Petitions
To receive any petitions to be presented:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

7.

by a representative of the petitioners;
by a Councillor, on behalf of petitioners;
by the Mayor, on behalf of petitioners.

Public Questions *
A period of up to 15 minutes is allowed for members of the public to ask questions of
members of the Executive, Portfolio Holders and Chairs of Committees, of which notice
has been received no later than 3.00 pm two clear working days prior to the day of this
Meeting. Any such questions received will be tabled.

8.

Leader and Portfolio Holder Announcements
To receive a presentation from the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holders on
business since the last ordinary meeting, followed by a question and answer session.
The item is allotted 20 minutes.

9.

Appointment of Honorary Recorder for Harrow Council

(Pages 17 - 22)

Report of the Monitoring Officer

Council - 30 September 2021

3

10.

Dispensation for Members of Council

(Pages 23 - 28)

Report of the Monitoring Officer
11.

Review of Polling Places and Polling Districts
Recommendation I:

12.

Constitution Update

(Pages 29 - 34)

Licensing and General Purposes Committee
(2 September 2021)
(Pages 35 - 236)

Report of the Director of Legal and Governance Services.
13.

Appointment of Employers' Representative (Scheduled and Admitted Bodies) to
the Pension Board (Pages 237 - 242)
Report of the Director of Finance

14.

Scrutiny Annual Report 2020-21
Recommendation I:

15.

(Pages 243 - 246)

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(20 April 2021)

Scrutiny Work Programme 2021-22
Recommendation II:

(Pages 247 - 250)

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(20 April 2021)

16.

Information Report - Decisions taken under the Urgency Procedure - Council
(Pages 251 - 254)

17.

Information Report - Decisions taken under the Urgency Procedure - Executive
(Pages 255 - 260)

18.

Information Report - Remuneration Packages of £100,000 or greater
266)

19.

Information Report - Remuneration Package and Severance Payment of £100,000
or greater (Pages 267 - 272)

20.

Questions with Notice *

(Pages 261 -

A period of up to 15 minutes is allowed for asking written questions by Members of
Council of a member of the Executive or the Chair of any Committee:(i)

of which notice has been received at least two clear working days prior to the day
of this Meeting; or

(ii)

which relate to urgent matters, and the consent of the Executive Member or
Committee Chair to whom the question is to be put has been obtained and the
content has been advised to the Director of Legal and Governance Services by
12 noon on the day of the Council Meeting.

Any such questions received will be tabled.
Council - 30 September 2021

4

21.

Motions
The following Motions have been notified in accordance with the requirements of Council
Procedure Rule 15, to be moved and seconded by the Members indicated:
(1)

One Hour Free Parking Motion
To be moved by Councillor Paul Osborn and seconded by
Councillor Anjana Patel:
“This Council notes:
 The Covid-19 Pandemic has had a devastating effect on
business of all sizes, but especially small to medium
business.
 While it is recognised that the government went above and
beyond to support businesses through Covid grants and
business rate relief, many businesses are still struggling.
 Eighteen months of lockdown have taken their toll on
businesses in Harrow.
 Parking costs, even before the pandemic, often discourage
people from shopping locally.
 Local Authorities should be doing everything in their power
to encourage residents to use local shops and support
local businesses.
 Research collected for smallbusiness.co.uk in 2017 shows
that 9 in 10 residents would be more likely to visit the high
street if there were some element of free parking.
 In February at the Budget Full Council meeting, Harrow
Conservatives proposed a costed solution which would
deliver one-hour free parking at Council car parks for one
year.
This Council resolves:



To support local residents when parking to use local
shops.
To call on the Executive to implement the fully costed
proposals put forward by Harrow Conservatives at the
February Full Council meeting and introduce one-hour free
car parking across all Council car parks.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15.6, this Motion is
moved by the Leader of the Opposition, as it relates to a matter
within the powers of the Executive, to not stand automatically
referred to the next meeting of the Executive but shall be dealt
with as if Council Procedure Rule 15.7.1 applied.
(2)

Planning Motion
To be moved by Councillor Graham Henson and seconded by
Councillor Natasha Proctor:

Council - 30 September 2021

5

“This Council believes planning works best when developers and
the local community work together to shape local areas and
deliver necessary new homes;
This Council therefore calls on the Government to




protect the right of communities to object to individual
planning applications
undertake a review of permitted development rights
implement stronger controls to ensure Ministers making
decisions on planning applications are not connected,
financially or personally, with developers or related parties
to the application

The Council instructs the Chief Executive to write to the three
Harrow Members of Parliament – Gareth Thomas, Bob Blackman
and David Simmonds – to inform them of this motion, seek their
support for the points made, and their commitment to oppose any
changes that seek to reduce the rights of communities to object
to individual planning application and for the letters and any
responses to be published for residents.”
(3)

Food Poverty Motion
To be moved by Councillor Pamela Fitzpatrick and seconded by
Councillor Krishna Suresh:
“Council notes:


That the Covid pandemic has exacerbated and highlighted
the issue of food insecurity in the UK, resulting in a crisis
of food poverty with approximately 10 million people
experiencing food insecurity. This crisis is born out of the
political choices and systemic failings created by a decade
of austerity and policies that have torn in the social
security safety net. As a result, many in our communities
have reached a crisis point.



The use of food banks was increasing well before the
Covid-19 pandemic. During the pandemic, food bank use
has effectively doubled, and all indications are that this
situation will continue to get worse.



The Trussell Trust reported the number of food parcels
given to children rose by 52 per cent during the pandemic.
These figures are devastating for one of the richest nations
in the world and highlight the sheer scale of inequality in
the UK.



Harrow has seen a growing number of children living in
poverty. In Harrow there are over 18,000 children living in
poverty and we see the profound and devastating
consequences of food insecurity on the health, wellbeing

Council - 30 September 2021

6

and livelihoods of citizens in our communities.


The recent How Are You (HAY) report, which had over
6,000 responses from Harrow young people showed that
that over one in ten of us worry that their family might run
out of food because of lack of money or other resources.
Further analysis revealed a significant negative link with
food insecurity on how we feel mentally and physically.



The community kitchen in Wealdstone served over
500,000 meals and during the pandemic redistributed over
1000 tonnes of food destined for waste, The Breaking
Bread Trust and other charities in Harrow are seeing high
demand, and My Yard have delivered over 50 tonnes of
surplus food to residents.



During the pandemic, Harrow Council stepped up to
ensure that Free School Meal provision was extended over
the summer holidays, ensuring that no child went hungry
whilst out of school. Whilst the Council is proud to have
provided this support, the Government must be compelled
to act in such circumstances and not be shamed into doing
so by Premier League footballers.



The consistent high rates of poverty across Harrow and we
recognise the growing concern amongst our health and
care professionals of the current situation. The situation is
likely to be exacerbated through the impact of the Covid19
pandemic and the resulting economic uncertainty.



A very bad situation is about to be made a whole lot worse
with the pending cut of £20 week. The cost of everyday
living is soaring, yet this represent the biggest overnight
cut to the basic rate of social security since World War II
and will pile unnecessary financial pressure on families,
both in and out of work. Save the Children has found that
almost half of Universal Credit claimants don’t think they
can live on £20 less each week; 61% claimants state they
will struggle to afford food, 48% worry they won’t be able
to cover essential bills and 37% will struggle to pay for
children’s books and toys.



The National Living Wage for those over 23 is £8.91 an
hour. Income tax would take off £1.78 of that and National
Insurance another £1.07. For people on UC who work
(around 40% of claimants), the more they earn - above an
in-work allowance - the more their benefit reduces. For
every extra pound earned, the benefit payment reduces by
63p. This would almost certainly apply to this full time
worker, taking off £3.82, bringing the hourly total to £2.24.
That means they would have to work about nine hours to
take home £20. (calculation originally done by the
Resolution Foundation).

Council - 30 September 2021

7



The National Food Strategy, Independent Review,
published earlier this year, is the first independent review
of England’s entire food system for 75 years. Its purpose
is to set out a vision for the kind of food system we should
be building for the future, and a plan for how to achieve
that vision.



That the Government recognises the United Nations
International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural
Rights, including the “fundamental right to be free from
hunger” (Article 11:2)

The Council agrees that:


Our society should be taking progressive steps towards
the eradication of hunger, and towards the development of
fair and balanced system for sustainable farming and
fishing that works for both food producers and consumers
alike.



The government must take a lead on making this happen,
for everyone’s benefit, by upholding our Right to Food.



The Government has a duty to ensure nobody in our
communities goes hungry and that the “Right to Food”
should be enshrined in UK law in order to make clear this
obligation and



Free School Meal provision should be extended in line with
a recommendation of the National Food Strategy,
Independent review, as the current threshold means that
families must be extremely poor to qualify.

Therefore the Council resolves to:


Call upon the Government to:
1. Include the ‘Right To Food’ in the ‘National Food
Strategy’.
2. Extend Free School Meals provision throughout school
holidays.
3. Retain the £20 uplift to Universal Credit.
4. Scrap the five week waiting period for Universal Credit.

Taken together, these measures would help to alleviate some of
the worst food insecurity in our country and ensure that the Right
to Food is properly recognised in law.
Further, council resolves:

Ask the Chief Executive to write to Henry Dimbleby to
further to request for the ‘Right to Food’ to be incorporated

Council - 30 September 2021

8

into the ‘National Food Strategy’.


(4)

For the council to clearly signpost the support, networks
and guidance that is available in Harrow, and promote
through appropriate channels to our residents and
businesses.”

Deliver a Better Built Environment in Harrow Motion
To be moved by Councillor Marilyn Ashton and seconded by
Councillor Stephen Greek
“Harrow, like many London boroughs, has seen extensive
changes in the built environment over the last decade. As the
demand for housing has risen, Harrow has seen a significant
increase in high-rise buildings as well as the conversion of family
homes into flats and HMOs.
This Council notes:









The Planning Policy Working Group (PPWG) has recently
considered a draft of a Small Sites Design Code
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).
o This document is currently private and confidential.
However, it is noted that there is no mention of
limiting the number conversions of single-family
dwellings into flats or HMOs.
In recent years there has been a notable increase in
HMOs and conversions of family homes into flats.
Large HMOs and conversions of houses into flats runs
contrary to the suburban and family focused character of
our borough.
The strain that these additional units (in the form of
conversions and HMOs) can put on our existing
infrastructure.
This resolution is designed to assist the Council in
having the tools to be able to win an appeal on
excessive numbers of conversions and HMOs.

This Council resolves:




To protect the suburban and family friendly character of
Harrow’s housing stock.
To reaffirm its commitment to putting quality housing for
families front and centre of our borough’s planning policy.
In addition to the Small Sites Design Code SPD, this
Council asks the PPWG to also consider:
o Adopting a policy which would limit the number of
conversions of family houses in any street to no
more than 20% of the total housing stock in the
street.
o Adopting a policy which would limit the number of
large HMOs (six or more tenants) in any street to no

Council - 30 September 2021

9

more than 10% of the total housing stock in the
street.”
* Data Protection Act Notice
The Council will record the meeting and will place the recording on the Council’s website.
[Note: The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.]

Council - 30 September 2021

10

Agenda Item 2
Pages 11 to 16

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

MINUTES

11

This page is intentionally left blank

Council (Annual)
Minutes
5 May 2021
Present:

Councillors:

Council - 5 May 2021

Councillor Nitin Parekh

(The Worshipful the Mayor)

Councillor Ghazanfar Ali

(The Deputy Mayor)

Richard Almond
Dan Anderson
Jeff Anderson
Sue Anderson
Marilyn Ashton
Peymana Assad
Camilla Bath
Christopher Baxter
Philip Benjamin
Michael Borio
Simon Brown
Sarah Butterworth
Kam Chana
Ramji Chauhan
Niraj Dattani
Keith Ferry
Pamela Fitzpatrick
Dean Gilligan
Stephen Greek
Chetna Halai
Susan Hall
Graham Henson
John Hinkley
Nitesh Hirani
Honey Jamie
Ameet Jogia
Jean Lammiman
James Lee
Dr Lesline Lewinson
Kairul Kareema Marikar

Ajay Maru
Jerry Miles
Vina Mithani
Amir Moshenson
Chris Mote
Janet Mote
Angella Murphy-Strachan
Phillip O'Dell
Paul Osborn
Mina Parmar
Varsha Parmar
Anjana Patel
Primesh Patel
Pritesh Patel
David Perry
Natasha Proctor
Kanti Rabadia
Kiran Ramchandani
Christine Robson
Lynda Seymour
Rekha Shah
Sachin Shah
Chloe Smith
Norman Stevenson
Krishna Suresh
Sasi Suresh
Adam Swersky
Bharat Thakker
Antonio Weiss
Stephen Wright

13

Page 113

Apologies
received:

Councillor Maxine Henson

PRAYERS
The meeting opened with Prayers offered by His Holiness Shri Rajrajeshwar
Guruji, Founder and Spiritual Leader of the International
Siddhashram Shakti Centre
203.

Minute Silence
Members of Council stood and observed a minute silence for His Royal
Highness, The Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh who had sadly passed away
on 9 April 2021, for the Harrow residents who had passed away during the
COVID pandemic and for those suffering during the current crisis in India.

204.

Election of Mayor
RESOLVED (Unanimously): That Councillor Ghazanfar Ali be elected
Mayor of the London Borough of Harrow for the Municipal Year 2021/22.

205.

Election of Deputy Mayor
RESOLVED (Unanimously): That Councillor Sasi Suresh be elected
Deputy Mayor of the London Borough of Harrow for the Municipal Year
2021/22.

206.

Appointment of Chaplain
The Mayor confirmed to Council that he had appointed Imam Professor Hafiz
Muhammad Akram, Harrow Central Mosque and Imam Fazal Shafiuddin as
his Chaplains for his Mayoral Year.

207.

Declarations of Interest
RESOLVED: To note that the Declarations of Interests published in
advance of the meeting on the Council’s website were taken as read.

208.

Procedural Motions
There were no procedural motions.

209.

Council Minutes
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2021
be taken as read and signed as a correct record.

- 114 -

14

Council - 5 May 2021

210.

Cabinet and Committee Memberships
RESOLVED: That

211.

(i)

it be noted that Councillor Natasha Proctor was the Deputy Leader
of the Council;

(ii)

the Councillors appointed to Cabinet with the identified portfolios,
as contained within the report be noted;

(iii)

the terms of reference for Cabinet and the Portfolio Holders
attached at Appendix A to the report be agreed;

(iv)

the determination of the allocation of places on the Council’s
Committees contained in the report in accordance with the
‘political balance’ rules in the Local Government and Housing Act
1989 be agreed and Members be appointed to them, in
accordance with the notification from Political Groups;

(v)

subject to noting that Councillor Dean Gilligan would be a main
member of the Governance, Audit, Risk Management and
Standards Committee in place of Councillor Peymana Assad, the
establishment and terms of reference of the Committees and
other bodies as set out in the report and Appendix B be agreed;

(vi)

the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme be amended to
include a Band 4 (£9,037 pa) Special Responsibility Allowance for
the Chair of the Planning Committee.

Appointment of Chairs to Committees
Two nominations for the Chair of Planning Committee were received and
were duly seconded. Upon the meeting moving to a vote on the nominations,
ten Members requested a Roll Call Vote. The voting on the nominations for
the Chair of Planning Committee was as follows:
For Councillor Pamela Fitzpatrick: Councillors Dan Anderson, Jeff
Anderson, Sue Anderson, Assad, Borio, Brown, Butterworth, Dattani, Ferry,
Fitzpatrick, Gilligan, Graham Henson, Jamie, Lee, Maru, Kairul Kareema
Marikar, Miles, Murphy-Strachan, O’Dell, Parekh, Varsha Parmar, Primesh
Patel, Perry, Proctor, Ramchandani, Robson, Rekha Shah, Sachin Shah,
Smith, Krishna Suresh, Sasikala Suresh, Swersky and Dr Weiss.
For Councillor Marilyn Ashton: Councillors Almond, Ashton, Bath, Baxter,
Benjamin, Chana, Chauhan, Greek, Halai, Hall, Hinkley, Hirani, Jogia,
Lammiman, Dr Lewinson, , Mithani, Moshenson, Chris Mote, Janet Mote,
Osborn, Mina Parmar, Anjana Patel, Pritesh Patel, Rabadia, Seymour,
Stevenson, Thakker and Wright.
Abstain: The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor Ghazanfar Ali.

Council - 5 May 2021

15

Page 115

RESOLVED: That the following Councillors be elected as the Chairs of
the relevant Committees:

212.

Governance, Audit, Risk
Management and Standards

Councillor David Perry

Health and Wellbeing Board

Councillor Graham Henson

Licensing and General Purposes

Councillor Primesh Patel

Overview and Scrutiny

Councillor Sachin Shah

Planning

Councillor Pamela Fitzpatrick

Pension Fund

Councillor Nitin Parekh

Appointment of Representatives to Outside Bodies
RESOLVED: That the Outside Body appointments for the Municipal
Year 2021/22, as set out on the supplemental summons, be approved.

213.

Dates of Council Meetings 2021/22
RESOLVED: That the dates of the following Council meetings be
confirmed:
30 September 2021
25 November 2021
24 February 2022
(Close of Meeting: All business having been completed, the Mayor declared
the meeting closed at 8.20 pm).

Page 116

16

Council - 5 May 2021

Agenda Item 9
Pages 17 to 22

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

APPOINTMENT OF HONORARY RECORDER FOR
HARROW COUNCIL

17

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Appointment of Honorary Recorder
for Harrow Council

Responsible Officer:

Hugh Peart, Monitoring Officer

Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

All

Summary and Recommendations
This report seeks Council approval to the appointment of an Honorary
Recorder for Harrow.

Recommendations:
That Council agrees, pursuant to section 54 of the Courts Act 1971,
that Her Honour Judge Rosa Dean be appointed to the Office of
Honorary Recorder of Harrow during her tenure as Resident Judge at
Harrow Crown Court.

Background
The Lord Chief Justice’s Guidelines for the Appointment of Honorary
Recorders recommends the appointment of the Resident Judge to be
Honorary Recorder of a Borough during their tenure of office, thereby
reinforcing the links between a Borough and its criminal Court.
At each Crown Court centre a particular judge appointed “Resident Judge”
leads the team of judges who sit there and provides the essential link
between the judiciary and the administration.

a

19

The Resident Judge is usually a Senior Circuit Judge who is recruited and
appointed specifically to that post. Such a judge holds office as a Resident Judge,
(and if so appointed), as Honorary Recorder until their retirement from the post.
It is customary for an Honorary Recorder, when sitting in the Crown Court in the
Borough where they hold office, to be described as such in the published court
lists.
Those Honorary Recorders who are also Senior Circuit Judges are authorised by
the Lord Chancellor to wear red robes when sitting in court.
Her Honour Judge Rosa Dean
Her Honour Judge Rosa Dean is a Circuit Judge. HHJ Rosa Dean was called to
the Bar in 1993 and practised mainly Criminal Law on the Midlands and South
Eastern Circuit.
HHJ Dean was appointed as Circuit Judge in 2011, one of the youngest female
judges at the time and started her full-time judicial career at Isleworth Crown Court.
After a short stint she moved to Wood Green Crown Court and then to Harrow
Crown Court where she was appointed Resident Judge in 2017.
Legal implications
The appointment of an Honorary Recorder is made by the Borough Council
concerned and does not require the approval of the Lord Chancellor or the Lord
Chief Justice, but the Lord Chief Justice encourages boroughs to first consult the
Senior Presiding Judge for England and Wales.
The Senior Presiding Judge for England and Wales, The Rt Hon Lady Justice
Thirlwall DBE has been duly consulted and has confirmed her support, noting that
HHJ Dean “is a fine judge and serves the interests of justice and the people of
Harrow with great distinction”.
Financial Implications
Any costs associated with appointment will be contained within the Mayoralty
budget.

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality
Duty
Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out? No

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
Statutory Officer: Dawn Calvert
Signed on by the Chief Financial Officer

20

Date: 9 September 2021
Statutory Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed on by the Monitoring Officer

Date: 3 September 2021
Chief Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed by the Corporate Director

Date: 3 September 2021

Mandatory Checks
Ward Councillors notified: NO as it impacts on all Wards

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Hugh Peart, Monitoring Officer
hugh.peart@harrow.gov.uk

Background Papers: None
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?
1.
2.

Consultation
Priorities

YES
NO

21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Pages 23 to 28

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

DISPENSATION FOR MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

23

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Dispensation for Members of Council

Responsible Officer:

Hugh Peart, Monitoring Officer

Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

All

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
This report seeks Council approval to the granting of a dispensation to all
Members from the requirement to physically attend a Council meeting until
30th April 2022.

Recommendations:
That all Members of Council be granted a dispensation from the
requirement to physically attend a meeting of the Council until 30th
April 2022 provided they attend a hybrid/virtual meeting during the
period of the dispensation, to reflect the continuing impact of the
COVID 19 pandemic

Section 2 – Report
Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that if a member of
a local authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive months to attend
any meeting of the authority, they shall, unless the failure was due to some
reason approved by the authority before the expiry of that period, cease to be
a member of the authority (the 6-month rule).
Between and April 2020 and May 2021 the law was temporarily changed to
provide that Members joining a virtual meeting were treated as being in

a

25

attendance for the purposes of s85 above. This provision has now expired,
and a Member must be physically present in the room to be treated as
attending the meeting.
Given the limitations on the numbers of people that Civic Centre meeting rooms
can safely accommodate and acknowledging that not all Members may feel
comfortable attending public meetings in person, some Members may be
affected by the above 6-month rule.
The Council is likely to continue hybrid meetings for the foreseeable future
to allow both members and residents to participate as fully as possible in
public meetings. Without a dispensation, members joining virtually would not
be treated as being in attendance for the purposes of the 6-month rule.
For this reason, a dispensation from the requirement to physically attend any
meeting of the authority is being sought for all Members.
The dispensation would only apply where a Member attends and is recorded
as attending a hybrid/virtual meeting of either full Council or one of its
committees during the period of the dispensation, i.e. until 30th April 2022.
Whilst members joining virtually can take part in the discussion, they are not
be able to vote or take any formal part in a meeting, e.g. moving motions.

Legal Implications
Contained in the report

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Risk Management Implications
If the Council does not approve the reason for absence, some Members will
cease to be a member of the Authority. The risk is mitigated by this report.

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality
Duty
Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out? No

26

Council Priorities
Full Council approved the following priorities:1.

Improving the environment and addressing climate change

2.

Tackling poverty and inequality

3.

Building homes and infrastructure

4.

Addressing health and social care inequality

5.

Thriving economy

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
Statutory Officer: Dawn Calvert
Signed on by the Chief Financial Officer

Date: 9 September 2021
Statutory Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed on by the Monitoring Officer

Date: 31 August 2021
Chief Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed by the Corporate Director

Date: 31 August 2021

Mandatory Checks
Ward Councillors notified: NO as it impacts on all Wards

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Alison Atherton, Senior Professional Democratic Services
Alison.atherton@harrow.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

27

If appropriate, does the report include the following
considerations?
1.
2.

Consultation
Priorities

NO
NO

28

Agenda Item 11
Pages 29 to 34

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES
COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION
(2 SEPTEMBER 2021)
RECOMMENDATION I

REVIEW OF POLLING PLACES AND
POLLING DISTRICTS

29

This page is intentionally left blank

Licensing and General
Purposes Committee (Special)
Minutes
2 September 2021
Present:

24.

Chair:

Councillor Primesh Patel

Councillors:

Richard Almond
Michael Borio
Sarah Butterworth
Ramji Chauhan
Pamela Fitzpatrick
Dean Gilligan

Maxine Henson
John Hinkley
Ajay Maru
Amir Moshenson
Kanti Rabadia
Sasi Suresh

In attendance
(Councillors):

Keith Ferry

For Minute 267

Apologies
received:

Councillor Chetna Halai

Councillor Stephen Wright

Attendance by Reserve Members
RESOLVED: To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly
appointed Reserve Member:-

25.

Ordinary Member

Reserve Member

Councillor Angella Murphy-Strachan

Councillor Sasikala Suresh

Declarations of Interest
RESOLVED: To note that
(1)

the Declarations of Interests published in advance of the meeting on
the Council’s website were taken as read;

31

Licensing and General Purposes Committee - 2 September 2021

Page 23

(2)

Councillor Ramji Chauhan declared a non-pecuniary interest in that he
was a governor at Glebe Primary School;

(3)

members of the Committee who had declared interests remained in the
meeting whilst the matters were considered and voted upon.

Recommended Items
26.

Review of Polling Places and Polling Districts
The Committee received the report of the Director of Legal and Governance
Services which set out the recommendations of the Polling District Review
Working Group following a review of the Council’s polling districts and polling
places.
The Chair of the Working Group introduced the report and explained that the
review had been conducted as a result of the new ward arrangements coming
into force in May 2022, as a result of the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England’s review.
The Chair of the Working Group further reported that:


the Polling District Review Working Group had used a number of
different criteria in developing their proposals including using current
polling district boundaries, ensuring that all polling stations were
accessible for relevant electors, and attempting to retain polling
stations which electors were used to attending;



a formal public consultation was held on the proposals developed by
the Polling District Review Working Group. The consultation took place
between 14 June and 23 July 2021;



47 responses had been received in relation to the consultation. Most
of these responses related to a request for Awylard Primary School not
to be used as a polling station for the proposed Canons Polling District
2, but for the William of York Roman Catholic Church to be used
instead;



officers would be conducting an administrative task in due course to
designate the new proposed polling districts prefixes. These would be
included on the Full Electoral Register to be published on 1 December
2021;



the maps included in the report were to be used as the definitive
version of the proposals developed by the Polling District Review
Working Group; and



he wished to thank all Members on the Polling District Review Working
Group, Electoral Services and the GIS Team for their assistance.

A Member of the Committee, who was also a Member of the Polling District
Review Working Group reported that:

32

Licensing and General Purposes Committee - 2 September 2021

Page 24



he supported the comments made by the Chair of the Working Group;



the proposals developed had demonstrated the cross-party nature of
the work conducted by the Polling District Review Working Group; and



the work conducted was vital to ensure participation by electors in the
democratic process in electing relevant officials.

A Member of the Committee queried whether the Salvatorian College in
Harrow Weald had been approached for use as a polling station. An officer
confirmed that discussions had taken place in the past but it had not been
successful in securing its use.
The Member of the Committee also queried whether streets and electors
identified in Harrow Weald Polling District 4 could be split to go into Harrow
Weald Polling Districts 3 and 5. An officer confirmed that electors were used
to attending the area for the polling station identified in Harrow Weald Polling
District 4. The Member confirmed that he was satisfied with the responses
provided.
The Chair advised the Committee that he had received a representation prior
to the meeting that properties in The Meadow Way, The Bye Way and Church
Lane be moved from Wealdstone North Polling District 1 to Wealdstone North
Polling District 3. The reason for this was that it would be easier for electors
living in this polling district to vote at the polling station identified for polling
district 3. Upon putting this to a vote, this amendment was agreed by the
Committee.
Resolved to RECOMMEND: (to Council)
That
(1)

the recommendations of the Working Group in relation to the individual
polling districts and polling places for all future elections with effect
from May 2022 to May 2027 set out in the report, together with the
amendment to the Wealdstone North Ward as set out in appendix 1 to
these minutes, be approved; and

(2)

any further changes in venue within a polling district be agreed by the
Returning Officer in consultation with ward members.

(Note: The meeting, having commenced at 5.30 pm, closed at 5.53 pm).

(Signed) Councillor Primesh Patel
Chair

33

Licensing and General Purposes Committee - 2 September 2021

Page 25

Licensing and General Purposes Committee - 2 September 2021

34

Page 26

0.2

0.4 kms

New
Marlborough
PD 1

Marlborough

New Wealdstone
North
PD 1

New Harrow
Weald PD 4

New Wealdstone
South
PD 2

New
Wealdstone
North PD 2

Proposed Polling District Boundaries

Harrow Ward Boundaries for 2022

Belmont

New
Belmont
PD 3

New Wealdstone
South PD 3

Borough boundary

Wealdstone
South

New Wealdstone
North PD 3

© Crown copyright 2021 OS 100019206. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form. DIGITAL MAP DATA © COLLINS BARTHOLOMEW LTD (2021)

0

New
Headstone
PD0.1
2

Headstone

New
Headstone
PD 1

New Harrow
Weald PD 2

Harrow Weald

New Harrow
Weald PD 5

A map to show the proposed polling districts inside Wealdstone North ward for 2022

APPENDIX I

Agenda Item 12
Pages 35 to 236

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

CONSTITUTION UPDATE

35

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Constitution update

Responsible Officer:

Hugh Peart, Director of Legal and
Governance Services

Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

All

Enclosures:

Appendix 1 – Proposed amendments
to the constitution - Summary and
Explanation, Articles, Terms of
Reference of Committees, and Officer
Delegations.

37

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
The constitution has been reviewed to take out duplication and to update it
due to changes in legislation.

Recommendations:
Council is requested to:



Agree the amendments to the constitution set out in Appendix 1 to
this report.
To note that the Monitoring Officer has a delegation to make minor
housekeeping amendments prior to the new document being
published.

Section 2 – Report
Under Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000, the Council is required
to prepare and keep up to date a document, referred to as the Constitution. In
common with most authorities, the Council’s current Constitution:
•

Sets out in summary how the Council operates and how decisions are
made;

•

Contains a number of “Constitution Documents”; and

•

Lists certain other governance documents, which “support the
constitution but do not form part of it”.

The current version of the Constitution needs to be reviewed as it has not had
a complete review for a number of years. To address these issues, the
Deputy Monitoring Officer and the project team reviewed the legislation,
guidance and good practice on Constitutions and have suggested a complete
review of the Constitution to be monitored and reviewed by a cross-party
Members Constitutional Review Working Group and then to be approved by
Council.
This report outlines Part 1 of the review which includes:
Summary and Explanation, Articles, Officer Delegations, Allocation of
Responsibilities and Terms of Reference. This will be followed with a further
report that will cover the Procedure Rules and Access to Information Rules.
The updated constitution will not come into force until after the November
Council meeting.

38

Current situation
A cross-party Members Constitution Working Party has led on the
review of the Constitution. It has been supported by the Constitutional Review
Project Team led by the Deputy Monitoring Officer. There has been
engagement with Political Party Groups and the documentation has been
made available in a shared folder.
The Articles have been reduced from 16 to 7. The current constitution has a
lot of duplication between the articles and delegation to officers or the terms of
reference of committees. Removal of this duplication has enabled the number
of Articles to be reduced enabling the document to be easier to read and
navigate.
The appointment of the Deputy Mayor has been updated to reflect legislative
requirements that the appointment is made by the Mayor and is to be noted
by Council.
The definition of a Chief Officer has been clarified.

Legal Implications
Under Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 the Council is required to
prepare and keep up to date a document, referred to as the Constitution,
which contains as a minimum:
(i) The Council’s Standing Orders;
(ii) The Council’s Code of Conduct for Members; and
(iii) Such other information as the Secretary of State directs – under the Local
Government Act 2000 (Constitutions)(England) Direction 2000 this information
includes the membership, terms of reference and functions of the Council’s
Committees and Sub-Committees, and any rules governing the conduct and
proceedings of those Committees and Sub-Committees.

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications arising as a result of the changes outlined
in this report.

Risk Management Implications
Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No
Separate risk register in place? No

39

The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised
below. n/a
The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing the
recommendations in this report:
Risk Description
The revised document
does not meet the minimum
legal requirements under
Section 37 of the Local
Government Act 2000
Failure to keep the
Constitution up to date
leads to unlawful decision
making

Mitigations

RAG Status



This has been checked
Green
by the Deputy Monitoring officer
and confirms compliance





Current review process

Green

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality
Duty
Removing duplication from the constitution will have a positive equalities
impact as this will enable the public, officers and Members to navigate the
document more easily and to make it easier to read.

Council Priorities
Good governance arrangements ensure that the Council can focus on its
priorities.

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
Statutory Officer:
Signed on behalf of the Chief Financial Officer
Sharon Daniels

Date: 6 September 2021
Statutory Officer:
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer
Caroline Eccles

40

Date: 21 September 2021
Chief Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed by the Monitoring Officer

Date: 21 September 2021

Mandatory Checks
Ward Councillors notified: NO

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Jessica Farmer Head of Legal and Deputy Monitoring
Officer, 0208 424 1889.

Background Papers:
Constitution

41

This page is intentionally left blank

LONDON BOROUGH OF
HARROW

CONSTITUTION

43

This page is intentionally left blank

2

44

London Borough of Harrow
The Constitution
Contents

Section

Commented [JF1]: Review prior to publication

Title

Pages

Contents and Colours

7
8-9

Constitution Index - September 2017
Part 1 - Summary and Explanation

10 - 16

Part 2 - Articles - Cover Sheet

17

Part 2 - Contents Sheet

18

Article 1 - The Constitution

19 - 20

Article 2 - Members and the Council

21 - 23

Article 3 - Citizens and the Council

24 - 26

Article 34 - The Full Council

27 - 30

Article 45 - The Mayor

31 - 32

Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Committee

33 - 36
37 - 41

Article 57 - The Executive
Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Committees

42 - 43

3

45

Article 10 - Area Forums or Area Committees
and Harrow Partnership Bodies

44

Article 11 - Joint Arrangements

45 - 6
4

Article 12 - Officers

47 - 3
5

Article 613 - Decision Making

54 - 6
5

Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal
Matters

57 - 58

Article 15 - Review, Revision and Publication
of the Constitution

59 - 60

Article 16 - Interpretation and Suspension of
the Constitution

61

Part 3A - Allocation of Responsibilities - Cover
Sheet

62 - 63

Part 3A - General Index

64 - 65

Part 3A - Terms of Reference

66 - 133

Part 3A1 - Terms of Reference Schedule

134 - 154

Part 3B - Delegations to Officers

155 - 171

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure - Cover Sheet

172

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure - Index

173

Part 4A - Council Procedure Rules

174 - 207

Part 4A1 - Appendix - Council Petition Scheme

208 - 212

Part 4B - Committee Procedure Rules

213 - 253

4

46

Part 4B-1 - Health and Wellbeing Procedure
Rules

254 - 258

Part 4C - Budget and Policy Procedure Rules

259 - 267

Part 4D - Executive Procedure Rules

268 - 307

Part 4G - Access to Information Procedure
Rules

308 - 326

Part 4H - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

327 - 332

Part 4I - Contract Procedure Rules

333 - 359
360

Part 4J - Miscellaneous Procedure Rules
Part 4K - Financial Regulations

361 - 420

Part 5 - Codes and Protocols - Cover Sheet

421 - 422

Part 5A - Members' Code of Conduct

423 - 434

Part 5B - Code of Conduct for Council
Employees

435 - 452

Part 5C - Protocol for Members and Officers

453 - 458

Part 5D - Code of Practice and Publicity

459 - 467

Part 5E - Planning Protocol

468 - 480

Part 5F - Corporate Anti Fraud and Corruption
Strategy

481 - 502

Part 5G - Confidentiality of Part II Reports

503 - 505

Part 5H - Co-optees and Advisers

506 - 508

Part 5I - Members' Access to Information

509 - 514

5

47

Part 5J - Gifts and Hospitality Protocol

515 -519

Part 5K - Code on Corporate Governance

520 -525

Part 5L - Anti-Money Laundering Policy

526 -542

Part 5M - Social Media Protocol

543 -548

Part 5N - Cabinet Decisions Protocol

549 -550
551

Part 5O - Protocol for public reporting on
meetings
Part 5P - Protocol on the Recording of
Decisions made by Officers

552 - 554

Part 6 - Members' Allowances Scheme - Cover
Sheet
Part 6 - Members' Allowances Scheme

555

556 -563

Part 7 - Glossary - Cover Sheet

564

Part 7 - Constitution Glossary

565 -568

6

48

CONSTITUTION
Contents
Commented [J2]: Not relevant to electronic copies

Colour
Part 1

Summary and Explanation

White

Part 2

Articles

Lilac

Part 3

Allocation of Responsibilities

Buff

Part 4

Rules of Procedure (Standing Orders)

Green

Part 5

Codes and Protocols

Pink

Part 6

Members Allowances Scheme

Gold

Part 7

Glossary

Yellow

London Borough of Harrow
2006

September 2021May

7

49

HARROW CONSTITUTION INDEX
Doc Nr.
001
001A
002
003
004
005
006
007
008
009
010
011
012
014
015
016
017
018
019
020
021
022
023
024
025
026
027
028
028A
029
029-1
030
031
032

Part

PART 1
PART 2
01
02
03
034
045
056
067
08
10
11
12
713
14
15
16
PART 3
3A
3A
3A-1
3B
PART 4
4A
4A-1
4B
4B-1
4C
4D
4E

033

4F

034
035
036
037
038
039
040
041
042
043
044
045
046

4G
4H
4I
4J
4K
PART 5
5A
5B
5C
5D
5E
5F
5G

Title
Contents - Colours
Index
Summary and Explanation
Articles (title page)
Articles (contents page)
The Constitution
Members and the Council
Citizens and the Council
The Full Council
The Mayor
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Executive
Regulatory and Other Committees
Area Committee and Forums
Joint Arrangements
Officers
Decision Making
Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
Review, Revision and Publication
Interpretation and Suspension
Allocation of Responsibility (Title Page)
Terms of Reference - General Index
Terms of Reference
Schedule to the Terms of Reference
Delegations to Officers
Rules of Procedure (Title Page)
Rules of Procedure Contents (Standing Orders)
Council Procedure Rules
Appendix Petitions Scheme
Committee Procedure Rules
Health and Wellbeing Board Procedure Rules
Budget and Policy Rules
Executive Procedure Rules
Advisory Panels and Consultative Forums –
Now included in 4D Executive Procedure Rules
Overview and Scrutiny –
Now included in 4B Committee Procedure Rules
Access to Information
Officer Employment
Contract Procedure Rules
Miscellaneous Procedure Rules
Financial Regulations
Codes and Protocols (Title & Contents)
Code of Conduct for Councillors and Members
Code of Conduct for Council Employees
Protocol on Councillor / Officer Relations
Code of Practice on Local Government Publicity
Planning Protocol
Corporate Anti-Fraud Policy
Confidentiality of Part 2 Reports

1

Revised1
Sep 2006
Feb 2016
May 2013
no date
no date
April 2010
July 2014
Feb 2014
May 2013
April 2010
Sep 2015
Sep 2016
Feb 2014
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
no date
May 2017
Sep 2017
May 2015
Feb 2015
n/a
n/a
Sep 2016
Sep 2015
Sep 2016
Sep 2017
Sep 2016
Sep 2016
April 2010
April 2010
Nov 2014
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
May 2006
Sep 2015
no date
May 2015
Feb 2014
Feb 2014
May 2006
July 2008
Feb 2017
July 2007

Reflects date of substantive amendments, but not minor consequential amendments or
corrections

8

50

Commented [C3]: Review prior to publication

047
048
049
050
051
051A
051B
051C
051D
052
053
054
055

5H
5I
5J
5K
5L
5M
5N
5O
5P
PART 6
PART 7

Protocol on Co-optees and Advisors
Members’ Access to Information
Gifts and Hospitality – Members’ Protocol
Code on Corporate Governance
Anti-Money Laundering Policy
Social Media Protocol
Cabinet Decisions Protocol
Protocol for Public reporting on Meetings
Protocol on the Recording of Decisions made by
Officers
Members Allowance - Title Page
Members Allowances Scheme
Glossary Title Page
Constitution Glossary

Sep 2015
Feb 2010
Feb 2016
Feb 2014
Oct 2014
Nov 2011
Nov 2011
Nov 2014
Feb 2016
n/a
Feb 2017
n/a
Feb 2014
Updated
September
2021July22019Sep
2017

September 2021

9

51

CONSTITUTION OF THE COUNCIL
OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF
HARROW

The Summary and Explanation of the Constitution is also available
as a separate leaflet for members of the public and is available at reception
desks in the Civic Centre and at Public Libraries

The Constitution has been prepared by officers in the Legal Services Department.
Regular updates and replacement pages will be issued.
Any comments on how the layout and contents can be improved should be sent to
the Head of Paid Service.

Formatted: Font color: Red

London Borough of Harrow
Se

eJuly
2019
2019May
2013

Summary and Explanation

10

52

Please note:
The Constitution came into effect in May 2002, having been
approved by the Council in February 2002.
The Council has made a number of changes to the Constitution
since it was first approved. Minor corrections and amendments
have also been made under the procedure of revising the
Constitution in Article 15.05.
This document is available on the Harrow web-site at
www.harrow.gov.uk.

London Borough of Harrow
September 20212013
Summary and Explanation

July 2019May

11

53

PART 1

Summary and
Explanation

Formatted: Font color: Red

London Borough of Harrow
Se

eJuly
2019
2019May
2013

Summary and Explanation

12

54

PART I
SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION
The Council’s Constitution
The Council of the London Borough of Harrow has agreed a Constitution, which sets
out how the Council operates, how decisions are made, and the procedures, which
are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local
people. Some of these processes are required by law, while others are a matter for
the Council to decide.
The Constitution is divided into seven six sixteen articles, which set out the basic rules
governing the Council’s business. More detailed procedures, codes of practice and
protocols are provided in later sections of the Constitution.
What’s in the Constitution?
Article 1 commits the Council:
To deliver high quality, cost effective services through a partnership
with all stakeholders and the community in general.
To govern within a framework of fairness, openness, integrity and
accountability.
Article 3 explains the rights of citizens in relation to the Constitution. Article 2 and 4 to
16 describe how the key parts of the Council operate. These are:
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑
❑

Members and the Council (Article 2).
The full Council (Article 4).
The Mayor (Article 5).
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees (Article 6).
The Executive (Article 7).
Regulatory and other Committees (Article 8).
The Standards Committee (Article 9).
Area Forums or Area Committees (Article 10).
Joint arrangements (Article 11).
Officers (Article 12).
Decision making (Article 13).
Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14).
Review, revision and publication of the Constitution (Article 15).
Interpretation and suspension of the Constitution (Article 16)

London Borough of Harrow
Summary and Explanation

May 2013
1-1

13

55

Commented [C4]: Revise at the end

How the Council operates
The Council is composed of 63 councillors elected every four years. Councillors are
democratically accountable to residents of their ward. The overriding duty of
councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their
constituents, including those that did not vote for them.
Councillors have to agree to follow a Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the
way they undertake their duties. The Standards Committee trains and advises them
on the Code of Conduct.
All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are normally
open to the public. Here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the
budget each year.
The Council appoints the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which has the role of
checking the actions of the Executive in delivering services and helping the Executive
to develop plans and policies. The Council is also responsible for the appointment of
chief officers.
Members of the public can present petitions and ask questions at meetings of the
Council.
How decisions are made
The Executive is the part of the Council, which is responsible for most day to day
decisions. The Executive is made up of the Leader and between two and nine other
councillors appointed by the Council, this group is also known as the Cabinet.
When major decisions are to be discussed or made, they must be published in the
Council’s Forward Plan in so far as they can be anticipated. This Forward Plan will be
regularly updated and is available to the public so they can monitor all the important
decisions made by the Executive. When these major decisions are to be discussed at
a meeting of the Executive (or Cabinet), these meetings will be open to the public to
attend, except where personal or confidential matters are to be discussed.
The Executive has to make decisions, which are in line with the Council’s overall
policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision, which is outside the budget or
policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to decide (unless the
matter is so urgent that special arrangements have to apply).

London Borough of Harrow
Summary and Explanation

14

May 2013
1-2

56

Overview and scrutiny
The Council has an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which in turn appoints Scrutiny
sub-committees, which support the work of the Executive and the Council as a whole.
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees play a role in the
formulation of the policies and strategies of the Council and in the setting of the
budget. They can be consulted by the Executive or the Council on forthcoming
decisions and the development of policy. They can hold inquiries and public debates,
which can lead to reports influencing the Executive.
They can also monitor the decisions of the Executive and have a power to “call-in”
decisions of the Executive where they have yet to be implemented. When an
Executive decision is “called-in” the Executive can be asked to reconsider its decision.
However, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot overrule the Executive.
Other Committees
Further information on other committees can be found in Part 3 of this
constitution.There is also a Planning Committee, a Licensing and General Purposes
Committee, a Health and Wellbeing Board, a Governance, Audit and Risk
Management and Standards Committee, and a Pension Fund Committee and a
Standards Committee. More detail about the operation of these Committees can be
found in Articles 8 and 9.
The Harrow Partnership Initiative
The Council has adopted a comprehensive approach to consultation by encouraging
community participation in decision-making. The Council consults with stakeholders,
residents and service users on a range of activities.
The Partnership Initiative enables the involvement of a wide number of stakeholders
from across sectors, in the planning of services and policy development, including the
shaping of the Community Plan.
A Residents Panel consisting of over 1200 local people represents the Borough’s
diverse community. The Panel helps to provide the Council with a clear picture of the
effectiveness of local services.

The Council’s Staff
The Council has people working for it (called “officers”) to give advice, implement
decisions and manage the day to day delivery of services. Some officers have a
specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources
wisely. A Protocol included in Part 5 of the Constitution governs the relationship
between officers and Members of the Council (Councillors).

15

57

London Borough of Harrow

May 202113

Summary and Explanation

16

58

Citizens’ Rights
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. These are set out
in more detail in Article 3. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the
Council’s own processes.
Where members of the public use specific council services, for example, as a parent
of a school pupil or as a council tenant, they have additional rights. These rights are
not covered specifically in the Constitution. The local Citizens Advice Bureau can
advise on individuals’ legal rights.
The Council welcomes participation by citizens in its work.
For further information on how to attend and participate at meetings, a leaflet is
available at the Civic Centre Reception or from libraries. Information is also available
from the Reception Office for the Legal Services Department telephone
020 8424 1277, e-mail democratic.serviceslinda.bradford@Harrow.gov.uk or can be
found on from the Authority’s web site at: www.harrow.gov.uk
For further information on the Partnership Initiative, or if you would like to join the
Harrow Residents Panel, please contact Mike Howes on 020 8420 9637 or e-mail
Mike.Howes@harrow.gov.uk

* For the purposes of this Constitution, the term Citizens includes (where appropriate)
those people who study, work or have businesses in Harrow.

London Borough of Harrow
Summary and Explanation

July 2019May 2013
1-4

17

59

PART 2
Articles of the
Constitution

18
17

60

PART 2
Commented [C5]: Amend at end

ARTICLES
Page No.
Article 1

The Constitution

2-1

Article 2

Members and the Council

2-3

Article 3

Citizens and the Council

2-6

Article 34

The Full Council

2-9

Article 45

The Mayor

2 - 13

Article 6

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny
sub-committees

2 - 15

Article 57

The Executive

2 - 19

Article 8

Regulatory and Other Committees

2 - 23

Article 9

The Standards Committee

2 - 25

Article 10

Area Committee and Forums

2 - 28

Article 11

Joint Arrangements

2 - 30

Article 12

Officers

2 - 32

Article 613

Decision-making

2 - 39

Article 14

Finance, contracts and legal matters

2 - 42

Article 15

Review, revision and publication of the Constitution

2 - 44

Article 16

Interpretation and suspension of the Constitution

2 - 46

61

Article 1
The Constitution
Introduction
This Article sets out the fundamental provisions of the Constitution. It confirms
that the Authority will act within the law and the provisions of this Constitution,
and also that the Authority will monitor and review its Constitution. It also
provides for methods of changing the constitution, and for its publication.

1.1

Powers of the Council
The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and
this Constitution.

1.2

The Constitution
This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the Council of the
London Borough of Harrow.

1.3

Purpose of the Constitution
The Council’s aim is:
To deliver high quality, cost effective services through a partnership
with all stakeholders and the community in general.
To govern within a framework of fairness, openness, integrity and
accountability.
The purpose and principles outlined in the Constitution seek to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community;
work in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;
support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority
decision making;
help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;
enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;
create a powerful and effective means of holding decision makers to public
account;
provide excellent standards of ethics and probity in decision making;

London Borough of Harrow – Article 1
The Constitution

July 2019April 2010
2-1

62

Commented [C6]: This covers points from Art 15.

•
•
•
1.4

ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable
to local people;
explain the reasons for decisions; and
provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community.

Interpretation of the Constitution
Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different
courses of action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks
is closest to the above purposes.
The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this
Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged
at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the
purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

1.5

Review and Amendment of the Constitution
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution and
will amend it as appropriate., as set out in Article 15.
Where changes must be approved by full Council, the Monitoring Officer,
having first consulted with the Leader of the political groups or their
nominees, may present a report direct to Council proposing changes to the
Constitution.
Subject to any statutory requirements, the Codes and Protocols and other
documents in Part 5 of the Constitution may be amended by the body that
created them without Council approval except for the Code of Conduct for
Members which is reserved to Council.

1.6

Publication
The constitution is published on the Council’s website and updated when
amendments are made.

1.8

Change from a Leader and Executive form of governance to alternative
arrangements, or vice versa.
The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and
other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals for a
change in the form of governance and shall comply with any statutory
requirements in relation to such changes

1.9

Suspension of the Constitution

21

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. Other Rules and
Protocols may be suspended by the body to which they apply (or if no such

63

body by the Council) to the extent permitted within those Rules, and
Protocols and the law.

20

64

Article 2
Members and the Council
Introduction
This Article sets out how Councillors are elected. the composition of the
Council, eligibility to stand for election and the form of election to be
used.
It also includes a statement on the roles and functions of Members of the
Council and sets out the rights and duties of Councillors.

2.1

Composition and eligibility
(a)

Composition
The Council will comprise 63 Members (otherwise called Councillors).
Three members will be elected by the voters of each of the 21 wards
in the Borough in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the Local
Government Commission and approved by the Secretary of State.

(b)

Eligibility
Only registered voters of the London Borough of Harrow or those
living, working or occupying property within the Borough for 12
months before the election will be eligible to hold the office of
Councillor. There are legal rules preventing certain people from
becoming Councillors.

2.22.1 Election and terms of Councillors
The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May
every four years beginning in May 2002. The terms of office of Councillors
will start on the fourth day after being elected and except for the Leader and
Mayor will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election
unless they are re-elected.

2.32.2 Roles and Functions of Councillors
(a)

Commented [C7]: Take out as included in the introduction.

Key Roles
All Councillors will:
(i)

21

collectively be the ultimate policy and decision makers;

65

Commented [C8]: Not needed in the constitution as part of
the election process.

(b)

(ii)

contribute to the good governance of the Council;

(iii)

represent their communities interests (both individuals and
local groups) and bring their views into the Council’s decisionmaking process;

(iv)

actively encourage community
involvement in decision making;

(v)

deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for
constituents in resolving particular concerns or grievances;

(vi)

balance and effectively represent the interests of their ward
and of individual constituents;

(vii)

(for Councillors who are not part of the Executive) scrutinise
proposals and decisions and monitor how Council policy is
being implemented;

(viii)

be available to represent the Council on other bodies;

(ix)

promote equality and diversity in the Council’s policies and
practices;

(x)

maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

participation

and

citizen

Rights and duties
(i)

Councillors will have rights of access to such documents,
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary
for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance
with the law.

(ii)

Councillors will not make public information, which is
confidential or exempt, without the consent of the Council.

(iii)

Councillors will not divulge information given in confidence, to
anyone other than a Councillor or officer entitled to know it.

(iv)

For these purposes, “confidential “ and “exempt” information is
defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4
of this Constitution.

(v)

Councillors will be given reasonable professional advice and
support from officers of the Council in their work as Councillors.

(vi)

When the Council considers it to be in its interests to appoint
Councillors to outside bodies, the Council will consider giving
an indemnity to the Councillors in so far as legally permissible

(vii)
London Borough of Harrow – Article 2
Members and the Council

22

June 2014
2-4

66

against costs incurred while acting in good faith. Councillors
will be given reasonable advice, guidance and support from
officers of the Council on the responsibilities they take on as a
result of representing the Council on outside bodies.
(viii)

2.4

Training will be given to Councillors to support them in their
duties as Councillors.

Conduct
Councillors and Members will, at all times, observe the Members’ Code of
Conduct for Councillors and Members’and the Protocols set out in Part 5 of
this Constitution.

2.6

Allowances
Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the
Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution.

2.7

Membership
The names and addresses of Councillors by Ward, for the current Municipal
Year, are available from Democratic Services and/or the Council website.

Commented [C10]: Below is updated to reflect current roles

2.82.6 Disclosure and Barring Service
The following posts require require a Disclosure and Barring Service Check.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Commented [ST9]: Taken out as contained elsewhere in the
constitution or on the website

Portfolio Holder for Young People and Schools Children’s Services
Portfolio Holder for Schools
Portfolio Holder for Adults and Public Health
Scrutiny Leads for People Children
Scrutiny Leads for Adults
Corporate Parenting Panel Members
Adoption Panel
Fostering Panel
Secure Accommodation Panel Members
Social Services Appeals Panel Members
School Placement Panel Members
Children and Young People’s Partnership Members
Safeguarding Children Board
Adults Safeguarding Adults Board
Elected Councillors (Members) nominated for the position of/appointed as a
Local Authority Governor

23

67

Commented [C11]: Deleted as citizens’ rights covered
elsewhere in the constitution. Reference is given to this in the
introduction.

Article 3
Citizens and the Council
Introduction
This Article sets out what citizens can expect from the Council and the
responsibilities that come with these rights.

3.1

Citizens’ Rights
Citizens have the following rights. Their rights to information and to
participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

(a)

Voting and Mayoral Petitions
Citizens on the electoral roll for the area have the right to vote.
Citizens may also sign a petition requesting a referendum for an
elected Mayor.

(b)

Information
Citizens have the right to:
(i)

attend meetings of the Council and its committees except
where confidential or exempt information is likely to be
disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private;

(ii)

attend meetings of the Executive except where confidential or
exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the meeting is
therefore held in private;

(iii)

find out from the Key Decision Schedule what Key Decisions
will be taken by the Executive and when;

(iv)

see published agendas, reports and background papers, and
any records of decisions made by the Council and the
Executive (subject to confidential and exempt information not
being disclosed);

(v)

view obtain a copy of the Council Constitution; and

(vi)

inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to
the external auditor.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 3

February 2014

24

68

Citizens and the Council

They will also have rights under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
The Council produced a Publication Scheme telling people about their
rights under the Freedom of Information Act in February 2003.

(c)

Participation
The Council is keen to promote community participation in local
issues. The Harrow Partnership provides a platform for joint work
between the Council and local community groups, to improve life in
the Borough. Specific areas of joint work include those with the
voluntary sector, young people, housing and tenants’ organisations,
older people, local businesses, and other public services like the
police and health agencies and the Residents’ Panel.
Citizens also have the right to participate in Council business in the
following ways:
•
•
•
•

(d)

by asking questions of decision makers at meetings;
by presenting petitions at meetings of the Council, its committees
and the Executive;
by making deputations to committees of the Council and to
Advisory Panels of the Executive;
by contributing to investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees of the Council;
by participating in any public sessions.

Complaints
Citizens have the right to complain to:
(i)

their ward Councillors or Members of the Executive about any
Council service;

(ii)

the Council about any Council service under the complaints
scheme;

(iii)

the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints
scheme;

(iv)

the Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards
Committee if they have evidence which they think shows that a
Councillor has not followed the Members’ Code of Conduct.

25

69

3.2

Citizens’ Responsibilities
Harrow citizens are encouraged to make full use of their roles both as voters
and members of the community. In particular by:
❑

voting in local, London, Parliamentary and European elections;

❑

respecting the expression of differing opinions in public debate;

❑

promoting tolerance and respect between their fellow citizens;

❑

meeting their obligations in relation to the Council, such as paying
their council tax, making sure their children attend school, making
sure rubbish is disposed of properly, following the dog owners’ code
in relation to keeping parks and streets cleaner;

❑

individually and collectively seeking information about the decisionmaking role of Councillors; and

❑

respecting the Council
representative democracy.

procedures

which

give

effect

to

Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or officers
and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or
officers.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 3 July 2019
Citizens and the Council

February 2014
2-8

26

70

Article 34
The Full Council
Introduction
This Article defines the functions that are reserved for decision by the full Council.
The Council is responsible for approving the policy framework and the annual revenue
and capital budget. The Council also retains responsibility for (i) regulatory functions
(which include planning, licensing and health and safety at work); (ii) certain
constitutional and quasi-legislative functions (primarily the conduct of elections and
making of by-laws) and (iii) most of the local choice functions which the Council is
free to decide whether they are the responsibility of full Council or the Executive. The
Council also has a role in holding the Executive to account.

4.01

Meanings
(a)

Policy Framework

Commented [C12]: Updated to reflect current legislation and
titles of current plans.

The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:
(i)

(ii)

Those required by the Local Authorities (Functions
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended):

and

❑

Children and Young People’s Plan

❑

Community Safety Plan

❑

Gambling Policy

❑

Licensing Authority Policy Statement

❑

Licensing Policy

❑

Local Implementation Plan (formerly the Local Transport Plan)

❑

Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan

❑

Sustainable Community Strategy

❑

Youth Justice Plan

Further Plans, which the Council considers, should, or legislation requires to,
be subject to Council approval:
❑

Council’s Corporate Plan

❑

Corporate Equalities Objectives

❑

Licensing Authority Policy Statement

❑

Corporate Parenting Strategy

31

71

(b)

Budget

The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects,
proposed contingency funds, setting the council tax including decisions relating to the control
of the Council’s borrowing requirement, the determination and control of its capital
expenditure and the setting of virement limits.

(c)

Housing Land Transfer

Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications to the Secretary of
State for approval to a programme of disposal of 500 or more Council properties under the
Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993, or to dispose of land used for
residential purposes where approval is required under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act
1985.

4.02

Functions of the full Council

The functions of full Council are set out in Part 3A of the constitution.

30

72

Commented [C13]: All this is in Part 3A so deleted to avoid
repetition.

Only the Council will exercise the following functions:
(a)

adopting and changing the Constitution;

approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget
(including setting the Council Tax);
(c)

approving the statement of accounts;

approving any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer;
appointment of the Mayor;
(f)

appointing the Leader of the Executive;

(g)

approving annually the Allocation of Responsibilities in Part 3 of the Constitution;

(h)
subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any Executive functions which
are contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the
budget;
(i)
agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for the Committees of the Council,
deciding on their composition and making appointments to them;
adopting the Scheme of Members’ Allowances set out in Part 6 of the Constitution;
appointing the independent members of the Standards Committee;
changing the name of the area, conferring the title of honorary alderman or freedom of the
Borough;
confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service or the dismissal of the Head of Paid
Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer;
deciding whether to reject or uphold an appeal against a disciplinary sanction (including
dismissal) imposed on an officer by the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel;
(o)
making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting by-laws and promoting or
opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills;
(p)
determining the meaning of “significant” in relation to “key” decisions (Article 13
refers);
deciding whether to accept a delegation of a non-Executive function or accept a delegation of
a non-Executive function from another Authority;
to receive reports and consider recommendations from the Executive, Scrutiny, Standards
and other Committees as appropriate;
(s)

making appointments of Members to outside bodies; and

(t)

all other matters which by law must be reserved to Council.

4.03

Council Meetings

Commented [C14]: This is included in the Council Procedure
Rules

31

73

There are three types of Council meetings:
(a)

the annual meeting;

(b)

ordinary meetings;

(c)

extraordinary meetings,

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4
of this Constitution.
4.04

Commented [C15]: Deleted as all included elsewhere in the
constitution

Responsibility for functions
The allocation of responsibilities to the Cabinet and various Council Committees is
found in Part 3 of the Constitution.
The Council will maintain the Schedule in Part 3A-1 of this Constitution setting out the
responsibilities for the Council’s functions, which are not the responsibility of the
Executive.
Part 3B lists the allocation of responsibilities to officers of the Council.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 4
2019Sep 2015
The Full Council

July
2 - 12

30

74

Article 45
The Mayor
Introduction
This Article describes the appointment and role of the Mayor

5.1

Appointment of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor
The Mayor and Deputy Mayor will be appointed annually by the Council
from amongst the Councillors. The Deputy Mayor will be appointed by
the Mayor annually from amongst the Councillors and this will be noted
by Council.

Commented [C16]: Changes made to reflect the correct
legal position.

Neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor can be a member of the Executive.
The Deputy Mayor may stand-in for the Mayor in respect of all the roles and
functions in paragraphs 5.02 and 5.03 whenever the Mayor is unable to act
(for example, due to an overlap of events). If the Deputy Mayor is also
unavailable to perform a role or function in paragraph 5.02, it shall be open
for the Mayor to request a former Mayor of the Borough, still serving as an
elected Councillor, to act in his or her place for that particular occasion.

5.2

Ceremonial
(i)

The Mayor shall be the First Citizen of the Borough;

(ii)

The Mayor will promote the Council as a whole and act as a focal
point for the community;

(iii)

The Mayor will preside over civic functions;

(iv)

The Mayor will carry out ceremonial duties on behalf of the Authority.
He/she will be a symbol of the Authority and of an open society and
will perform his/her duties in a manner that develops and reinforces
the social cohesion of the Borough;

(v)

The Mayor will promote local charitable and voluntary causes where
they benefit the people of Harrow;

(vi)

The Mayor will also personally select a local charity or charities and
raise funds specifically for it or them during his or her year of office;

(vii)

The Mayor will promote citizenship and participation;

London Borough of Harrow - Article 5
2019April 2010
The Mayor

July

31

75

5.3

(viii)

The Mayor will act as a non-partisan ambassador of the Council at
notable events, for example, in meeting and greeting international
delegations;

(ix)

The Mayor will put forward local people who are deemed to be
deserving for national awards and honours (for example, local people
who have made a unique or exceptional contribution to the Borough
in a voluntary capacity);

(x)

The Mayor will lead the Council’s support and activities for
Remembrance Sunday and other similar locally marked national
events.

Chairing meetings of the Council
The Mayor will have the following responsibilities:
(i)

to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to
interpret it when necessary;

(ii)

to preside over meetings of the Council, so that its business can be
carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and
the interests of the community;

(iii)

to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of
matters of concern to the local community and the place at which
Councillors Members who are not on the Executive are able to hold
the Executive Members to account;

(iv)

to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;

(v)

such other duties that may fall to the Mayor to exercise by virtue of
statute or this Constitution.

In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor will chair meetings of the
Council with the agreement of Council. In the absence of both the Mayor
and the Deputy Mayor, the Council will, as a first item of business, appoint
one of its Members to chair the meeting.

London Borough of Harrow - Article 5
2019April 2010

July

32

76

Commented [C17]: This is a legal requirement – has to be
done at each meeting.

Commented [C18]: Deleted as information contained in Part
3.

Article 6
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Scrutiny sub-committees
Introduction
This Article describes the structure and method of operation of the
committees that are to undertake the overview and scrutiny function.
6.1

Terms of Reference

The Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the
functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000.
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will establish two Call-in Sub- Committees
(Call in and Call in Education) to consider Executive decisions taken but not
implemented (See Rule 46 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4
of the Constitution for information about the process for calling in decisions), together
with a Performance & Finance Scrutiny Sub-Committee and a Health and Social
Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee. The scope of the Committee and each sub-committee
is set out in the right hand column of the table below.
The guiding principle for the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Scrutiny Sub-Committees is that it should be consensual and positive. The emphasis
of the work should be on making a proactive and positive contribution to the
development of policy and the discharge of the Council’s functions. This is best
achieved by an inclusive process covering Members, partners, service users and
employees.

33

77

Committee
Overview and Scrutiny

Scope
To oversee a more targeted and
proportionate work programme that can
help secure service improvement
through in depth investigation of poor
performance and the development of an
effective strategy/policy framework for
the council and partners.

London Borough of Harrow - Article 6
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees
2 - 15

Sept 2015

34

78

Sub-Committee
Call-In

To exercise the call-in powers and to
refer any decision to Council that does
not accord with the policy framework or
budget.

Call-In (Education)

To exercise the call-in powers in relation
to education matters and to refer any
decision to Council that does not accord
with the policy framework or budget.

Performance and Finance

To be the key driver of the scrutiny
function’sOverview
and
Scrutiny
Committee’s work programme and the
body responsible for monitoring the
performance of the council and partners
in relation to their statesd priorities.
To be the key driver of the scrutiny
function’sOverview and Scrutiny
Committee’s health and social care
scrutiny programme and maintain
relationships with health and social care
colleagues and partners in relation to
shared stated priorities, in consultation
with the Overview & Scrutiny
Committee
CCCCCommitteeCommitteeCommittee.

Health and Social Care

6.2

Scope

General Role
Within their terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Scrutiny Sub-Committees other than the Call-In Sub-Committees will have
the following roles:
(a)

the strategic development of policy – by supporting the Council and
Executive in developing the policy framework and budget for the
Council and working with partner organisations on issues that may be
outside the remit of the Council;

(b)

reviews of specific services – by making reports and/or
recommendations to the full Council, Executive, Portfolio Holders and
any Joint or Area Committees on any of their functions;

(c)

the review of policy and decisions developed by others – by reviewing
and/or scrutinising decisions made or actions taken in connection with
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

London Borough of Harrow - Article 6
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees
2 - 16

Sept 2015

35

79

(d)

the review of issues of concern to local people – by considering any
matter affecting the area or its inhabitants and monitoring and
scrutinising the activities of others;

(e)

consideration of the Forward Plan and scrutiny prior to key decisions
being made, as appropriate;

(f)

scrutiny of decision making processes – by helping to draw up
Protocols on how the Executive and Portfolio Holders should make
decisions and then checking to see that these have been observed;

(g)

where relevant and appropriate, to receive selected monitoring reports
carried out internally and externally on services.

The Call-In Sub-Committees may call in Executive decisions made but not
yet implemented.

6.3

Specific Functions
(a)

Policy development and review
The Overview and
Committee(s) may:

(b)

Scrutiny

Committee

and

Scrutiny

Sub-

(i)

assist the Council, the Executive and Portfolio Holders in the
development of the budget and policy framework by in-depth
analysis of policy issues;

(ii)

conduct research, community and other consultation in the
analysis of policy issues and possible options;

(iii)

consider mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

(iv)

question Members of the Executive, Advisory Panels and/or
Committees and chief officers about their views on issues and
proposals affecting the area; and

(v)

liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests
of local people are enhanced by collaborative working.

Scrutiny
The Overview and
Committee(s) may:
(i)

Scrutiny

Committee

and

Scrutiny

Sub-

review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and performance
of, the Executive, Portfolio Holders and/or Committees and

London Borough of Harrow - Article 6
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees
2 - 17

Sept 2015

36

80

Council officers both in relation to individual decisions and over
longer periods of time;

(c)

(ii)

review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation
to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular
service areas;

(iii)

require the attendance of and question Members and chief
officers about their decisions and performance, or in relation to
particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

(iv)

make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate
Committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the
scrutiny process;

(v)

where partnership working permits, review and scrutinise the
performance of other public services in the area, by inviting
reports from partners and requesting that they address the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny SubCommittees about their activities and performance;

(vi)

question and gather evidence from any person (with their
consent); and

(vii)

carry out the scrutiny of matters relating to the Health and
Social Care including those matters delegated to the Health
and Social Care Scrutiny Committee.

Finance
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will exercise overall
responsibility for any unallocated resources made available for
scrutiny.

(d)

Annual Report
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report annually to full
Council on its workings and make recommendations for future work
programmes and amend working methods, if appropriate.

6.4

Proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and SubCommittees
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees will conduct
their business in accordance with the Committee Procedure Rules set out in
Part 4 of this Constitution.

London Borough of Harrow - Article 6
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees
2 - 18

Sept 2015

37

81

Article 57
The Executive
Introduction
This Article sets out the basic composition of the Executive and its role.
The Rules of Procedure set out and determine how the Executive will operate
and include arrangements for meetings, individual decision-making, and the
Allocation of Responsibilities.

7.1

The Role of the Executive (also referred to as the Cabinet)
The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or
under this Constitution.
This includes responsibility for the development of proposals for the budget
and the financial strategy of the Council, to recommend major new policies
and prepare other policies and plans
The Executive will have responsibility for approving the following local choice
plans:
•

The Food Law Enforcement Service Plan;

•

The Plans and Strategies which comprise the Housing Investment
Programme;

•

Adult Learning Plan;

•

Local Agenda 21 Strategy;

•

Quality Protects Management Action Plan;

and any other non-statutory plans that, from time to time, may be considered
their responsibility.

7.2

The Form and Composition of the Executive
The Council will appoint the Leader of the Council. The Leader will
determine the size and membership of the Executive, will appoint Members
to the Executive and appoint one of those Members as the Deputy Leader.
When determining the allocation of responsibilities (see Part 3 of the
Constitution) the Leader will also determine any delegations to individual
Members (of the Executive) who will be known as Portfolio Holders.

40

82

Commented [C19]: This has been inserted into the terms of
reference.

Commented [C20]: This is already in terms of reference

Commented [C21]: This has been inserted into the terms of
reference.

The Executive will consist of the Executive Leader together with at least two but not
more than nine other Councillors.
The Tterms of Rreference set out the Executive’s functions.
The Rules of Procedure set out and determine how the Executive will operate and
include arrangements for meetings, individual decision-making, and the Allocation of
Responsibilities.

There may be no co-optees, deputies nor substitution of Executive Members.
Neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor of the Council may be appointed to the
Executive. Members of the Executive may not be Members of the Overview or
Scrutiny Committee or one of its sub-committees.
Assistants to portfolio holders may be appointed by the Executive. Assistants will
not be members of the Executive and will be unable to exercise any of the delegated
powers of the portfolio holder. Assistants will be members of the Council.

7.3

The Leader
The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the
Council.
The Leader will hold office until one of the following circumstances applies:

7.4

(a)

the Council holds its first meeting after the next whole Council
elections following his/her election as Leader

(b)

he/she resigns from the office; or

(c)

he or she is suspended from being a Councillor under Part III of the
Local Government Act 2000 (although he or she may be re-appointed
at the end of the period of suspension); or

(d)

he or she is no longer a Councillor; or

(e)

he/she is removed from office by resolution of the Council following
which the Council will elect a replacement Leader at the same or
subsequent Council meeting.

Other Executive Members
Other Executive Members shall be appointed to the Executive by the Leader
and shall continue in their roles on the Executive until one of the following
circumstances applies:
(a)

in the case of the Deputy Leader; the end of the term of office of the
Leader

(b)

they resign from office; or

41

83

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm

(c)

(d)

they are suspended from being a Councillor under Part III of the Local
Government Act 2000 (although they may be re-appointed at the end
of the period of suspension); or
they are no longer Councillors; or

London Borough of Harrow – Article 7
The Executive

Commented [j22]: Can no longer be suspended

Sep 2016

(e)

the Leader makes changes to the roles of Members of the Executive,
or

(f)

they are removed from office by the Leader.

An Appendix to this Article lists the Councillors who have been appointed to
the Executive and any portfolio responsibilities they hold.

Commented [C23]: There is no such appendix and this
information can be found on the website.

Part 3A of the Constitution includes a full description of the responsibilities of
portfolio holders.
7.5

Commented [J24]: Moved to terms of reference

Vacancies in the Executive
If at any time a Member, by virtue of Article 7.04, ceases to be a Member of
the Executive, the responsibilities of that Member shall be carried out by the
Executive collectively until such time as the Leader has appointed a
replacement, or where appropriate, re-appointed the Member concerned.
In the event that all Members of the Executive are removed or have been
disqualified from office, the Head of Paid Service shall, in the interim, carry
out the Executive functions.

7.6

Temporary Absence of Leader or other Portfolio Holder
In the temporary absence of the Leader or other Portfolio Holder, decisions
may be taken in accordance with the Scheme of delegation relating to
Portfolio Holders set out in Part 3 of the Constitution and the Delegated
Power of Portfolio Holders in the Appendix to the Executive Procedure
Rules).

7.7

Special Provision to take urgent action in an election year
(a)

That fFollowing a Borough Election and until the day of the Annual
Council Meeting the Leader or a Portfolio Holder will, if the political
group to which they belong do not have a majority of members on the
Council, consult and ensure consensus with the Leaders of one or
more other groups that together form a majority of members on the
Council;

(b)

That fFollowing a Borough Election and until the day of the Annual
Council Meeting, if the Leader is not re-elected as a Councillor, the
powers of the Leader shall be exercised by the Head of Paid Services
in consultation with all group Leaders.

40

84

Commented [j25]: Put within terms of ref

7.8

Proceedings of the Executive
Proceedings of the Executive will take place in accordance with the
Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7.9

Commented [j26]: Put into the Proper Officer powers

Responsibility for Functions
The Head of Paid Service will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution
setting out which individual Members of the Executive, committees of the
Executive, officers or joint arrangements, are responsible for the exercise of
particular Executive functions.
These will usually be agreed each year at the Annual Council Meeting but
may also be amended by the Council in the course of the year.

7.10

Commented [C27]: Deleted as repetition

Executive sub-committees
The Executive may establish sub-committees to carry out Executive
functions. Such committees must consist only of Executive members.

7.11

Advisory Panels
The Executive may appoint Advisory Panels to assist in the carrying out of
Executive functions. Any such panels may not exercise any Executive
functions and may only give advice or make recommendations to the
Executive, Portfolio Holders or Council as appropriate. Non-Executive
Members may be members of such Panels. Specific Procedural Rules
apply to these Panels (see part 4 - Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum
Procedure Rules) unless specifically approved otherwise by the Executive.
The rules on political proportionality will apply to membership of Panels.
The terms of reference of all Advisory Panels are set out in Part 3A of the
Constitution.

7.12

Commented [J28]: Moved to p 3.36 with cabinet panels

Consultative Forums
The Executive may appoint Consultative Forums. These non-decision
making bodies shall assist the Executive in consulting with service users,
trades’ unions and other interested parties. They may make
recommendations to the Executive (or elsewhere as appropriate) if a
majority of the Council members on the Forum agree. The Procedure Rules
for Advisory Panels and Consultative Forums apply to these forums subject
to specific changes for membership and method or operation proposed by
each Forum and approved by Council. The rules on political proportionality
will apply to the appointment of Councillors to the Forums.

7.13

Portfolio Holders Assistants

41

85

Non-Executive Councillors may be appointed as Portfolio Holder Assistants.
Portfolio Holder Assistants may not exercise any of the powers of a Portfolio
Holder nor act in the absence of the Portfolio Holder.
Confirmation of the
London Borough of Harrow – Article 7
The Executive

Sep 2016
2 - 22

40

86

Commented [j29]: Put into cabinet procedure rules

appointment of any Portfolio Holder Assistant must be given by the
Executive at the next meeting of Cabinet.

7.14

Commented [j30]: Put in cabinet procedure rules

Non-Executive Cabinet Members and Representatives
The Leader may appoint a maximum of 3 4 Non-Executive Members of
Cabinet from the Voluntary Sector and from elected Members to sit on
Cabinet and. up to 1 Representative from the voluntary and community
sector to sit with Cabinet. Non-Executive Members of Cabinet may speak
but not vote on items before Cabinet in private and public meetings and
have commensurate access to documents as full Cabinet Members except
for draft Cabinet reports which will be restricted to Portfolio Holders and
Non-Executive Members of the majority group.
Voluntary and community sector Representatives may speak but not vote
on items before Cabinet in public meetings. They will not have access to
draft papers or part II papers.

43

87

Commented [C31]: Taken out as repetition and included in
committee procedure rules.

Article 8
Regulatory and Other Committees
Introduction
The Council will establish Committees to discharge certain functions which
are reserved for the Council and which the Executive may not determine.

8.1

Regulatory and Other Committees
The Council will have the following Committees, Sub-Committees and
panels:
•

Governance, Audit, and Risk Management and Standards Committee

•

Licensing and General Purposes Committee
>
>
>
>
>

Chief Officers’ Employment Panel
Licensing Panel
NNDR Discretionary Rate Relief Appeals Panel
Personnel Appeals Panel
Social Services Appeals Panel

•

Health and Wellbeing Board

•

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
>
Call-In Sub-Committee
>
Call-in Sub-Committee (Education)
>
Performance & Finance Sub-Committee
>
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub Committee

•

Pension Fund Committee

•

Planning Committee

•
•

Standards Committee
>
>

Assessment Sub-Committee
Hearing Review Sub-Committee

Crime and Disorder?

These Committees, sub-committees and panels will discharge the functions
described in Part 3A of this Constitution.
London Borough of Harrow – Article 8 July 2019
Regulatory and other Committees

Feb 2014

42

88

8.2

Membership of Committees of the Council
The Council shall determine the size and membership of the Committees,
sub-committees and panels listed above and described in Part 3 of the
Constitution and shall appoint Members in accordance with the rules on
political proportionality contained in the Local Government and Housing Act
1989 where this applies.
The Council shall appoint voting co-opted members to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and, where appropriate, to the Call-in sub-committees
in the manner required by Regulations.
The Council may appoint persons other than Councillors to be non-voting
co-opted members to Committees.
Reserve members may be appointed to Committees and Panels by the
Council in the manner prescribed by the Procedural Rules in Part 4 of this
Constitution.

8.3

Matters reserved for Council
The following matters within the terms of reference of the Licensing and
General Purposes Committee must be determined by the full Council but
may be the subject of a recommendation by the Committee:
❑

power to make, amend, revoke or re-enact by-laws;

❑

power to promote or oppose Parliamentary Bills;

❑

approval to the Statement of Accounts;

❑

confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; and

❑

changing the name of the area, confirming the title of honorary alderman
or freedom of the Borough.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 8
Regulatory and other Committees

Feb 2014
2 - 25

43

89

Commented [C32]: Deleted as information included in
committee procedure rules

Article 10
Area Forums or Area Committees
and Harrow Partnership Bodies
Introduction
This Article sets out the arrangements for area based meetings, consultative
bodies and the arrangements for the Harrow Partnership

10.01 Area Forums or Area Committees
The Council may appoint Area Forums or Area Committees.
The membership of any Forum or Committee shall be drawn from the
Members for the electoral wards of the Borough covered by that Forum or
Committee.
The terms of reference for any Forums shall be as set out in Part 3 of the
Constitution as agreed by the Council.
The Council may delegate to Area Committees powers relating to functions
reserved to the Council and the Executive may also delegate powers relating
to Executive functions. The terms of reference for any Area Committees and
all delegations and any limitations and conditions to which those delegations
are subject will also be set out in Part 3 of the Constitution.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 10

July 2019

46

90

Article 11
Commented [j33]: Remove as in Part 3 terms of reference

Joint Arrangements
Introduction
This Article explains the arrangements for those functions that are
administered jointly with other local authorities
11.1

Arrangements to promote well-being
The Council or the Executive, in order to promote the economic, social or
environmental well-being of its area, may:

11.2

(a)

enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;

(b)

co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person
or body; and

(c)

exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person
or body.

Joint Arrangements
(a)

The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more other
local authorities to exercise functions, which are not Executive
functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the Council.
Such arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees
with those other local authorities.

(b)

The Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions, which are Executive functions. Such
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with
these other local authorities.

(c)

If a joint committee is established which exercises both Executive and
non-Executive functions, appointments will be made by the Council
after the Executive has also agreed them.

(d)

The Executive may only appoint Executive members to a joint
wholly or partly Executive functions except:Sep 2015

committee
London Borough of Harrow
– Articleexercising
12
Officers

2-29

47

91

(i)

where the joint committee has functions for only part of the area
of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the
authority by area or population.
In this case the
members
appointed need not reflect the political composition of the local
authority as a whole;

(e)

11.3

11.4

11.5

(ii)

where the joint committee is required by legislationstatute; or

(iii)

where the joint committee has five or more constituent councils.

Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint
committees will be found in the Council’s Allocation of Responsibilities
in Part 3 of this Constitution.

Access to Information
(a)

The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution
apply.

(b)

If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Executive in
each of the participating authorities then the Access to Information
regime is the same as that applied to the Executive.

(c)

If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Executive of
any participating authority then the Access to Information Rules in Part
VA of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply.

Delegation to and from other local authorities
(a)

The Council may delegate non-Executive functions to another local
authority or, in certain circumstances, the Executive of another
authority.

(b)

The Executive may delegate functions to another local authority or the
Executive of another local authority in certain circumstances.

(c)

The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another
local authority shall be reserved to the Council.

Contracting Out
The Council, for those functions that are not Executive functions, and the
Executive, in respect of Executive functions, may contract out to another body
or organisation functions which may be exercised by an officer and which are
subject to an order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out
Act 1994, or under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the

46

92

Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no
delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 11
Joint Arrangements

Sept 2015
2 - 28

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
Officers

Sep 2015
2-29

47

93

Article 6
12
Officers
Introduction
This Article describes the management structure of the Authority and the
responsibilities of the statutory and chief officers
‘Officers’ means all employees and staff engaged by the council to carry out its
functions. Those engaged under short term, agency or other non-employed situations
as well as those employed on a permanent basis are covered.
12.1

Management Structure
(a)

General
The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers
necessary to carry out its functions.

(b)

Chief Officers
The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be
designated chief officers:

Post

Functions and areas of responsibility

Head of Paid Service

Overall corporate management and operational
responsibility (including overall management
responsibility for all officers).
Specific
responsibility
Regeneration.

for

Planning

and

Provision of professional advice to all parties in
the decision making process.
Representing the Council on partnership and
external bodies (as requiredested by statute or the
Council).
Promote the importance of the ethical agenda and
to sustain the highest standards of ethical
behaviour on the part of the Council’s officers in
the performance of their duties in accordance with
the requirements of the Code of Conduct for
Council Employees set out in Section 5B of the
Constitution.

46

94

95

Post

Functions and areas of responsibility

Corporate Director
People

Education and Commissioning Services, Children
and Young People Services, Harrow Schools
Improvement
Partnership,
Special
Needs
Services, Adults Services, Public Health & Health
Integration

Corporate Director
Community

Housing, Environmental Health & Licensing,
Public Pprotection, Corporate Estate Management
& Development, Facilities Management, Property
Repair & Maintenance, Highways Maintenance
and Engineering, Traffic, Transport & Parking
Management. Environmental compliance and
enforcement, Public Realm Services, Waste
Management, Arts & Events. Library & Cultural
Services, Sports, Leisure & Recreation

Corporate Director
Resources and Commercial

Customer Services & IT, Revenues & Benefits,
Business Support, Finance, Insurance, Audit &
Fraud, HR and Organisational Development,
Legal & Governance Services, Strategic
Commissioning, Communications, Commercial &
Procurement

(c)

Statutory Officers
The Council will designate the following posts as shown:
Post

Designation

Head of Paid Service

Head of Paid Service

Director of Finance

Chief Financial Officer
(Section 151 Officer)

Corporate Director, People

Director of Children’s Services

Director of Adult Social Services

Director of Adult Social Services

Director of Legal and Governance
Services

Monitoring Officer

Head of Policy

Scrutiny Officer

Director of Public Health

Director of Public Health

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
Officer s

48

Sep 2015
2-30

96

Such posts will have the functions described in Section 3B of
ConstitutionArticles 12.02 – 12.06 below.

(d)

the

Departmental Structure
The Head of Paid Service will determine and publish a description of the
overall departmental structure for the Council. This will outline the
management structure and the deployment of officers.

(e)

Delegations
Some decisions are made by officers under approved delegated powers.
A list of all the functions delegated to chief officers is included in Part 3B
of this Constitution.

12.2

Functions of the Head of Paid Service
(a)

Discharge of functions by the Council

(b)

The Head of Paid Service will report to the full Council on the manner in
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number
and grade of officers required for the discharge of functions and the
organisation of officers.
Restrictions on functions
The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold
the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

12.3

Functions of Monitoring Officer
(a) Maintaining the Constitution
The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the
Constitution and will ensure that it is available to Members, staff and the
public.
(b)

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer,
the Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council, or to the Executive in
relation to an executive function, if he/she considers that any proposal,
decision or omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report
will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being
implemented until the report has been considered.

(c)

Supporting the Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards
Committee in respect of standards and advising on the Code of
Conduct

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
Officers
fficer

Sep 2015
2-31

53

97

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of
high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Governance,
Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee. He or she will also
provide advice to Members of the Council and act as the proper officer to
receive complaints of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. He or
she will also make decisions about complaints as set out in the
delegations under Part 3B.
(d)

Proper officer for access to information
The Monitoring Officer is the ‘proper officer’ for this purpose, and will
ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those
decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made
publicly available as soon as possible.

(e)

Advising whether Executive decisions are within the budget and
policy framework
Where necessary, the Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of
the Executive are in accordance with the budget and policy framework.

(f)

Providing advice

(g)

The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety,
probity and budget and framework issues to all Councillors.
Register of Member’s financial and other interests
The Monitoring Officer will establish and maintain a register of Members’
interests and gifts and hospitality. These registers will be open to public
inspection at all reasonable times.

(h)

Restrictions on posts
The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of
Paid Service.

12.4

Functions of the Chief Finance Officer
(a)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence in decision making
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer,
the Chief Finance Officer will report to:
•
•
•

the full Council; or
to the Executive in relation to an Executive function; and
to Council’s external auditor

if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will:
•

involve incurring unlawful expenditure; or

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
O
s

52

Sep 2015
2-32

98

•
•
(b)

is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

Administration of financial affairs
The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of
the financial affairs of the Council.

(c)

Contributing to corporate management
The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of
the Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial
advice.

(d)

12.5

Providing advice

The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety,
probity and budget and framework issues to all Councillors and will
support and advise Councillors and officers in their respective roles.
Functions of the Director of Children’s Services
(a)

Local education authority
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for functions
conferred on or exercisable by the authority in their capacity as a local
education authority

(b)

Social Services (relating to children)
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for functions
conferred on or exercisable by the authority, which are social services
functions so far as those functions relate to children.

(c)

Looked after children
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for functions in
relation to children looked after by the authority under section 23C to 24D
of the Children Act 1989.

(d)

Improving well-being
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for making
arrangements with a view to improving the well-being of children in the
authority’s area.

(e)

Safeguarding and Welfare
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for safeguarding
and promoting the welfare of children.

(f)

Establishing Information Databases

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
Officers
fficer

Sep 2015
2-33

53

99

The Director of Children’s Services will establish and maintain information
databases in relation to the well-being and safeguarding of children.
(g)

Preparation and Publication Children’s and young people’s plan
The Director of Children’s Services will prepare and publish a Children’s
and young people’s plan setting out the authority’s strategy for discharging
their functions in relation to children and relevant young persons.

(h)

Functions on behalf of an NHS Body
The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility for function
under section 31 of the Health Act 1988 on behalf of an NHS body so far
as those relate to children.

(i)

12.6

Any other function

The Director of Children’s Services will have responsibility any additional
functions, as the authority considers appropriate.
Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services
Discharge of Functions by the Council
The Director of Adult Social Services will have responsibility for all functions
social services functions (other than those for which the Director of Children’s
Services is responsible) in accordance with Section 6 of the Local Authority
Social Services Act 1970 (as amended) by the Children Act 2004.

12.7 Functions of the Scrutiny Officer
Promotion of Overview and Scrutiny
(a)

The Scrutiny Officer will promote the role of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and its sub-committees.

Support to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(b)

The Scrutiny Officer will provide support to the Overview and Scrutiny
committee and sub-committees and their members.

Support and guidance to Members and officers
(c)

12.8

The Scrutiny Officer will provide support and guidance to Members and
officers in relation to the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and its sub-committees.

Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief
Finance Officer

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
O
s

52

Sep 2015
2-34

100

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with
such officers, accommodation and resources that, in their opinion, are sufficient
to allow their duties to be performed.

12.9

Conduct
Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on
Councillor - Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

12.10 Employment
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer
Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

London Borough of Harrow – Article 12
Officers

Sep 2015
2-35

53

101

Article 7613
Decision-making
Introduction
This Article provides for the recording of decisions of the Council and the
Executive and the principles governing those decisions

13.1 Responsibility for decision making
The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council
or which individual has the responsibility for particular types of decisions or
decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This record is set out in the
Allocation of Responsibilities in Part 3 of the Constitution.
13.2

Principles of decision-making
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following
principles:
•

Compliance with the code of conduct relation to interests, bias and
predetermination

•

proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);

•

rationality

• taking into account relevant considerations including risk, cost and government
guidance
• evidence-based
• procedurally correct
• proper purpose
• legal compliance
•

due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;

•

respect for human rights;

•

consideration of the public sector equality duty and the Council’s own Equality
of Opportunity Policy

60

102

13.3

•

a presumption in favour of openness;

•

clarity of aims and desired outcomes;

•

a recording of options considered and rejected;

•

a recording of reasons for decisions

Type of Decision
(a)

Decisions reserved to full Council
Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02Part3B will be made
by the full Council and may not be delegated.

(b)

Key Decisions
A Key Decision is an executive decision which:
(i)

is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or
the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the
Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision
relates; or

(ii)

is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities
living or working in an area of two or more wards of the Borough.

A decision is significant for the purposes of (i) above if it involves
expenditure or the making of savings of an amount in excess of £1m for
capital expenditure or £500,000 for revenue expenditure or, where
expenditure or savings are less than the amounts specified above, they
constitute more than 50% of the budget attributable to the service in
question.

Decision takers may only take key decisions in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 23 of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in
Part 4 of this Constitution.
13.4

Commented [C34]: Deleted as in committee and executive
procedure rules

Decision making by the Council
Subject to Article 13.509, the Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and other Committees, sub-committees and panels established by
the Council will follow the Procedure Rules relating to that body set out in Part
4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.5

Decision making by the Executive

61

103

Subject to Article 13.09, the Executive will follow the Executive Procedure
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.
13.6

Decision making by Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Subcommittees

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny sub-committees will follow the
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution
when considering any matter.
13.7 Decision making by other Committees and sub-committees established by
the Council
Subject to Article 13.09, other Council Committees and sub-committees and
panels will follow those parts of the Committee Procedure Rules set out in Part
4 of the Constitution as apply to them.
13.8

Decision making by Advisory Panels
established by the Council

and

Consultative Forums

Subject to Article 13.09, or approval otherwise by the Cabinet, Advisory Panels
and Consultative Forums will follow the Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution.
13.913.4

Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals

The Council, a Councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial
manner or determining or considering (other than for the purposes of giving
advice) the civil rights or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a
proper procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the
right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human
Rights in addition to the procedural rules of that body.

60

104

Commented [C35]: Deleted as in delegations for officers

Article 14
Finance, and Contracts and Legal Matters
Introduction
This Article refers to the Council’s Financial Regulations and Contract
Procedure Rules found in Part 4 of this Constitution.

14.1

Financial Management

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in
accordance with the Financial Regulations set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
14.2

Contracts

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
14.3

Legal Proceedings

The Director of Legal and Governance Services is authorised to:
(a)

institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings, in any Court or
Tribunal and in any case where such action is necessary to give effect
to decisions of the Council, or in any case where he or she considers
that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests.

(b)

delegate to officers authority to institute, defend or participate in any
legal proceedings, in any Court or Tribunal and in any case where such
action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council, or in any
case where he or she considers that such action is necessary to protect
the Council’s interests

(c)

authorise officers to appear in any court or tribunal on the Council’s
behalf.

14.4

Authentication of Documents

Where any document is necessary to any legal proceedings or proceedings on
behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Director of Legal and Governance
Services or another person authorised by him or her, unless any enactment
otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given requisite authority to
some other person.

61

105

London Borough of Harrow – Article 14
Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

Sep 2015

Any contract entered into on behalf of the Council in the course of the
discharge of an Executive function shall be in writing. Subject to the Contract
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution, such contracts must
either be signed by one at least two officers of the authority or made under the
common seal of the Council.

14.5

Common Seal of the Council

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of
the Director of Legal and Governance Services. A decision of the Council, or of
any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to
give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those
documents, which, in the opinion of the Director of Legal and Governance
Services, should be sealed. The Director of Legal and Governance Services
will witness the affixing of the Common Seal or some other person authorised
by him or her.

60

106

Commented [C36]: All relevant parts put in Article 1.

Article 15
Review, Revision and Publication of the Constitution
Introduction
This Article provides for the review and method of changing the
Constitution, and for its publication

15.01 Duty to monitor and review the Constitution
The Council will monitor and review the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles
of the Constitution are given full effect.

15.02 Change from a Leader and Executive form of governance to alternative
arrangements, or vice versa.

The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other
interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals for a change in
the form of governance and shall comply with any statutory requirements in
relation to such changes.
15.03 Changes to the Constitution
(a)

Subject to 15.04 and 15.05 below, changes to the Constitution will only be
effective if approved by full Council.

(b)

The Head of Paid Service, having first consulted with the Leader of the political
groups or their nominees may present a report direct to Council proposing
changes to the Constitution. The Head of Paid Service will consult the Monitoring
Officer and/or the Section 151 Officer as appropriate. A senior member of each
political party will be nominated as a point of contact on constitutional issues.

15.04 Codes and Protocols
Subject to any statutory requirements, the Codes and Protocols and other documents in
Part 5 of the Constitution may be amended by the body that created them without Council
approval except for the Code of Conduct for Members which is reserved to Council.
15.05 Minor and Administrative changes by the Monitoring Officer
Minor and administrative changes to the Constitution may be made by the Monitoring
Officer, following consultation with the Head of Paid Service, in order to ensure the aims
and principles of the Constitution are given full effect. All such changes must be reported
to the Council as soon as possible after the change is made.

61

107

15.06 Publication
(a)

The Monitoring Officer will provide a printed copy of this Constitution to each
Member of the Council upon delivery to him or her of that individual’s declaration
of acceptance of office, following election to office.

(b)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for inspection at
council offices, libraries and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by
members of the public and press on payment of a reasonable fee.

(c)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made
widely available within the area and updated as necessary.

(d)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a record is kept of any changes to the
Constitution. Amendments to the Constitution will be published as soon as
practicable after any substantial changes have been made to it.

60

108

Article 16
Interpretation and Suspension of the Constitution

Commented [C37]: Now included in Article 1

Introduction
This Article ensures that the Articles of the Constitution cannot be suspended
and aims to provide certainty and stability to the fundamental aspects of the
Council’s governance
16.01 Interpretation
The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this Constitution
or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of
the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this
Constitution contained in Article 1.
16.02 Suspension of the Constitution
The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. Other Rules and
Protocols may be suspended by the body to which they apply (or if no such body
by the Council) to the extent permitted within those Rules, and Protocols and the
law.

61

109

44

110

LONDON BOROUGH OF
HARROW

CONSTITUTION

111

This page is intentionally left blank

2

112

61

113

PART 3

Allocation of
Responsibilities

62

114

PART 3
ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

Page
No.
3A

Matters reserved to the Council and Terms of reference
and delegations of duties to Committees, and SubCommittees of Council, Other Statutory Committees and
Cabinet, Portfolio Holders, Advisory Panels of the Cabinet
and Consultative Forums

3-1

3A-1

Schedule to the terms of reference at 3A – Functions
not to be the responsibility of the Executive

3 - 50

3B

Scheme of Delegation to Officers

3 - 71

115

PART 3A
TERMS OF REFERENCE OF:
COUNCIL,
THE CABINET,
PORTFOLIO HOLDERS,
COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL,
ADVISORY PANELS OF THE CABINET AND CONSULTATIVE
FORUMS
GENERAL INDEX
PAGE NO.
CABINET
Call-In Sub-Committee (Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
Call-In Sub-Committee – Education (Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
Chief Officers’ Disciplinary Panel
Chief Officers’ Employment Panel (Licensing and General Purposes
Committee)

116

3-27
3-15
3-15
3-26
3-12

Corporate Parenting Advisory Panel (Cabinet)

3-50

COUNCIL

3-1

EMPLOYEES’ Consultative Forum (Cabinet)

3–55

GOVERNANCE, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee

3–4

HARROW Business Consultative Advisory Panel (Cabinet)
Health and Wellbeing Board
Health and Social Care Sub-Committee (Overview and Scrutiny)

3–52
3–7
3 – 16

JOINT Arrangements

3 – 58

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE (Council)
Licensing Panel (Licensing and General Purposes Committee)

3 –11
3 –12

MAJOR Developments Panel (Cabinet)

3 –52

OVERVIEW and Scrutiny Committee (Council)

3 –14

PENSION Board
Pension Fund Committee
Performance & Finance Sub-Committee (Overview & Scrutiny Committee)
Personnel Appeals Panel (Licensing and General Purposes Committee)
Planning Committee
Portfolio Holders

3 –17
3 –23
3 –17
3 –13
3 –24
3 –28

SOCIAL Services Appeals Panel (Licensing and General Purposes
Committee)
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (Statutory Committee)
Statutory Chief Officers Disciplinary Panel (Statutory Committee)

3 –14
3 –25
3 –26

TRAFFIC and Road Safety Advisory Panel (Cabinet)

3 –53

London Borough of Harrowation of Responsibilities

65

117

MATTERS RESERVED TO THE COUNCIL AND
TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DELEGATION OF
DUTIES TO COMMITTEES & SUB-COMMITTEES
OF THE COUNCIL

COUNCIL

The Full Council
1.
Powers and Duties of the full CouncilOnly the full Council can exercise the
following functions:
(a)

adopting and changing the Constitution;

(b)

approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget, including
setting council tax;

(c)

approving the statement of accounts;

(d)

approving any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any
Housing Land Transfer;

(e)

appointment of the Mayor;

(f)

determining the size of the Executive;

(g)(f) appointing the Leader and Members of the Executive;
(h)

approving annually the Allocation of Responsibilities in Part 3 of the
Constitution;

(i)

subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any
Executive functions which are contrary to the policy framework or contrary
to or not wholly in accordance with the budget where these have been
referred to the Council by the Call In sub-committee;

(j)

agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for the Committees of
the Council, deciding on their composition and making appointments to
them;

(k)

adopting the Scheme of Members’ Allowances set out in Part 6 of the
Constitution;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

118

Commented [C1]: Leader exercises these functions. This is
in accordance with s.9C(3) of LGA 2000

(l)
appointing the Iindependent Ppersons under s.27(7) of the Localism Act
2011. members of the Standards Committee;
(m)

changing the name of the area, conferring the title of honorary alderman
or freedom of the borough;

(n)

confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; or the dismissal
of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer;

(o)

to confirm the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer
or Monitoring Officer, to impose a lesser sanction or to refer the matter
back to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel;

(p)

deciding whether to reject or uphold an appeal against a disciplinary
sanction (including dismissal) imposed on an officer by the Chief Officers’
Employment Panel;

(q)

making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting by-laws and
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills;

(r)

to determine the meaning of “significant” in relation to “key” decisions
(Article 6 13 refers);

(s)

deciding whether to make a delegation of a non-Executive function or
accept a delegation of a non-Executive function from another Authority;

(t)

to receive reports and consider recommendations from the Executive,
Scrutiny, Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards and other
Committees as appropriate; and

(u)

making appointments and nominations of Members to outside bodies; and

(v)

all other matters which by law must be reserved to Council.

Note: The items referred to listed in Schedule 3A -1 in this part of the Constitution
may not be the responsibility of the Executive and will be discharged by
the Council, one of its Committees or an officer.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

119

Commented [ST2]: Deleted as contained in O below

COMMITTEES/SUBCOMMITTEES
OF THE COUNCIL

Appeals Committee
Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee
Health and Wellbeing Board
Independent Panel
Licensing and General Purposes Committee
Chief Officers’ Employment Panel
Licensing Panel
Personnel Appeals Panel
Social Services Appeals Panel

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Call-In Sub-Committee
Call-in Sub-Committee (Education)
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee
Performance & Finance Sub-Committee

Pension Board
Pension Fund Committee
Planning Committee

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

120

APPEALS COMMITTEE
The Appeals Committee is comprised of 5 members, including one member of the
Executive, who are not also members of the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel. The
Committee shall hear appeals by the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and
Monitoring Officer under the relevant disciplinary procedure against action taken against
them short of dismissal.
The Committee may uphold the decision or reduce or remove the action.

GOVERNANCE, AUDIT, RISK MANAGEMENT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE
1.

Statement of purpose

1.1

The Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee is a key
component of Harrow Council’s corporate governance.
It provides an
independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting
arrangements that underpin good governance and financial standards.

1.2

The purpose of the committee is to provide independent assurance to the
members of the adequacy of Harrow Council’s governance, risk management and
control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and annual governance
processes. It oversees internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure
efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place. It also acts as the
Standards Committee.

1.3

The Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee has the
following powers and duties:

2.

Governance

2.1

To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good
governance framework, including the ethical framework and consider the local
code of governance.

2.2

To review the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) prior to approval and
consider whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting
assurances and legal and financial advice, taking into account internal audit’s
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s framework of
governance, risk management and control.

2.3

To monitor the progress of agreed actions to close significant governance gaps.

2.4

To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

2.5

To consider the council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately
addresses the risks and priorities of the council.

2.6

To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant
partnerships.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

121

3.

Risk Management

3.1

To review the Council’s risk management strategy.

3.2

To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the
council via the review of the Council’s Corporate Risk Register on a regular basis.

3.3

To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee.

4.

Countering Fraud and Corruption

4.1

To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from
fraud and corruption.

4.2

To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources and the Council’s
approach to tackling fraud and corruption and promote an anti-fraud culture.

4.3

To review and approve the annual Corporate Anti-Fraud Team Plan.

4.4

To consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit/ Corporate Anti-Fraud
Manager on the Corporate Anti-Fraud Team’s performance at mid-year and at
year-end.

5.

Internal audit

5.1

To approve the internal audit charter and support the independence of Internal
Audit.

5.2

To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of
internal audit services and to make recommendations.

5.3

To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s resource
requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work
required to place reliance upon those other sources.

5.4

To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and
resource requirements.

5.5

To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal
Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations.

5.6

To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from
additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of
Internal Audit.

5.7

To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments.

5.8

To consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit’s
performance at mid-year and year-end, including the performance of external
providers of internal audit services.1

1

These will include:
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

122

5.9

To consider Red and Red/Amber assurance reports and summaries of specific
internal audit reports as requested.

5.10

To contribute to the Quality Assurance Improvement Programme and in
particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place at
least once every five years.

5.11

To consider the report on the effectiveness of internal audit contained within the
AGS.

5.12

To provide free and unfettered access to the GARMS Committee Chair for the
Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the
committee.

6.

External audit

6.1

To support the independence of external audit through consideration of the
external auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any
issues raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA).

6.2

To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the report to
those charged with governance.

6.3

To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

6.4

To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives
value for money.

6.5

To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external
and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.
To scrutinise/comment on the External Audit plan and fees.

6.6
6.7

To monitor progress against the External Audit plan and receive summaries of
audit work completed and key recommendations.

6.8

To review the management response to external audit recommendations and
progress on implementation of recommendations.

a) updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of concern and action in hand as a result of
internal audit work
b) annual report on the results of the internal audit Quality Assurance Improvement Programme (QAIP)
c) statement of the level of conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and reports on
instances where the internal audit function does not conform to the PSIAS, considering whether the nonconformance is significant enough that it must be included in the AGS.
d) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk
management and control together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will assist the
committee in reviewing the AGS.
e) the level of management response to internal audit recommendations and progress on implementation of
recommendations and to recommend action where internal audit recommendations are not being implemented.
f) the action taken where the Head of Internal Audit has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk
that may be unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the implementation of
agreed actions.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

123

6.9

To recommend action where external audit recommendations are not being
implemented.

7.

Financial reporting

7.1

To review the annual statement of accounts prior to approval and satisfy
themselves that appropriate steps have been taken to meet statutory and
recommended professional practices. Specifically to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

review the narrative report to ensure consistency with the statements and the
financial challenges and risks facing the authority in the future
review whether the narrative report is readable and understandable by a lay
person
review the key messages from each of the financial statements and
evaluating what that means for the authority in future years
monitor trends and review for consistency with what is known about financial
performance over the course of the year
review the suitability of accounting policies and treatments
seek explanations for changes in accounting policies and treatments
review major judgemental areas, eg provisions or reserves
seek assurances that preparations are in place to facilitate the external audit.

7.2

To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on
issues arising from the audit of the accounts.

8.

Treasury Management

8.1

To review the Treasury Management strategy and monitor progress on treasury
management in accordance with CIPFA codes of practice.

9.

Health & Safety

9.1

To review the Council’s Health and Safety arrangements and oversee progress
on Health and Safety.

10.

Accountability arrangements

10.1

To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s findings,
conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness
of their governance, risk management and internal control frameworks, financial
reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions.

10.2

To report to full council on an annual basis on the committee’s performance in
relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in
meeting its purpose.

10.3

To publish an annual report on the work of the committee.

11.

Standards

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

124

11.1

Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted
members and “church” and parent governor representatives.

11.2

Assisting Councillors, co-opted members and “church” and parent governor
representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct.

11.3

Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

11.4

Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct.

11.5

Developing and recommending local protocols to the Council to supplement the
Members’ Code of Conduct.

11.6

Enforcing local protocols and applying sanctions in respect of breaches as
appropriate.

11.7

Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and
“church” and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’
Code of Conduct.

11.8

Granting dispensations to Councillors, co-opted members and “church” and
parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests set out in
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

11.9

To keep under review and amend, as appropriate, the Protocol on
Councillor/Officer Relations.

11.10 To keep under review the Officer Code of Conduct and, after consultation with
unions representing staff, make recommendations to Council for amendment or
addition.
11.12 To receive reports and keep a general overview of probity matters arising from
ombudsman investigations, Monitoring Officer reports, reports of the Chief
Financial Officer and Audit Commission.
11.13 To have oversight of the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.
11.14 To agree the policy for decisions on payments to those adversely affected by
Council maladministration (under section 92 Local Government Act 2000).
11.15 To establish sub-committees and working groups to deal with complaints that a
member or a co-opted member has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of
Conduct.
11.16 To consider any application received from any officer of the Authority for
exemption from political restriction under Sections 1 and 2 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989 in respect of the post held by that officer and
may direct the Authority that the post shall not be considered to be a politically
restricted post and that the post be removed from the list maintained by the
Authority under Section 2(2) of that Act.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

125

11.17 Upon the application of any person or otherwise, consider whether a post should
be included in the list maintained by the Authority under Section 2(2) of the 1989
Act, and may direct the Authority to include a post in that list.
11.18 On referral from the Monitoring Officer, to decide whether to take action against
a member for breach of the Code of Conduct and if so, to decide what action
should be taken.
12.

Membership rules

12.1

An Elected Mayor, the Leader or a member of the Executive may not be Members;

12.2

The Chair of the Committee must not be a Member of the Executive;

12.3

The appointment of co-opted/independent members can be considered;

12.4

The Independent Persons are not members of GARMS and shall be invited to
meetings only if there is a Standards item on the agenda.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
1.

Accountability
The Health and Wellbeing Board is set up in accordance with section 102 of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012 which makes provision for the Council to
establish a Health and Wellbeing Board as a Committee of the Council appointed
under section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972. The Council can choose
to delegate decision making powers to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Any
recommendations are subject to the agreement of the Leader of the Council if
they are not covered by the delegated authority.
Members of the Board will be required to abide by the Code of Conduct.

2.

Purpose of the Board
2.1.

The Government proposes that statutory hHealth and wWellbeing bBoards
will hasve 3 main functions:
•
•
•

to assess the needs of the local population and lead the statutory joint
strategic needs assessment
to promote integration and partnership across areas, including through
promoting joined up commissioning plans across NHS, social care and
public health
to support joint commissioning and pooled arrangements, where all
parties agree this makes sense

The Board will covers both adult and children’s issues.
2.2.

The purpose of the Board is to improve health and wellbeing for the
residents of Harrow and reduce inequalities in outcomes. The Board will
hold partner agencies to account for delivering improvements to the

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

126

provision of health, adult and children’s services social care and housing
services.
2.3.

3.

Scrutiny of the Board’s activities will be performed by the Council’s Health
Scrutiny Committee.

Key Responsibilities
3.1.

The key responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing Board shall be:
3.1.1.

To agree health and wellbeing priorities for Harrow

3.1.2.

To develop the joint strategic needs assessment

3.1.3.

To develop a joint health and wellbeing strategy

3.1.4.

To promote joint commissioning

3.1.5.

To ensure that Harrow Council and the CCG commissioning plans
have had sufficient regard to the Joint Health and Wellbeing
strategy

3.1.6.

To consider how to best use the totality of resources available for
health and wellbeing.

3.1.7.

To oversee the quality of commissioned health services

3.1.8.

To provide a forum for public accountability of NHS, public health,
social care and other health and wellbeing services

3.1.9.

To monitor the outcomes of the public health framework, social
care framework and NHS framework introduced from April 2013)

3.1.10. To authorise Harrow’s Clinical Commissioning Group annual
assessment
3.1.11. To produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and revise
every three years
3.1.12. Undertake additional responsibilities as delegated by the local
authority or the Clinical Commissioning Group e.g. considering
wider health determinants such as housing, or be the vehicle for
lead commissioning of learning disabilities services.
4.

Membership
4.1.

The Chair of the Board will be nominated by the Leader of Harrow Council;
or a nominated deputy.

4.2.

The voting membership will be:
•
•

Members of the Council nominated by the Leader of the Council (5)
Chair of the Harrow Clinical Commissioning Group (vice chair)

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

127

•
•
•
•

GP representative of the Harrow Clinical Commissioning Group
A further representative of the Harrow Clinical Commissioning
Group
CCG Accountable Officer or nominee
Representative of Healthwatch Harrow

4.3. The following Advisors will be non-voting members:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director of Public Health
Chief Officer, Voluntary and Community Sector
Senior Officer of Harrow Police
Chair of the Harrow Safeguarding Children and Adult Board
Chief Operating Officer – CCG
Corporate Director, People
Director Adult Social Services

4.4.

The voluntary and community sector representative shall be nominated by
the Voluntary Community Sector Forum on an annual basis.

4.5.

Board Mmembers are appointed annually. Members of the Board
members shall each name a reserve who will have the authority to make
decisions in the event that they are unable to attend a meeting.

4.6.

Board members shall sign a register of attendance at each meeting and
should not normally miss more than one meeting within a financial year.

4.7.

The chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group will serve as the vice chair
of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

4.8.

Key providers in Harrow will be invited to attend meetings as required
depending on the subject under discussion.

4.9.

Other agencies and organisations will be invited as the Integrated Care
Partnership (ICP) develops to enable good outcomes to be delivered for
Harrow’s citizens.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

128

4.10. Participation of the NHS England
4.10.1. NHS England must appoint a representative to join Harrow’s
Health and Wellbeing Board for the purpose of participating in the
Boards preparation of the JSNA and JHWS.
4.10.2. The Health and Wellbeing Board can request the participation of
the NHS England representative when the Health and Wellbeing
Board is considering a matter that relates to the exercise or
proposed exercise of the commissioning functions of NHS
England in relation to Harrow.
4.11. Meeting Frequency
4.11.1. The Board shall meet bi monthly subject to review.
4.11.2. An extraordinary meeting will be called when the Chair considers
this necessary and/or in the circumstances where the Chair
receives a request in writing by 50% of the voting membership of
the Board
4.12. Health and Wellbeing Board Executive
4.12.1. The purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Board Executive is to:
•

Develop and deliver a programme of work based on the Joint
Commissioning priorities and the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy

•

Shape future years joint commissioning

•

Shape the agenda for future HWB meetings

•

Engage and understand the views of different organisations
(including providers)

•

Bring together a collective view of partners and providers to
the bi-monthly Health and Wellbeing Board

•

Share Commissioning Intentions and common priorities

•

Govern and quality assure the Health and Wellbeing Board
work programme

•

Be aware and discuss emerging policy and strategy

•

Problem Solving

4.12.2. The meetings of the Executive will be scheduled to meet before
the Board.
4.12.3. Membership will consist of senior officer representatives from both
the Council and Clinical Commissioning Group, including the
Directors of Adults, Children’s, and Public Health services, the
Chair of Harrow Clinical Commissioning Group, Accountable
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, GP Clinical Directors, and finance
officers.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

129

4.12.4. The chairing of the Executive will alternate between the council’s
Corporate Director of People Services and the Chief Operating
Officer, Harrow CCG.
4.13. Local Safeguarding Boards
4.13.1. The Council’s two Local Safeguarding Boards have a horizontal
link to the Health and Wellbeing Board and include:
4.13.1.1. Local Safeguarding Adults Board
4.13.1.2. Harrow Local Children’s Safeguarding Board
4.14. Conduct of Meetings
4.14.1. Meetings of the Board will be held in public except where the public
are excluded from the meeting by resolution in accordance with
Access to Information Act.
4.14.2. The quorum of the Board shall be 50% of the voting membership
– however there must be attendance of at least one voting member
from both the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Should the quorum not be secured the meeting will not take place.
4.14.3. Decisions shall be made on the basis of a show of hands of a
majority of voting members present. The ChairmanChair will have
a second or casting vote.
4.14.4. Each meeting will have provision for the public to ask questions.
There will be a total limit of 15 minutes for the asking and
answering of public questions.
4.14.5. Harrow Council Democratic Services will service the meetings
including the preparation and circulation of agenda and the
production of minutes.
4.14.6. Minutes of the meetings will be available on the website of the
council.
4.14.7. The chair shall sign off the minutes as a true and accurate record
of the meeting.
4.14.8. Agendas and supporting papers will be available on the website of
the council at least five working days before the meeting.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

130

INDEPENDENT PANEL
The Independent Panel shall consist of 2 independent persons appointed under s.27(7)
of the Localism Act 2011. The Panel has the following duties:
(a)

to consider reports recommending dismissal made by the Independent
Investigator and the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel in accordance with the
disciplinary procedure applying to the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer
and Monitoring Officer;

(b)

to prepare a report to Council stating whether it agrees or disagrees with the
recommendation to dismiss, including its reasons.

LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
The powers and the duties of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee are:
(a)

To consider all matters which, under the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and 2001 (as amended) listed by
Committee in the (referred to in Schedule 3A-1to this document), which are
required not to be the responsibility of the Executive, save for those matters
delegated to other Committees of the Council;

(b)

To carry out the functions under any relevant statutory provision within the meaning
of Part I (Health, safety and welfare in connection with work, and control of
dangerous substances) of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, to the extent
that those functions are discharged otherwise than in the authority’s capacity as
an employer;

(c)

To keep under review and to determine the arrangements for the holding of
elections and any referendums within the Borough and to initiate or respond to any
proposals to the change of ward, constituency or Borough boundaries;

(d)

The determination of applications under the Council’s Personal Injury Allowance
Scheme.

(e)

To determine all matters and duties on the authority imposed by legislation,
regulations orders, codes, and similar provisions for:
•
•
•
•
•

All activities under the Licensing Act 2003
Food safety and control.
Animal health, welfare, safety and control.
Gaming, betting, lotteries and related amusements
Crime and disorder issues related to the above duties.

CHIEF OFFICERS’ EMPLOYMENT PANEL
The Chief Officers’ Employment Panel, which shall include one member of the
Executive, has the following powers and duties:

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

131

(a)

to make recommendations to Council on the appointment of the Head of Paid
Service;

(b)

to appoint and dismiss Chief Officers , the Director of Children’s Services ,
Director of Adult Social Services, Director of Public Health, excluding the
dismissal of the Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer;

(c)

to make recommendations to Council on the dismissal of the Head of Paid
Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer in cases of redundancy,
permanent ill health or the expiry of a fixed term contract;

(d)

to consider whether to impose a disciplinary sanction on a Cchief oOfficer;

(e)

to consider matters and take action as required or permitted under the disciplinary
procedure for the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring
Officer including:
•

to suspend such an officer and to review such suspension

•

to appoint an independent investigator, agree terms of remuneration and
working methods

•

to appoint external advisers

•

to consider the report of an independent investigator and in relation to that
report:
o
o
o
o
o

to hold a hearing if appropriate to consider the report
to impose action short of dismissal on an officer
to decide to take no further action
to recommend informal resolution or other appropriate procedures
to refer back to the independent investigator for further investigation and
report
o to propose dismissal of an officer to Council (in which case the matter
should be referred to the Independent Panel prior to referral to Council)
(f)

to decide whether any objections made by a member of the Executive are material
and well-founded and, if it decides that they are, to take appropriate action;

(g)

to consider grievances by the Head of Paid Service, and appeals by a chief officer
against decisions made by the Head of Paid Service in relation to a grievance
made by the officer;

(h)

to approve remuneration packages of £100,000 or over for any Council post; and

(i)

to report back to Council for information purposes on all such approved
remuneration packages.

(j)

to approve any severance packages for Officers of £100,000 or over irrespective
of the grade of Officer.

(k)

to report back to Council for information purposes on all such approved severance
packages.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

132

LICENSING PANEL
The Licensing panel has the following powers and duties
(i)

To determine applications and to make Orders in respect of:
• licences, permits, registrations and certificates;
• Rights of way, footpaths and bridleways and the enjoyment of the
highway;
• Street naming and numbering;
• Markets and fairs and other street trading;
• Car park orders and variations;
• Registration of common land, town greens and variations of rights of
common;
where objections have been received.

(ii)

To determine applications and to make Orders in respect of:
•
•
•
•
•

Safety certificates for sports grounds;
Matters regarding film classification;
Rules and Regulations established by the authority;
Fees issues within the terms of reference of the Panel;
Applications under Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982) as amended from time to time.

(iii) To determine waivers and variations on matters determined by the Licensing and
General Purposes Committee, Cabinet or Council.
(iiiv) Specific delegations under the Licensing Act 2003 as set out in the Licensing
Policy, and the Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005. are set out
in the Licensing Policy and Statement of Principles under Gambling Act 2005.
(iv)

Without prejudice to the generality of the above sections, iIn the case of alcohol
control provisions in the Licensing Act 2003 as might be amended, and related
legislation, regulations, orders, guidance, etc, to determine the following matters:
Applications for personal licences where:
•
•

Representations have been made, but remain unresolved.
Applicants have relevant unspent convictions.

Matters relating to the licensing, certification and authorisation at premises where:
•
•
•
•

Representations have been made to an application, but remain unresolved.
There is an unresolved police representation to an application to vary a
designated personal licence holder, or to the transfer of a premises licence.
There is an unresolved police representation to the application for an interim
authority, or to a Temporary Event Notice.
An application is made for the review of a premises licence or club premises
certificate.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

133

Commented [C3]: Crossed out as been covered above.

•

Matters of an exceptional nature that in a licensing the officer’s opinion justify
consideration by the Licensing Panel.

[Appeals against decisions of the Licensing Panel must be made to the Magistrates’
Court.]

PERSONNEL APPEALS PANEL
The Personnel Appeals has the following powers and duties Panel has the following
powers and duties:
•

To consider and decide upon appeals by employees against dismissals related to
misconduct where there is provision for such an appeal in the procedure
applicable to the employee. disciplinary action.

SOCIAL SERVICES APPEALS PANEL
The Social Services Appeals Panel has the following powers and duties:
(a) To review in accordance with the Children (Secure Accommodation) Regulations
1991 the keeping of children in secure accommodation;
(b) In accordance with the Mental Health Act 1983, to decide whether to discharge
patients from guardianship;
(c) In accordance with procedures and guidance given under the Children Act 1989
and the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints
(England) Regulations (the Complaints Regulations) as provided for in s.114 of the
Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 National
Health Service and Community Care Act 1990, and when requested to do so by a
dissatisfied complainant, to review decisions made relating to complaints.
Note: Appeals Panels reviewing the keeping of a child in secure accommodation will be
chaired by an Independent Person. Appeals hearing complaints under the Children Act
1989 and the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 will comprise 3
Independent Persons
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEES
General Role
Within their terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Scrutiny Sub-Committees other than the Call-In Sub-Committees will have the
following roles:
(a)

the strategic development of policy – by supporting the Council and
Executive in developing the policy framework and budget for the Council
and working with partner organisations on issues that may be outside
the remit of the Council;

(b)

reviews of specific services – by making reports and/or
recommendations to the full Council, Executive, Portfolio Holders and
any Joint or Area Committees on any of their functions;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

134

Commented [ST4]: Taken from the Articles

(c)

the review of policy and decisions developed by others – by reviewing
and/or scrutinising decisions made or actions taken in connection with
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

(d)

the review of issues of concern to local people – by considering any
matter affecting the area or its inhabitants and monitoring and
scrutinising the activities of others;

(e)

consideration of the Forward Plan and scrutiny prior to key decisions
being made, as appropriate;

(f)

scrutiny of decision making processes – by helping to draw up Protocols
on how the Executive and Portfolio Holders should make decisions and
then checking to see that these have been observed;

(g)

where relevant and appropriate, to receive selected monitoring reports
carried out internally and externally on services.

The Call-In Sub-Committees may call in Executive decisions made but not yet
implemented.

Specific Functions
(a)

Policy development and review
The Overview and
Committee(s) may:

(b)

Scrutiny

Committee

and

Scrutiny

Sub-

(i)

assist the Council, the Executive and Portfolio Holders in the
development of the budget and policy framework by in-depth
analysis of policy issues;

(ii)

conduct research, community and other consultation in the
analysis of policy issues and possible options;

(ii)

consider mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

(iv)

question Members of the Executive, Advisory Panels and/or
Committees and chief officers about their views on issues and
proposals affecting the area; and

(v)

liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of
local people are enhanced by collaborative working.

Scrutiny
The Overview and
Committee(s) may:

Scrutiny

Committee

and

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

135

Scrutiny

Sub-

(i)

review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and performance
of, the Executive, Portfolio Holders and/or Committees and
Council officers both in relation to individual decisions and over longer
periods of time;

(ii)

review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation
to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular
service areas;

(ii)

require the attendance of and question Members and chief
officers about their decisions and performance, or in relation to
particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

(iv)

make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate
Committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the
scrutiny process;

(v)

where partnership working permits, review and scrutinise the
performance of other public services in the area, by inviting
reports from partners and requesting that they address the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny SubCommittees about their activities and performance;

(vi)

question and gather evidence from any person (with their
consent); and

(vii)

carry out the scrutiny of matters relating to the Health and Social
Care including those matters delegated to the Health and Social
Care Scrutiny Committee.

Finance
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will exercise overall
responsibility for any unallocated resources made available for scrutiny.
(c)

Annual Report
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report annually to full Council
on its workings and make recommendations for future work
programmes and amend working methods, if appropriate.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the following power and duties:
1.

To oversee an agreed work programme that can help secure service improvement
through in-depth investigation of poor performance issues and the development of
an effective strategy/policy framework for the council and partners;

2.

To have general oversight of the council’s scrutiny function;

3.

To offer challenge and critical support to the Executive’s policy development
function and the long-term strategic direction of the borough;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

136

4.

To anticipate policy changes and determine their potential impact on residents and
to recommend changes where these are appropriate;

5.

To consider the council and partners’ strategic approach to service delivery, using,
where necessary, the power of overview and scrutiny committees to receive
information from partner agencies and to require partner authorities to have regard
respond to reports and recommendations from the Committee, as set out under
sections 9FF and 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000; Part Five of the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007;

6.

To undertake detailed investigation of service/financial performance in order to
recommend policy changes to the Executive and to commission investigations by
the Performance and Finance Sub-Committee;

7.

To have regard, in carrying out its functions, to the requirement to involve local
representatives, as set out in Part Seven of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007;

7.

To report scrutiny findings and recommendations to the Executive within 8 weeks
of being published or to its next meeting, whichever is the sooner, in accordance
with the council’s constitution

8.

To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with
the discharge of responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions in
accordance with s.19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006.

Commented [C5]: Repealed by s.103 Deregulation Act
which was to remove burdens from local authorities.

8.9. To consider items included in the Forward Plan;
9.10. To consider Councillor Call for Action in terms of
a. Local Government Matters (Section 119, Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 9FC of the Local Government act 2000)
b. Local Crime & Disorder Matters (Section 19, Police & Justice Act 2006)
10.11. To discharge the functions conferred by Section 244 (2ZE) of the National Health
Service Act 2006 as amended and Regulation 21 of the Local Authority (Public
Health, Health and Wellbeing Board and Health Scrutiny Regulations 2013) 21(f) of
the Local Government Act 2000 of reviewing and scrutinising, in accordance with
regulations under Section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001, matters relating
to the planning, provision and operation of health services in Harrow.
11.12. To respond to consultations from local health trusts, Department of Health and
Social Care and any organisation which provides health services outside the local
authority’s area to inhabitants within it.
12.13. To review and make appropriate recommendations on an annual basis for the
arrangements for processing applications for support from the voluntary sector,
including grants, concessionary lettings, use of the community premises and other
council premises, and discretionary rate relief.

CALL- IN SUB-COMMITTEE
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

137

Commented [C6]: Update with legislation

The Call-In Sub-Committee has the following powers and duties:
(a)

to examine decisions of the Executive which are taken but not implemented, and
which are ‘called in’ in accordance with the Committee Procedure Rules;

(b)

to refer matters called in to the decision taker with reasons and recommendations
for changes;

(c)

to refer Executive decisions to full Council if they consider they are contrary to the
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget.

CALL- IN SUB-COMMITTEE – EDUCATION
The Call-In Sub-Committee has the following powers and duties in relation to Education
Matters:
(a)

to examine decisions of the Executive which are taken but not implemented, and
which are ‘called in’ in accordance with the Committee Procedure Rules;

(b)

to refer matters called in to the decision taker with reasons and recommendations
for changes;

(c)

to refer Executive decisions to full Council if they consider they are contrary to the
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE
The Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee has the following powers and
duties:
1.

To be the key driver of the scrutiny function’s health and social care scrutiny
programme and maintain relationships with health and social care colleagues and
partners in relation to shared stated priorities, in consultation with the Overview &
Scrutiny Committee.

2.

To be responsible in accordance with Regulation 28 of the Local Authority (Public
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 for scrutiny of
the Council’s health functions other than the power under Regulation 23(9) to make
referrals to the Secretary of State.

3.

To recommend to Council that a referral be made to the Secretary of State under
Regulation 23(9) of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing and
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

4.

To have specific responsibility for scrutiny of the following functions:
▪
▪
▪

Health and social care infrastructure and service
NHS England, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the Health and
Wellbeing Board
Public Health

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

138

▪
▪
▪

Other policy proposals which may have an impact on health, public health, social
care and wellbeing
Collaborative working with health agencies
Commissioning and contracting health services

5.

To review the planning, provision and operation of Health services in Harrow and
ensure compliance with Regulation 21(1) of the Local Authority (Public Health,
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 by inviting and
taking account of information and reports from local health providers and other
interested parties including the local HealthWatch.

6.

Where a referral is made through the local HealthWatch arrangements, to comply
with Regulation 21(3) of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 by ensuring that the referral is
acknowledged within 20 days and that the referrer is informed of any action taken.

7.

Where appropriate, to consider and make recommendations for response to NHS
consultations on proposed substantial developments/variations in health services
that would affect the people of LB Harrow.

8.

Where appropriate, to consider and make recommendations for response to
consultations from local health trusts, Department of Health and Social Care

8.9. , Care Quality Commission and any organisation which provides health services
outside the local authority’s area to inhabitants within it.
9.10. Continue to seek the development of relationship with NHS England, CCGs,
Health and Wellbeing Boards, Care Quality Commission, HealthWatch and the
Local Medical Council.
(Note: Members of the Executive or members of the Health and Wellbeing Board may
not be members of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub Committee. Any health
matter requiring an urgent decision/comment before the next meeting of the Health &
Social Care Sub-Committee will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
if that is sooner).

PERFORMANCE & FINANCE SUB-COMMITTEE
The Performance and Finance Sub-Committee has the following powers and duties:
1.

To be the key driver of the scrutiny function’s work programme and the body
responsible for monitoring the performance of the council and partners in relation
to their stated priorities;

2.

To consider/monitor, on an exception basis, the financial and service
performance of the Councilorganisation;

3.

To consider/monitor the performance of the council’s partners;

4.

To undertake specific investigation of identified ‘hot spots’ through Q&A, reports
or challenge panels – subject to endorsement by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

139

5.

To refer ‘hot spots’ to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for more detailed
investigation where necessary;

6.

To consider such urgent items as are appropriate – ad hoc, Councillor Calls for
Action, area scrutiny.

PENSION BOARD
The Pension Board has the following powers and duties:
1.

Introduction
The purpose of this document is to set out the Terms of Reference for the local
Pension Board (the Board) of the London Borough Harrow Pension Fund (the
Fund).

2.

Powers of the Board
The Board will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and
this Terms of Reference.

3.1.

Role of the Board
The role of the Board, as defined by sections 5(1) and (2) of the Public Service
Pensions Act 2013, is to assist the Administering Authority (London Borough of
Harrow) as Scheme Manager in ensuring the effective and efficient governance
and administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) including:
-

securing compliance with the LGPS regulations and other legislation
relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS;

-

securing compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the LGPS by
the Pensions Regulator; and

-

such other matters the LGPS regulations may specify.

The Administering Authority retains ultimate responsibility for the administration
and governance of the scheme. The role of the Board is to support the
Administering Authority to fulfil that responsibility.
In its role, The Board has will have oversight of the administration of the fund
including:
a.
b.
c.
d.

The effectiveness of the decision making process
The direction of the Fund and its overall objectives
The level of transparency in the conduct of the Fund’s activities
The administration of benefits and contributions

The Board will provide the Scheme Manager with such information as it requires
to ensure that any Member of the Board or person to be appointed to the Board
does not have a conflict of interest.
The Board will ensure it effectively and efficiently complies with the Code of
Practice on the Governance and Administration of Public Service Pension
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

140

Schemes issued by the Pensions Regulator. It will help to ensure that the Fund
is managed in the same way.
The Board shall meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively.
4.2.

Membership
The Board shall consist of 5 members and be constituted as follows:
(i)

2 Employer representatives – Administering Authority (1), other scheduled
and admitted bodies [ie organisations other than the Administering
Authority who, under the regulations, can participate in the LGPS] (1);

(ii)

2 Scheme Member representatives – active members (1), pensioners (1);
and

(iii)

1 independent member

Elected Members and officers involved in the management and administration of
the Fund are not permitted to become Board members.
Only the Employer and Scheme Member representatives will have voting rights.
Each member of the Board will serve for a period of three years, subject to
compliance with conditions of appointment. Members will be appointed on a
rotational basis. with effect April 2017.
The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Board will be elected by the Board at its first
meeting and will serve for a period of three years. Should the elected Chair be
an Employer representative the Deputy Chair must be a Scheme Member
representative and vice versa.
The Chair will ensure that meetings are properly conducted and the decision of
the Chair on all points of procedure and order shall be final.
The Board may, with the approval of the Administering Authority, co-opt persons
with sufficient skills and experience to advise and support them. Co-optees are
not Board members and do not have voting rights.
Each Board Member should endeavour to attend all Board meetings during the
year. In the event of consistent non-attendance by any Board Member the tenure
of that membership should be reviewed by the other Board members in liaison
with the Scheme Manager.
Other than by ceasing to be eligible as set out above, a Board member may only
be removed from office during a term of appointment by the unanimous
agreement of all other members and with the agreement of the Scheme Manager.
Should any member of the Board cease to be a member of the relevant group for
which they have he/she has been appointed he/shethey will automatically cease
to be a member of the Board and the Administering Authority will conduct a
replacement process.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

141

5.3.

Appointment of Board members
All Board members will be appointed by Full Council. It is a statutory requirement
that the Administering Authority must be satisfied that a person to be appointed
as an Employer or Scheme Member representative has the relevant experience
and capacity to represent employers or scheme members (as appropriate).
•

Administering Authority to nominate one Employer representative

•

The second Employer representative to be nominated by the scheduled
and admitted bodies. If more than one is nominated, Council will determine
who is to be appointed.

(i) Scheme Member representatives to be selected through a process
administered by the Administering Authority with a recommendation to
Council
(ii) Independent member – applications to be invited by public advertisement with
a recommendation by the s151 Officer to Council.
6.4.

Standards of conduct and conflicts of interest
All members of the Board are expected to act in accordance with the Code of
Conduct for Councillors where applicable and the Pensions Regulator’s Code of
Practice. In accordance with s5(5) Public Service Pension Act 2013, a Board
member must not have a financial or other interest that could prejudice them
him/her in carrying out his/her Board duties. This does not include a financial or
other interest arising merely by virtue of being a member of the LGPS.
The policy for identifying conflicts of interest is set out in a separate policy
document.

7.5.

Knowledge and Skills
Following appointment each member of the Board should be conversant with:
•

The legislation and associated guidance of the LGPS

•

Any document recording policy about the administration of the LGPS which
is for the time being adopted by the Fund

The Administering Authority will provide a training programme which all Board
members will be required to attend.

8.6.

It is for individual Board members to be satisfied that they have the appropriate
degree of knowledge and understanding to enable them, properly, to exercise
their functions as a Member of the Board and therefore, must comply with the
Board’s Knowledge and Understanding and Training Policy.
Accountability
The Board will collectively and individually be accountable to the Scheme
Manager.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

142

The Board will refer all relevant recommendations and decisions to the Pension
Fund Committee of the Administering Authority and, where appropriate, to Full
Council. It will present a report on its work to the Full Council once a year.
9.

Decision making
Each voting member of the Board will have an individual voting right but it is
expected that the Board will, as far as possible, reach a consensus. The Chair of
the Board, so long as he/she has voting rights, will have the final casting vote.

10.7. Quorum
A quorum will comprise three of the five members of which at least one shall be
an Employer representative and one a Scheme Member representative.
11.8. Meetings
The Board shall meet at least twice a year but no more than four times.
The Chair of the Board, in consultation with the Administering Authority will
prepare an agenda for each meeting of the Board. The administration of the
Board will be in accordance with the normal procedures of the London Borough
of Harrow.
An extraordinary meeting will be called when the Chair considers this necessary
and/or in circumstances where the Chair receives a request in writing by 50% of
the voting membership of the Board
12.9. Publication of Pension Board Information
The Administering Authority will publish up to date information on the Council’s
website including:
•
•
•

The names of the Board member
The Board’s Terms of Reference
Papers, agendas and minutes of Board meetings.

13.10. Advice to the Board
The Board will be supported in its role and responsibilities by the Administering
Authority through advice and support as appropriate.
14.11. Expense Reimbursement
Each member of the Board and any co-opted persons, excluding elected
Councillors of the London Borough of Harrow and Council Officers will be
reimbursed at a rate of £445 per annum (exclusive of VAT if payable). All
members of the Board and any co-opted persons will be paid “out-of-pocket”
expenses when carrying out the functions of the Board including approved
training.
15.12. Definitions
The undernoted terms shall have the following meaning when used in this
document:
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

143

Commented [ST7]: Taken out as this rule is in the commitee
procedure rules

Administering Authority

London Borough of Harrow

Board or Pension Board The local Pension Board for the London Borough of
Harrow, Administering Authority for the London
Borough of Harrow Pension Fund as required under
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

Board Member

A member of the Board including Employer
representatives, Scheme Member representatives
and an independent member

Code of Practice

The Pensions Regulator’s [draft] Code of Practice no
14 entitled “Governance and administration of public
service pension schemes.”

Conflicts of Interest

As defined in the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

Conflicts of Interest
Policy

The policy on conflicts of interest as adopted by the
Board

Employer
Representative

A person appointed to the Board for the purpose of
representing employers for the Scheme

Fund

The London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund within
the Scheme administered and maintained by the
Scheme Employer

Independent Member

A Member of the Board who is neither an Employer
Representative nor a Member Representative

Knowledge and
Understanding and
Training Policy

The training policy as adopted by the Board

LGPS

The Local Government Pension Scheme as
constituted by the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013, the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings
and Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Local
Government Pension Scheme (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009.

Member Representative A person appointed to the Board for the purpose of
representing members of the Scheme
Scheme

The Local Government Pension Scheme as defined
under LGPS

Scheme Manager

London Borough of Harrow as administering
authority of the London Borough of Harrow Pension
Fund

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

144

16.13. Interpretation
Any uncertainty or ambiguity or interpretation required relating to any matters
contained in this document shall be resolved by reference to the Scheme
Manager.
[Note: The terms of reference approved by Council on 13 November 2014 were
amended under delegated authority as a result of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2015 which removed the voting
rights of the Independent Member.]

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE
The Pension Fund Committee has the following powers and duties:
1.

to exercise on behalf of the Council, all the powers and duties of the Council in
relation to its functions as Administering Authority of the LB Harrow Pension Fund
(the fund), save for those matters delegated to other Committees of the Council
or to an Officer;

2.

the determination of applications under the Local Government Superannuation
Regulations and the Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations;

3.

to administer all matters concerning the Council’s pension investments in
accordance with the law and Council policy;

4.

to establish a strategy for the disposition of the pension investment portfolio; and

5.

to appoint and determine the investment managers’ delegation of powers of
management of the fund;

6.

to determine cases that satisfy the Early Retirement provision under Regulations
26 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended),
and to exercise discretion under Regulations 8 of the Local Government (Early
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales)
Regulations 2000 (as amended, subject to the conditions now agreed in respect
of all staff, excluding Chief Officers;

7.

to apply the arrangements set out in (6) above to Chief Officers where the
application has been recommended by the Chief Executive, either on the grounds
of redundancy, or in the interests of the efficiency of the service, and where the
application was instigated by the Chief Executive in consultation with the leaders
of the political groups.

PLANNING COMMITTEE
The Planning Committee has the following powers and duties:

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

145

Commented [JF8]: Deleted in accordance with changes in
legislation and current arrangements.

1.

To exercise the functions of the council as local planning authority under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 and other planning and subordinate legislation with
the exception that:
a) the preparation, maintenance and updating of the Local Development
Framework; and
b) the consideration of any policy matter concerning the planning of the Borough,
including the development of major sites but not the determination of any
planning application;
shall be matters to be determined by the CabinetExecutive.

2.

To determine applications for certificates under section 17 of the Land
Compensation Act 1961.

3.

To consider and, if appropriate, serve Article 4 Directions removing permitted
development rights in accordance with the Town and Country Planning General
(Permitted Development) Order 1990.

4.

To determine and enforce building regulations.

5.

All other functions relating to town and country planning and development control
as set out in the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000 (as amended) listed by Committee in the schedule to this
document.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

146

OTHER STATUTORY COMMITTEES

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION
SACRE is established under section 390 of the Education Act 1996. It is not a formal
committee of the Council. The terms of reference and membership are set out below.
Under section 392(7) of the Act, SACRE may regulate its own proceedings and hence
the Council’s committee procedure rules do not apply to SACRE.
Terms of reference
(1)

As requested by the local authority or of its own volition, to advise the local
authority on matters connected with:
a.

rReligious worship in community schools or foundation schools which do
not have a religious character, and

b. Religious education, in accordance with the Agreed Syllabus
The matters referred to above include, in particular, teaching methods, choice
of materials and teacher training.
(2)

To deal with applications from schools for a determination on whether the
statutory requirement for Christian collective worship should apply.

(3)

To determine the manner and form of applications under (2) above.

(4)

To convene from time to time an Agreed Syllabus Conference to review the
agreed syllabus. The representative groups on SACRE, other than Group D,
may at any time require a review of the agreed syllabus. Each of the three
representative groups concerned shall have a single vote on the question of
whether to require such a review.

(5)

To publish an annual report as to the exercise of their functions and any action
taken by representative groups on the council under (4) above during the
preceding year.

Membership
Group A – Representatives of Christian (excluding Church of England) and other
religious denominations (22)
Group B – Representatives of the Church of England (3)
Group C – Representatives of Teachers (6)
Group D – Representatives of the Local Education Authority (3)
SACRE may also include co-opted members (that is, persons co-opted as members of
SACRE by members of SACRE who have not themselves been so co-opted).
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

147

Any member who fails to attend three consecutive members of SACRE shall cease to
be a member of the Council unless, at the third such meeting, SACRE approves the
reason for non-attendance.
An adviser nominated by the Corporate Director, People Services shall also be invited
to attend meetings of SACRE.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

148

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DELEGATION OF
DUTIES TO THE CABINET, PORTFOLIO HOLDERS,
ADVISORY PANELS AND CONSULTATIVE FORUMS

EXECUTIVE (CABINET)

The Executive will exercise all of the local authority functions which are not the
responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this
Constitution.
The Executive will have responsibility for approving plans which are not the
responsibility of Council the following local choice plans:
The Food Law Enforcement Service Plan;
The Plans and Strategies which comprise the Housing Investment
Programme;
Adult Learning Plan;
Local Agenda 21 Strategy;
Quality Protects Management Action Plan;
and any other non-statutory plans that, from time to time, may be considered their
responsibility.

The Cabinet is responsible for the following functions:
(1) Development of proposals for the budget (including the capital and revenue budgets,
the fixing of the Council Tax Base, and the level of Council Tax) and the financial
strategy for the Council;
(2) Monitoring the implementation of the budget and financial strategy;
(3) Recommending major new policies (and amendments to existing policies) to the
Council for approval as part of the Council’s Policy Framework and implementing
those approved by Council;
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

149

Commented [C9]: This part has been moved from Article 7

(4) Preparation and agreement of other policies and plans for implementation by
Portfolio Holders and others;

Commented [ST10]: Deleted as included above

(5)(4) Approval and mManagement of the Council’s Capital Programme and Strategy;
(6) All key decisions – namely:
(7)
(8)(5) (i)
an executive decision which is likely to result in the Council incurring
expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard
to the budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or
(9)(6)
(10)(7)
(ii)
an executive decision which is likely to be significant in terms of its
effects on communities living or working in an area of two or more wards of the
Borough.
(11)(8)
(12)(9)
A decision is significant for the purposes of (i) above if it involves
expenditure or the making of savings of an amount in excess of £1m for capital
expenditure or £500,000 for revenue expenditure or, where expenditure or savings
are less than the amounts specified above, they constitute more than 50% of the
budget attributable to the service in question.
(13)(10)
Award of contracts over £500,000 and all matters reserved to the
Executive under the Contract Procedure Rules
(14)(11)

Virements between budgets as required by the Financial Regulations;

(15)(12)
Making all non-key decisions which either fall outside Cabinet policy or
agreed Executive guidelines, or have been are referred to the Executive by the
relevant Portfolio Holder or Corporate Director;
(16)(13)
Determination of recommendations and references from the Council or any
of its Committees or sub-committees and which the Cabinet considers are
appropriate for collective decision;
(17)(14)

Approval of HRA Rents.

Cabinet Members (Portfolio Holders ) Members appointment and term of office

Commented [J11]: Moved from article 7.4

Other Executive Members shall be appointed to the Executive by the Leader and shall continue in
their roles on the Executive until one of the following circumstances applies:
(a)

in the case of the Deputy Leader; the end of the term of office of the Leader

(b)

they resign from office; or

(c)

they are no longer Councillors; or

(d)

the Leader makes changes to the roles of Members of the Executive, or

(e)

they are removed from office by the Leader.
Commented [J12]: Moved from article 7.5

Vacancies in the Executive
If at any time a Member ceases to be a Member of the Executive, the responsibilities of that
Member shall be carried out by the Executive collectively until such time as the Leader has
appointed a replacement, or where appropriate, re-appointed the Member concerned.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

150

In the event that all Members of the Executive are removed or have been disqualified from office,
the Head of Paid Service shall, in the interim, carry out the Executive functions.
Commented [J13]: Moved from art 7.6

Temporary Absence of Leader or other Portfolio Holder
In the temporary absence of the Leader or other Portfolio Holder, decisions may be taken in
accordance with the Scheme of delegation relating to Portfolio Holders set out in Part 3 of the
Constitution and the Delegated Power of Portfolio Holders in the Appendix to the Executive
Procedure Rules).
Special Provision to take urgent action in an election year

Commented [J14]: Moved from art 7

(a)
That following a Borough Election and until the day of the Annual Council Meeting the
Leader or a Portfolio Holder will, if the political group to which they belong do not have a majority of
members on the Council, consult and ensure consensus with the Leaders of one or more other
groups that together form a majority of members on the Council;
(b)(a) That following a Borough Election and until the day of the Annual Council Meeting, if the
Leader is not re-elected as a Councillor, the powers of the Leader shall be exercised by the Head
of Paid Services in consultation with all group Leaders.

Commented [J15]: Moved from art 7.8

Proceedings of the Executive
Proceedings of the Executive will take place in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules set
out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
Portfolio Holders Assistants
Non-Executive Councillors may be appointed as Portfolio Holder Assistants. Portfolio Holder
Assistants may not exercise any of the powers of a Portfolio Holder nor act in the absence of the
Portfolio Holder.
Confirmation of the appointment of any Portfolio Holder Assistant must be
given by the Executive at the next meeting of Cabinet.

Role and Areas of Responsibility of Portfolio Holders
(Cabinet Members)
General Responsibilities
(1) All Portfolio Holders are responsible for the effective management and delivery of
executive functions within their area of responsibility and within the following
framework:
•

The Council’s overall strategic, corporate and policy objectives and all statutory
and other plans and strategies approved by the Council the approved revenue
and capital budgets

•

The law and the Council’s Constitution

•

The decisions made at full meetings of the Cabinet.

(2) All Portfolio Holders share the responsibility for ensuring:

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

151

•

The development, co-ordination, promotion and implementation of the Council’s
statutory plans and strategies and for the setting of the Council’s Objectives;

•

That the Council delivers value for money in all that does;

•

The delivery of Public Health responsibilities;

•

The oversight, development, monitoring and promotion of all executive services
provided by the Council within the appropriate performance management
framework;

•

That suitable and proper arrangements are made for the procurement,
development, monitoring and promotion of all services relating to executive
functions, which are provided under contract to the Council;

•

The promotion of the interests of the Borough, and of all the residents,
businesses, other organisations and stakeholders within Harrow;

•

That the Council takes a community leadership role across the public, voluntary
and business sectors involving the development of good and effective working
links with all sectors;

•

The promotion and implementation of an effective equal opportunities policy;

•

The promotion of services which are sustainable, improve community cohesion
and community safety, make for more open government, provide opportunities
for resident participation in delivering outcomes and include new methods of
community engagement;

•

That proper arrangements are made for consultation and participation with
residents and service users in decision making;

The Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Strategy, Partnerships,
Devolution & Customer Services
The Leader of the Council shall have the following responsibilities:
•

When present to chair meetings of the Cabinet;

•

Appoint and dismiss Portfolio Holders and the Deputy Leader

•

Appoint to and dismiss from committees of the Cabinet

•

Determine from time to time the roles and areas of responsibility of Portfolio
Holders

•

In the absence of a Portfolio Holder, or on written notice to that Portfolio Holder,
to exercise any of that Portfolio Holder’s functions themselves him/herself or
arrange the discharge of those functions by another Portfolio Holder or a
Corporate Director

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

152

•

Champion the Borough locally, nationally and internationally and act as an
advocate for its residents

•

Work with the Government to maximise opportunities for devolution, fairer funding
and growth

•

Lead the development and implementation of the Council’s Corporate Plan and
Budget

•

Oversee Access Harrow and the implementation of the Customer Services
Strategy

•

Lead the Council’s Strategy to address all forms of inequality

•

Liaise with Government Departments, the Greater London Authority, London
Councils, West London Alliance and other local and public bodies

•

Champion the Council’s media relations and promote its brand and reputation

•

Ensure that the decisions and activities of the Council comply with the highest
possible ethical standards and that all Members of the Council adhere to the Code
of Conduct.

Deputy Leader of the Council
The Deputy Leader of the Council shall have overall responsibility for:
•

Undertaking the responsibilities and delegated powers of the Leader of the
Council, to the extent permitted by the Constitution, in the absence of the Leader;

•

The chairing of meetings of the Executive in the absence of the Leader of the
Council.

Portfolio Holder - Adults and Public Health
To be responsible for the development and strategic direction of the Council’s Adults
Social Care and Public Health functions, including:
•

Championing the safeguarding of vulnerable adults;

•

Overseeing compliance with both relevant statutory duties and performance
targets;

•

Working in partnership with service inspectors, health bodies, the voluntary
sector and service clients;

•

Championing service projects including commercialisation opportunities;

•

Representing service interests on the Health & Well-Being Board;

•

Supporting the joint commissioning of services;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

153

•

Promoting wellbeing across the Council.

Portfolio Holder for Community Cohesion and Crime
•

To work with community groups, and statutory agencies to both maintain and
improve community cohesion and community safety, reduce crime, mitigate its
effect and reduce fear of crime;

•

This will include championing the Council’s commitment to social inclusion and
fairness and Representation on appropriate partnerships, boards and groups.

Portfolio Holder for Community Engagement and Accessibility
•

To inspire Harrow’s residents to build upon the many assets that exist at the heart
of their communities, and to ensure they are appropriately consulted and
involved in the Council’s decisions, plans and activities;

•

This will include working with community groups, businesses, the voluntary
sector and statutory agencies.

Portfolio Holder for Environment
To be responsible for the development and strategic direction of the Council’s
environment services, and associated enforcement activity, including:
•

Overseeing compliance with relevant statutory duties and performance targets;

•

Championing service projects including commercialisation opportunities;

•

Developing the role of community champions;

•

Supporting the joint commissioning of services.

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources
To be responsible for the financial strategy of the Council, including
•

Developing and promoting its annual and long term budgets and policy
frameworks including those for the housing revenue account;

•

Ensuring financial controls and processes are effective;

•

Keeping under review fees and charges levied by the Council;

•

Championing effective risk management and business continuity activity;

•

Promoting commercial opportunities;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

154

•

Ensuring coherent strategies for People and IT are adopted and implemented;

•

Ensuring the Council has effective processes to monitor and manage the
performance of its services;

•

Overseeing the procurement, management and extension of major contracts (ie
over £1m pa) and the settlement of claims against the Council over £1m.
Portfolio Holder – Housing
To be responsible for the development and strategic direction of the Council’s housing
services including:
•

Ensuring the viability and cost effectiveness of the Housing Revenue Account;

•

Enabling the provision of affordable homes and supporting the improvement of
housing in the borough, working with private developers, landlords and housing
associations as appropriate;

•

Maximising opportunities to engage tenants and leaseholders and ensuring their
feedback shapes services;

•

Oversee the discharge of the Council’s duties to the homeless.

Portfolio Holder - Regeneration, Planning and Employment
To be responsible for the strategic direction of regeneration and the promotion of
employment opportunities in the Borough including:
•

The development of local and regional plans;

•

Liaising with local and national government bodies and the business community;

•

Protecting Harrow’s built heritage and green spaces;

•

Ensuring the effective management of the Council’s property assets, with specific
authority to acquire or dispose of land up to £250k (other than at less than best
consideration);

•

Ensuring good governance in the Council, including overseeing the Legal &
Governance Services Directorate;

•

Overseeing the development of cultural activities in the Borough;

•

Ensuring residents have appropriate training and development opportunities and
benefit from employment opportunities in the Borough.

Portfolio Holder for Young People and Schools
To be responsible for the development and strategic direction of services to young
people and schools in the Borough including:
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

155

•

Championing the safeguarding of vulnerable young people;

•

Acting as the lead member for children, including overseeing compliance with
statutory duties, targets and reporting requirements;

•

Promoting and championing the interests of children looked after by the Council;

•

Representing the interests of young people on partnerships and boards including
the local safeguarding children board and the Health and Wellbeing Board;

•

Working with partner bodies including the Harrow Youth Parliament, Ofsted,
Health Services and the Police;

•

Overseeing the discharge of local education authority responsibilities including
sustaining effective relationships with schools and governing bodies.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

156

CABINET ADVISORY PANELS, SUBCOMMITTEES AND FORUMS

Executive sub-committees

Commented [J16]: Moved from art 7

The Executive may establish sub-committees to carry out Executive functions. Such committees must
consist only of Executive members.
Advisory Panels
The Executive may appoint Advisory Panels to assist in the carrying out of Executive functions. Any
such panels may not exercise any Executive functions and may only give advice or make
recommendations to the Executive, Portfolio Holders or Council as appropriate. Non-Executive Members
may be members of such Panels . Specific Procedural Rules apply to these Panels (see part 4 Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rules) unless specifically approved otherwise by the
Executive. The rules on political proportionality will apply to membership of Panels. The terms of
reference of all Advisory Panels are set out in Part 3A of the Constitution.
Consultative Forums
The Executive may appoint Consultative Forums. These non-decision making bodies shall assist the
Executive in consulting with service users, trades’ unions and other interested parties. They may make
recommendations to the Executive (or elsewhere as appropriate) if a majority of the Council members
on the Forum agree. The Procedure Rules for Advisory Panels and Consultative Forums apply to these
forums subject to specific changes for membership and method or operation proposed by each Forum
and approved by Council. The rules on political proportionality will apply to the appointment of
Councillors to the Forums.

(Note: Cabinet Advisory Panels have no Executive decision making powers. Their
purpose is to consider matters referred to them within their terms of reference and to
make recommendations to the Cabinet/Portfolio Holder as appropriate.)

Corporate Parenting
Harrow Business Consultative
Major Developments
Commented [C17]: List is in the exec procedure rules.

Traffic and Road Safety
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
Purpose
1. To ensure that the Council is fulfilling its duties towards Looked After Children
Children Looked After corporately and in partnership with other statutory agencies.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

157

2. To consider matters referred to the Panel within its terms of reference and to make
recommendations to Cabinet/Portfolio Holder as appropriate including:
a. Approving annually the Statement of Purpose for the Adoption Service
b. Approving annually the Statement of Purpose for the Fostering Service
c. To ensure all councillors are aware of their corporate parenting responsibilities
through Mandatory training and communication.
Role of the Panel
1. To take an overview of the Council’s and partner agencies responsibilities towards
looked after children (LAC) and examine ways the life chances of looked after
children and care leavers can be improved.
2. To examine ways in which the Council as a whole and partner agencies can improve
the life chances of looked after children and care leavers.
3.2. Ensure there are good joint working arrangements between council departments and
partner agencies.
4.3. To consider and regularly review on an annually basis a the Corporate Parenting
Strategy setting out key priorities and areas for action. The Corporate Parenting
Sstrategy will be submitted to Cabinet and full council for consideration. and
decision on approval.
5.4. To provide a forum for LAC Children Looked After (CLA) to participate and influence
policy and enable CLA to have opportunity to talk about issues relating to their own
direct experiences of services they have received. Hence tThethe Panel Board will
ensure that the positive experiences/services are maintained, and lessons are
learnt and changes made where requiredin the areas that require improvements.
6.5. To comment on and contribute to plans, polices and strategies for LAC looked after
children and make appropriate recommendations for action.
7.6. To have a monitoring role, by receiving regular progress reports and data on all key
Performance Indicators for all LAC CLA e.g. educational attainment (including
implementation of Personal Education Plans) and health assessments.
8.7. Monitor the plans/needs of children in Secure Accommodation.
9.8. To receive regular reports on the needs of care leavers including employment,
further education, training and housing.
10.9. To receive annual reports on the following services
• Adoption
• Fostering
• Complaints
11.10. To meet with LAC CLA and their carers on a regular basis to consult and celebrate
achievements, festivals etc.
12.11. To manage and arrange Member visits to
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

158

• Children’s Homes
• Foster Placements
• Frontline Services (as indicated in the Victoria Climbie Audit)
Membership
The Corporate Parenting panel will comprise:
A proportionate number of 6 Elected Members
Service Users, Carers and Schools (Non-Voting)
•
•
•

At least 1 Care leaver
1 Foster Carer
1 Virtual Head Teacher

Senior Officers (advisors to the Panel – to attend as appropriate to the work of the Panel)
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director of Children’s Services
Divisional Director Children and Young People
Head of Service Corporate Parenting
LAC CLA Nurse
Housing Needs Manager
Business Intelligence

HARROW BUSINESS CONSULTATIVE ADVISORY PANEL
Terms of Reference
1.

To enable consultation between the Council and representatives of local nondomestic ratepayers required by Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act
1992 and to provide information regarding the Council’s expenditure proposals for
the future budget in accordance with Non-Domestic Ratepayers (Consultation)
Regulations 1992. The minutes of the meetings to be reported to the Cabinet.

2.

To facilitate consultation between the Council and representatives of the business
community as required by the Authority.

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS PANEL
The Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of the Major Developments Panel are:
1.

To oversee the development of the Harrow and Wealdstone Intensification Area,
to include:
•

Reviewing
o the emerging master plan(s) for the area;
o the outcomes of community consultation and feedback on the emerging
strategy;

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

159

o site specific proposals for major developments, prior to their
submission to the Local Planning Authority;
o significant capital projects taking place within the area; and
o strategies associated with the promotion and delivery of development
and economic renewal within the area.

2.

3.

4.

•

Considering emerging design and development principles; and

•

Reviewing the outcomes of community consultation and feedback on the
emerging strategy;

•

Reviewing and commenting upon site specific proposals for major
developments, prior to their submission to the Local Planning Authority;

•

Reviewing and commenting upon significant capital projects taking place
within the area;

•

Reviewing and commenting upon strategies associated with the promotion
and delivery of development and economic renewal within the area.

To oversee the development of proposals for individual major development sites
within the borough including:
•

Providing comments on pre application proposals received by the Council
for such sites;

•

Reviewing progress of strategic development sites within the borough and
considering site specific planning and development briefs.

To give detailed consideration to and make recommendations to Cabinet in
respect of:
•

The use of the Community Infrastructure Levies (CIL) funds;

•

Reviewing and commenting upon changes to the CIL Charging Scheduled
and S106 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).

To oversee the implementation of the Borough Wide CIL / Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP) prepared to support strategic growth in the Borough and to make
recommendations to Cabinet, to include on:
•

Reviewing and commenting upon the draft IDP’s comprising annual and
longer term infrastructure delivery programmes and projects;

•

Considering the result of public consultation on such plans and
programmes and make recommendations to Cabinet on any proposed
changes / revisions;

•

Monitor the delivery of the IDP against budget and delivery provisions;

•

Consider and comment upon reports / presentations on infrastructure
innovations and best practice in infrastructure delivery.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

160

Commented [JF18]: Moved above

5.

To undertake post development reviews within Harrow and on sites beyond the
borough and communicate learning on such visits to Cabinet and the Planning
Committee.

TRAFFIC AND ROAD SAFETY ADVISORY PANEL
Terms of Reference
To make recommendations on the following:
- tTraffic management;
- the mManagement and control of parking both on and off-street;
- the oOperational aspects of public transport within the Borough.
Examples of business:
Including consideration of:
*

Petitions, Deputations

*

Scheme Approval (from existing budgets), including consultation results and
authority to make traffic orders.

*

Objections to traffic orders

*

Investigations into traffic problems (other than those identified by petition etc)

*

Local Safety Schemes Annual Review

*

Consultations from neighbouring authorities on traffic management schemes on
or near boundary

*

Amendments to London Lorry Ban operation

*

Approval of model traffic orders

*

References and motions from other bodies

*

Setting traffic management criteria e.g. traffic calming.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

161

CONSULTATIVE FORUMS

Employees’ Consultative Forum
EMPLOYEES’ CONSULTATIVE FORUM
Terms of Reference
1.0

Consultation

1.1

The Employees’ Consultative Forum (ECF) is the primary mechanism by which
Council Members will consult Union Representatives on specific matters of
mutual interest. The ECF shall make recommendations to the Cabinet on such
issues. In addition, the ECF will receive reports on actions from the ECF SubGroup.

1.2

The ECF will meet at least twice annually.

2.0

Equal Opportunities

2.1

The ECF will seek to promote Equal Opportunities in Employment within the
Council, ensuring compliance with all the relevant equalities anti-discrimination
legislation.

2.2

The ECF will ensure the effective implementation of ‘Making a Difference –
Making Equality of Opportunity a Reality’. The ECF will receive and comment on
regular reports including:•

Statistics and progress on meeting equality targets including an annual
report on employment issues analysed by protected characteristics.

3.0

Health & Safety

3.1

The ECF will seek to promote health and safety and welfare within the Council
and will keep under review the measures taken to ensure health and safety and
welfare at work. The Forum will receive and comment on reports, including:•

The Council’s half-year and annual health and safety performance report
providing an update of health and safety activities and giving information
on outcome measures.

3.2

Any health and safety and welfare matters which are the responsibility of the
Council as set out in the schedule to the Council’s Constitution must be referred
to the Licensing and General Purposes Committee.

4.0

Budget
The ECF will consider the budget, as part of the Council’s consultation on the
budget setting process and make comments on the recommendations.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

162

5.0

Membership

5.1

The permanent membership of the Forum shall be as follows: a)
b)

7 Councillors to include the Leader / Deputy leader and the Portfolio Holder
with responsibility for Human Resources.
A minimum of one and maximum of 3 representatives from each
recognised trade union. (Note the number of representatives for each
trade union to be determined by their notified membership numbers).

5.2

The Council Members shall be appointed annually by the Cabinet. If a Council
Member is unable to attend any meeting then a duly appointed Reserve Council
Member may attend in their place.

5.3

The Employee Side Representatives shall be nominated to the Head of Paid
Service within 14 days of each Annual Council. If an Employee Side
representative is unable to attend any meeting they may nominate a substitute
who shall be co-opted onto the committee for the purposes of that this meeting.

5.4

The role of chairing the ECF will rotate between Council Members and Employee
Side representatives each Municipal Year.

5.5

The Employee Side will agree amongst themselves who will take the Chair and
notify Democratic Services.

5.6

Others who may attend the Forum include:Head of Paid Service, Corporate Directors & Directors (or representative)
Trade Union Branch Secretaries (or representative)
Trade Union Branch Regional Officials (as required)
Representatives from Employee Support Groups – for the Annual Equality in
Employment report.
Other officers as required.
For the meeting to be quorate, it must be attended by a minimum of three Council
Members and two trade union representatives from different trade unions.

6.0

Recommendations of the Employees’ Consultative Forum

6.1

Recommendations of the ECF are reached by a majority vote among elected
Members.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

163

6.16.2 6.2 Recommendations of the ECF must go to the relevant portfolio holder or
Cabinet, who are the last stage in the local procedures and in the normal course
of events, will be implemented immediately (subject to the call-in period).
(Note: A proposal to establish any subsidiary body of this Committee shall be subject to
its prior referral to and approval by Cabinet).

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

164

JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

JOINT COMMITTEE OF THE BOROUGHS OF BARNET, BRENT, EALING, HARROW
AND HOUNSLOW (KNOWN AS “WEST LONDON ECONOMIC PROSPERITY
BOARD”)

Functions and Procedure Rules

1.

Purpose of the Joint Committee

1.1

The London Boroughs of Barnet, Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, Harrow
and Hounslow (“the Participating Boroughs”) have established the Joint
Committee pursuant to powers under the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000,
and under the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions)
(England) Regulations 2012.

1.2

The Joint Committee shall be known as ‘WEST LONDON ECONOMIC
PROSPERITY BOARD.’

1.3

The Joint Committee’s role and purpose on behalf of the Participating Boroughs
relates to ensuring appropriate, effective and formal governance is in place for
the purposes of delivering the West London Vision for Growth and advancing
Participating Boroughs’ aspirations for greater economic prosperity in West
London, including promoting “the Economic Prosperity Agenda”, in partnership
with employers, representatives from regional and central government, and
education and skills providers.

1.4

The purpose of the Joint Committee will be collaboration and mutual co-operation
and the fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way of the Joint
Committee does not prohibit any of the Participating Boroughs from promoting
economic wellbeing in their own areas independently from the Joint Committee.

1.5

The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but is part of its constituent
authorities. Any legal commitment entered into pursuant of a decision of the Joint
Committee must be made by all of the Participating Boroughs.

1.6

These Procedure Rules govern the conduct of meetings of the Joint Committee.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

165

2.

Definitions

2.1

Any reference to “Access to Information legislation” shall mean Part V and VA of
the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and, to the extent that they are
applicable, to the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 (as
amended) and the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

2.2

Any reference to “executive”, “executive arrangements”, “executive function” or
“committee system” has the meaning given by Part 1A of the Local Government
Act 2000.

3.

Functions

3.1

The Joint Committee will discharge on behalf of the Participating Boroughs the
functions listed below related to promoting economic prosperity in West London:
3.1.1 Making funding applications and/or bids to external bodies, in relation to
economic prosperity for the benefit of the local government areas of the
participating local authorities.
3.1.2 Providing direction to
such funding awards
government areas of
applicable, approving
by the lead borough.

a nominated lead borough on the allocation of any
to appropriate projects for the benefit of the local
the participating local authorities, including, where
the approach to the procurement to be undertaken

3.1.3 Seeking to be the recipient of devolved powers and/or funding streams for
the local government areas of the participating local authorities, which
relate to the economic prosperity agenda.
3.1.4 Exercising any such powers and allocating any such funding.
3.1.5 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and
negotiations with regional bodies, national bodies and central government
on matters relating to economic prosperity for the benefit of the local
government areas of the participating authorities.
3.1.6 Representing the participating authorities in connection with the Greater
London Authority, London Councils and the London Enterprise Panel, for
the benefit of the local government areas of the participating authorities, in
matters relating to the economic prosperity agenda.
3.1.7 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and
negotiations in relation to pan-London matters relating to economic
prosperity.
3.1.8 Seeking to influence and align government investment in West London in
order to boost economic growth within the local government areas of the
participating authorities.
3.1.9 Agreeing and approving any additional governance structures as related
to the Joint Committee, or any sub-committees formed by the Joint
Committee.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

166

3.1.10 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and
negotiations with the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government to encourage legislative reform enabling Economic Prosperity
Boards, as defined by the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 Act, to be established by groups of boroughs in
London.
3.1.11 Inviting special representatives of stakeholders such as business
associations, government agencies such as DWP or Jobcentre Plus, the
further education sector, higher education sector, schools, voluntary
sector, and health sector to take an interest in, and/or seek to influence,
the business of the committee including by attending meetings and
commenting on proposals and documents.
3.2

In relation to the Participating Boroughs which operate executive arrangements
only executive functions of each borough may be exercised.

4.

Membership and Quorum

4.1

The membership will comprise of 6 members with each Participating Borough
appointing one person to sit on the Joint Committee as a voting member.

4.2

Each Participating Borough will make a suitable appointment in accordance with
its own constitutional requirements.

4.2.1 Where a Participating Borough operates executive arrangements, then the
appointment of a voting member of the West London EPB will be by the leaders
of the executive or by the executive. It is anticipated that, where practicable, the
leader of each such executive will be appointed to the West London EPB.
4.2.2 Where a Participating Borough does not operate executive arrangements, the
appointment of a voting member of the West London EPB will be in accordance
with the Borough’s own procedures. It is envisaged that this will usually be one
of its senior councillors.
4.3

In all cases, the appointed person must be an elected member of the council of
the appointing Participating Borough. Appointments will be made for a maximum
period not extending beyond each member’s remaining term of office as a
councillor, and their membership of the Joint Committee will automatically cease
if they cease to be an elected member of the appointing Participating Borough.

4.4

Members of the Joint Committee are governed by the provisions of their own
Council’s Codes and Protocols including the Code of Conduct for Members and
the rules on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.

4.5

Each Participating Borough will utilise existing mechanisms for substitution as laid
down in their own Standing Orders. Continuity of attendance is encouraged.

4.6

Where a Participating Borough wishes to withdraw from membership of the Joint
Committee this must be indicated in writing to each of the committee members.
A six month notice period must be provided.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

167

4.7

When a new borough wishes to become a Participating Borough then this may
be achieved if agreed by a unanimous vote of all the existing Participating
Boroughs.

4.8

The quorum for the Joint Committee is three members. If the Joint Committee is
not quorate it cannot transact any business. If there is no quorum at the time the
meeting is due to begin, the start of the meeting will be delayed until a quorum is
achieved. If no quorum is achieved after 30 minutes has elapsed, the clerk will
advise those present that no business can be transacted and the meeting will be
cancelled.

5.

Chair and Vice-Chair

5.1

The Chair of the Joint Committee will be appointed for 12 months, and will rotate
amongst the Participating Boroughs.

5.2

Unless otherwise unanimously agreed by the Joint Committee, each Participating
Borough’s appointed person will serve as chair for 12 months at a time. Where
the incumbent Chair ceases to be a member of the Joint Committee, the individual
appointed by the relevant borough as a replacement will serve as Chair for the
remainder of the 12 months as chair.

5.3

The Joint Committee will also appoint a Vice-Chair from within its membership on
an annual basis to preside in the absence of the ChairmanChair. This
appointment will also rotate in a similar manner to the Chair.

5.4

At its first meeting, the Committee will draw up the rotas for Chair and Vice-Chair
respectively.

5.5

Where neither the Chair nor Vice-Chair are in attendance, the Joint Committee
will appoint a Chair to preside over the meeting.

5.6

In the event of any disagreement as the meaning or application of these Rules,
the decision of the Chair shall be final.

6.

Sub-Committees

6.1

The Joint Committee may establish sub-committees to undertake elements of its
work if required.

7.

Delegation to officers

7.1

The Joint Committee may delegate specific functions to officers of any of the
Participating Boroughs.

7.2

Any such delegation may be subject to the requirement for the officer to consult
with or obtain the prior agreement of an officer (or officers) of the other boroughs.

7.3

It may also be subject to the requirement for the officer with delegated authority
to consult with the Chair of the Joint Committee and the Leaders of the one or
more Participating Boroughs before exercising their delegated authority.

8.

Administration

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

168

8.1

Organisational and clerking support for the Joint Committee, and accommodation
for meetings, will be provided by the Participating Borough whose representative
is Chair unless otherwise agreed by the Joint Committee. The costs of this will
be reimbursed by contributions from the other Participating Boroughs as
approved by the Joint Committee.

9.

Financial matters

9.1

The Joint Committee will not have a pre-allocated budget.

9.2

When making a decision which has financial consequences, the Joint Committee
will follow the relevant provisions of the Financial Procedure Rules of LB Ealing.

10.

Agenda management

10.1

Subject to 10.2, all prospective items of business for the Joint Committee shall be
agreed by a meeting of the Chief Executives of the Participating Boroughs or their
representatives.

10.2

It will be the responsibility of each report author to ensure that the impacts on all
Participating Boroughs are fairly and accurately represented in the report. They
may do this either by consulting with the monitoring officer and chief finance
officer of each Participating Borough or by some other appropriate method.

10.3

In pursuance of their statutory duties, the monitoring officer and/or the chief
financial officer of any of the Participating Boroughs may include an item for
consideration on the agenda of a meeting of the Joint Committee, and, may
require that an extraordinary meeting be called to consider such items.

10.4

Each Participating Borough operating executive arrangements will be responsible
for considering whether it is necessary [in order to comply with Access to
Information legislation regarding the publication of agendas including Forward
Plan requirements] to treat prospective decisions as ‘key- decisions’ and/or have
them included in the Forward Plan. Each Participating Borough operating a
committee system will apply its local non statutory procedures.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

169

11.

Meetings

11.1

The Joint Committee will meet as required to fulfil its functions.

11.2

A programme of meetings at the start of each Municipal Year will be scheduled
and included in the Calendar of Meetings for all Participating Boroughs.

11.3

Access to meetings and papers of the Joint Committee by the Press and Public
is subject to the Local Government Act 1972 and to the Openness of Local
Government Bodies Regulations 2014. The Joint Committee will also have
regard to the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access
to information) (England) Regulations 2012, notwithstanding the fact that its
provisions do not strictly apply to the Joint Committee for so long as the committee
has any members who are not members of an executive of a Participating
Borough.

12.

Notice of meetings

12.1

On behalf of the Joint Committee, a clerk will give notice to the public of the time
and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information
requirements.

12.2

At least five clear working days in advance of a meeting a clerk to the Joint
Committee will publish the agenda via the website of clerk’s authority and provide
the documentation and website link to the Participating Boroughs to enable the
information to be published on each Participating Borough’s website. “Five Clear
Days” does not include weekends or national holidays and excludes both the day
of the meeting and the day on which the meeting is called.

12.3

The clerk to the Joint Committee will arrange for the copying and distribution of
papers to all Members of the Committee.

13.

Public participation

13.1

Unless considering information classified as ‘exempt’ or ‘confidential’ under
Access to Information Legislation, all meetings of the Joint Committee shall be
held in public.

13.2

Public representations and questions are permitted at meetings of the Joint
Committee. Notification must be given in advance of the meeting indicating by
12 noon on the last working day before the meeting the matter to be raised and
the agenda item to which it relates. Representatives will be provided with a
maximum of 3 minutes to address the Joint Committee.

13.3

The maximum number of speakers allowed per agenda item is 6.

13.4

Where the number of public representations exceed the time / number allowed, a
written response will be provided or the representation deferred to the next
meeting of the Joint Committee if appropriate.

13.5

The Joint Committee may also invite special representatives of stakeholders such
as business associations, government agencies such as DWP or Jobcentre Plus,
the further education sector, voluntary sector, and health sector to take an interest

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

170

in the business of the committee including by attending meetings and commenting
on proposals and documents.
13.6

The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all individuals present
at the meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting.

14.

Member participation

14.1

Any elected member of the council of any of the Participating Boroughs who is
not a member of the Joint Committee may ask a question or address the
Committee with the consent of the Chair.

15.

Business to be transacted

15.1

Standing items for each meeting of the Joint Committee will include the following:
• Minutes of the Last Meeting
• Apologies for absence
• Declarations of Interest
• Provision for public participation
• Substantive items for consideration

15.2

The Chair may vary the order of business and take urgent items as specified in
the Access to Information Requirements at his / her discretion. The Chair should
inform the Members of the Joint Committee prior to allowing the consideration of
urgent items.

15.3

An item of business may not be considered at a meeting unless:
(i)

A copy of the agenda included the item (or a copy of the item) is open to
inspection by the public for at least five clear days before the meeting; or

(ii)

By reason of special circumstances which shall be specified in the minutes
the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion that the item should be
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

15.4

“Special Circumstances” justifying an item being considered as a matter or
urgency will relate to both why the decision could not be made at a meeting
allowing the proper time for inspection by the public as well as why the item or
report could not have been available for inspection for five clear days before the
meeting.

16.

Extraordinary meetings

16.1

Arrangements may be made following consultation with Chair of the Joint
Committee to call an extraordinary meeting of the Joint Committee. The Chair
should inform the appointed Members prior to taking a decision to convene an
extraordinary meeting.
The business of an extraordinary meeting shall be only that specified on the
agenda.

16.2

17.

Cancellation of meetings

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

171

17.1

Meetings of the Joint Committee may, after consultation with the ChairmanChair,
be cancelled if there is insufficient business to transact or some other appropriate
reason warranting cancellation. The date of meetings may be varied after
consultation with the ChairmanChair and appointed members of the Joint
Committee in the event that it is necessary for the efficient transaction of
business.

18.

Rules of debate

18.1

The rules of debate in operation in the Chair’s authority shall apply.

19.

Request for determination of business

19.1

Any member of the Joint Committee may request at any time that:
•
•
•
•

The Joint Committee move to vote upon the current item of consideration.
The item be deferred to the next meeting.
The item be referred back to a meeting of the Chief Executives of the
Participating Boroughs for further consideration.
The meeting be adjourned.

19.2

The Joint Committee will then vote on the request.

20.

Urgency procedure

20.1

Where the Chair (following consultation with the appointed Members of the Joint
Committee) is of the view that an urgent decision is required in respect of any
matter within the Joint Committee’s functions and that decision would not
reasonably require the calling of an Extraordinary Meeting of the Joint Committee
to consider it and it cannot wait until the next Ordinary Meeting of the Joint
Committee, then they may request in writing the Chief Executive of each
Participating Borough (in line with pre-existing delegations in each Borough’s
Constitution) to take urgent action as is required within each of the constituent
boroughs.

21.

Voting

21.1

The Joint Committee’s decision making will operate on the basis of mutual
cooperation and consent and will take into account the views of the special
representatives. It is expected that decisions will be taken on a consensual basis
wherever reasonably possible.

21.2

Where a vote is required it will be on the basis of one vote per member and unless
a recorded vote is requested, the Chair will take the vote by show of hands.

21.3

Any matter (save for a decision under Rule 4.7 above) shall be decided by a
simple majority of those members voting and present. Where there is an equality
of votes, the Chair of the meeting shall have a second and casting vote.

21.4

Any two members can request that a recorded vote be taken.

21.5

Where, immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting, if any Member so requests,
there shall be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting whether

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

172

the person cast his / her vote for or against the matter or whether they he/ she
abstained from voting.
22.

Minutes

22.1

At the next suitable meeting of the Joint Committee, the ChairmanChair will move
a motion that the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct record.
The meeting may only consider the accuracy of the minutes and cannot change
or vary decisions taken at a previous meeting as a matter arising out of the
minutes.

22.2

Once agreed, the ChairmanChair will sign them.

22.3

There will be no item for the approval of minutes of an ordinary Joint Committee
meeting on the agenda of an extraordinary meeting.

23.

Exclusion of Public and Press

23.1

Members of the public and press may only be excluded from a meeting of the
Joint Committee either in accordance with the Access to Information
requirements or in the event of disturbance.

23.2

A motion may be moved at any time for the exclusion of the public from the whole
or any part of the proceedings. The motion shall specify by reference to Section
100(A) Local Government Act 1972 the reason for the exclusion in relation to
each item of business for which it is proposed that the public be excluded. The
public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the nature
of business to be transacted, or the nature of the proceedings that confidential
information would be disclosed.

23.3

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the
ChairmanChair may adjourn the meeting for as long as they think he/she thinks
is necessary.

23.4

Background papers will be published as part of the Joint Committee agenda and
be made available to the public via the website of each authority.

24.

Overview and Scrutiny

24.1

Decisions of the Joint Committee which relate to the executive functions of a
Participating Borough will be subject to scrutiny and ‘call -in’ arrangements (or
such other arrangements equivalent to call-in that any Participating Borough
operating a committee system may have) as would apply locally to a decision
made by that Participating Borough acting alone

24.2

No decision should be implemented until such time as the call-in period has
expired across all of the Participating Boroughs.

24.3

Where a decision is called in, arrangements will be made at the earliest
opportunity within the Participating Borough where the Call-In had taken place for
it to be heard.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

173

24.4

Any decision called in for scrutiny before it has been implemented shall not be
implemented until such time as the call-in procedures of the Participating Borough
concerned have been concluded.

25.

Access to minutes and papers after the meeting

25.1

On behalf of the Joint Committee, a clerk will make available copies of the
following for six years after the meeting:
(i)

the minutes of the meeting and records of decisions taken, together with
reasons, for all meetings of the Joint Committee, excluding any part of the
minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or
which disclose exempt or confidential information;

(iii) the agenda for the meeting; and
(iii)

reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.

26.

Amendment of these Rules

26.1

These Rules shall be agreed by the Joint Committee at its first meeting. Any
amendments shall be made by the Joint Committee following consultation with
the monitoring officers of the Participating Boroughs. Note that Rule 3 (Functions)
may only be amended following a formal delegation from each of the Participating
Boroughs.

27.

Background Papers

27.1

Every report shall contain a list of those documents relating to the subject matter
of the report which in the opinion of the author:
(i)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of it
is based;

(ii)

which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report but
does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or
confidential information and in respect of reports to the Joint Committee,
the advice of a political assistant.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

174

27.2

27.3

Where a copy of a report for a meeting is made available for inspection by the
public at the same time the clerk shall make available for inspection
(i)

a copy of the list of background papers for the report

(ii)

at least one copy of each of the documents included in that list.

The Clerk will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of
the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.

NORTH WEST LONDON JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Membership
One nominated voting member from each Council participating in the North West London
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee plus one alternate member who can vote
in the voting member’s absence. In addition, one non-voting co-opted member of the
London Borough of Richmond. The committee will require at least six voting members
in attendance to be quorate.
Chair and Vice Chair
The North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will elect its own
chair and vice chair. Elections will take place on an annual basis each May, or as soon
as practical thereafter, such as to allow for any annual changes to the committee’s
membership.
Terms of Reference
1.
To scrutinise the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ reconfiguration of health services
in North West London and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for North West
London; in particular the implementation plans and actions by the North West London
Collaboration of Clinical Commissioning Groups (‘NWL CCGs’) and its Joint Committee,
focusing on aspects affecting the whole of North West London.
2.
To review and scrutinise decisions made or actions taken by NWL CCGs and/or
other NHS service providers, in relation to the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’
reconfiguration and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for North West London,
where appropriate.
3.
To make recommendations to NWL CCGs, NHS England, or any other
appropriate outside body in relation to the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ plans for North
West London and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for North West London;
and to monitor the outcomes of these recommendations where appropriate.
4.
To require the provision of information from, and attendance before the committee
by, any such person or organisation under a statutory duty to comply with the scrutiny
function of health services in North West London.
The stated purpose of the North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee is to consider issues arising as a result of the Shaping a Healthier Future
reconfiguration of health services and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

175

North West London, taking a wider view across North West London than might normally
be taken by individual Local Authorities. Individual local authority members of the North
West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will continue their own
scrutiny of health services in, or affecting, their individual areas (including those under
‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for North
West London).
Participation in the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not preclude any
scrutiny or right of response by individual boroughs. In particular, and for the sake of
clarity, this joint committee is not appointed for and nor does it have delegated to it any
of the functions or powers of the local authorities, either individually or jointly, under
Section 23 of the local authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.
Duration
The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will continue until all participating
authorities decide otherwise. This does not preclude individual authorities from leaving
the Committee beforehand. The Committee will keep under review whether it has
fulfilled its remit and any recommendation of the Committee will be reported to a Full
Council meeting of each participating authority.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

176

3A-1
ADDENDUM TO THE TERMS OF
REFERENCE – FUNCTIONS NOT TO BE THE
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EXECUTIVE
In accordance with Regulation 2 of the Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000 (The Regulations) certain functions must be
determined by Council and can not be the
responsibility of the Executive. Many of them are
delegated to a committee of Council or a council
officer.

The list of functions together with the relevant statutory
provision is set out in Schedule 1 of The Regulations.
Schedule 1 of Regulations can be accessed here:
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/documents/s151072/024
A%20Part%203A2%20-%20Appendix%20%20Schedule%201%20to%20Functions%20and%20Res
ponsibilities%20Regs.pdf

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

177

Status:

Law In Force

Amendment(s) Pending

Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000/2853
Schedule 1 FUNCTIONS NOT TO BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF AN
AUTHORITY'S EXECUTIVE
This version in force from: April 16, 2017 to present
(version 23 of 24)

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

178

(1)

(2)

Function

Provision of Act or Statutory
Instrument

A. Functions relating to town and
country planning and development
control

[...] 2

[5. Power to determine application for
planning permission.

Sections 70(1)(a) and (b) and 72 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (c.
8).] 1

[6. Power to determine applications to
develop land without compliance with
conditions previously attached.

Section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

[7. Power to grant planning permission for Section 73A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1
development already carried out.

[8. Power to decline to determine
application for planning permission.

Section 70A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

179

[9. Duties relating to the making of
determinations of planning applications.

Sections 69, 76 and 92 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 and Articles 8,
10 to 13, 15 to 22 and 25 and 26 of the
Town and Country Planning (General
Development Procedure) Order 1995 (S.I.
1995/419) and directions made
thereunder.] 1

[10. Power to determine application for
planning permission made by a local
authority, alone or jointly with another
person.

Section 316 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 and the Town and
Country Planning General Regulations
1992 (S.I. 1992/1492).] 1

[11. Power to make determinations, give Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19, 20, 21 to 24, 26, 30
approvals and agree certain other matters and 31 of Schedule 2 to the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted
relating to the exercise of permitted
Development) Order 1995 (S.I.
development rights.
1995/418).] 1

[12. Power to enter into agreement
regulating development or use of land.

Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

[13. Power to issue a certificate of
existing or proposed lawful use or
development.

Sections 191(4) and 192(2) of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.] 1

[14. Power to serve a completion notice.

Section 94(2) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

180

[15. Power to grant consent for the
display of advertisements.

Section 220 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 and the Town and
Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) Regulations 1992 (S.I.
1992/666).] 1

[16. Power to authorise entry onto land.

Section 196A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

[17. Power to require the discontinuance Section 102 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1
of a use of land.

Sections 171C, 187A and 183(1) of the
[18. Power to serve a planning
contravention notice, breach of condition Town and Country Planning Act 1990.] 1
notice or stop notice.

[18A. Power to issue a temporary stop
notice.

[Section 171E of the Town and Country
Planning Act 19905
.] 4
]3

[19. Power to issue an enforcement
notice.

Section 172 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

[20. Power to apply for an injunction
restraining a breach of planning control.

Section 187B of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

181

[21. Power to determine applications for
hazardous substances consent, and
related powers.

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the Planning
(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990.] 1

[22. Duty to determine conditions to which Paragraph 2(6)(a) of Schedule 2 to the
old mining permissions, relevant planning Planning and Compensation Act 1991 (c.
permissions relating to dormant sites or 34), paragraph 9(6) of Schedule 13 to the
Environment Act 1995 (c. 25) and
active Phase I or II sites, or mineral
paragraph 6(5) of Schedule 14 to that
permissions relating to mining sites, as
Act.] 1
the case may be, are to be subject.

[23. Power to require proper maintenance Section 215(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 1
of land.

[24. Power to determine application for
listed building consent, and related
powers.

[Sections 16(1) and (2), 17 and 33(1) of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (c.9)] 6
.] 1

[...] 7

[26. Duties relating to applications for
listed building consent [...] 8
.

[Sections 13(1) and 14(1) and (4) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (c.9)] 6
and [regulations 3 to 6 and 13 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990
(S.I. 1990/1519)] 9
and [paragraphs 8, 15 and 26 of
Department of the Environment,
Transport and the Regions Circular
01/01] 10
.]1

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

182

[27. Power to serve a building
preservation notice, and related powers.

[Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 (c.9)] 6
.] 1

[28. Power to issue enforcement notice in [Section 38 of the Planning (Listed
relation to demolition of [listed] 11
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 (c.9)] 6
building in conservation area.
.] 1

[29. Powers to acquire a listed building in [Sections 47 and 48 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation
need of repair and to serve a repairs
Areas) Act 1990 (c.9)] 6
notice.
.] 1

[30. Power to apply for an injunction in
relation to a listed building.

[Section 44A of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 (c.9)] 6
.] 1

[30A.Power to authorise stopping up or
diversion of highway.

[Section 247 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (c.8).] 13
] 12

[31. Power to execute urgent works.

[Section 54 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 (c.9)] 6
.] 1

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

183

[32. Duty to enter land in Part 2 of the
brownfield land register.

Regulation 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (Brownfield Land Register)
Regulations 2017.] 14

B. Licensing and registration functions
(in so far as not covered by any other
paragraph of this Schedule)

1. Power to issue licences authorising the Section 3(3) of the Caravan Sites and
use of land as a caravan site (“site
Control of Development Act 1960 (c. 62).
licences”).

2. Power to license the use of moveable
dwellings and camping sites.

Section 269(1) of the Public Health Act
1936 (c.49).

3. Power to license hackney carriages
and private hire vehicles.

(a) as to hackney carriages, the Town
Police Clauses Act 1847 (10 & 11 Vict. c.
89), as extended by section 171 of the
Public Health Act 1875 (38 & 39 Vict. c.
55), and section 15 of the Transport Act
1985 (c. 67); and sections 47, 57, 58, 60
and 79 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (c.
57);

(b) as to private hire vehicles, sections
48, 57, 58, 60 and 79 of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976.

4. Power to license drivers of hackney
carriages and private hire vehicles.

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 61 and 79 of the
Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

184

5. Power to license operators of hackney Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 79 of the Local
carriages and private hire vehicles.
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976.

6. Power to register pool promoters.

Schedule 2 to the Betting, Gaming and
Lotteries Act 1963 (c. 2)15
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
3(3)(c) of the Gambling Act Order] 16
.

7. Power to grant track betting licences.

Schedule 3 to the Betting, Gaming and
Lotteries Act 196315
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
3(3)(d) and (4) of the Gambling Act
Order] 17
.

8. Power to license inter-track betting
schemes.

Schedules 5ZA to the Betting, Gaming
and Lotteries Act 196318
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
3(3)(e) of the Gambling Act Order.] 19

9. Power to grant permits in respect of
premises with amusement machines.

Schedule 9 to the Gaming Act 1968 (c.
65)15
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
4(2)(l) and (m) of the Gambling Act Order]
20

.

10. Power to register societies wishing to Schedule 1 to the Lotteries and
Amusements Act 1976 (c. 32)15
promote lotteries.
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
5(2)(a) and (3) of the Gambling Act
Order] 21
.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

185

11. Power to grant permits in respect of Schedule 3 to the Lotteries and
premises where amusements with prizes Amusements Act 197615
are provided.
[ as saved for certain purposes by article
5(2)(d) and (5) of the Gambling Act
Order] 22
.

12. Power to issue cinema and cinema
club licences.

Section 1 of the Cinema Act 1985 (c. 13).

13. Power to issue theatre licences.

Sections 12 to 14 of the Theatres Act
1968 (c. 54)23
.

14. Power to issue entertainments
licences.

Section 12 of the Children and Young
Persons Act 1933 (c. 12), section 52 of,
and Schedule 12 to, the London
Government Act 1963 (c. 33), section 79
of the Licensing Act 1964 (c. 26), sections
1 to 5 and 7 of, and Parts I and II of the
Schedule to, the Private Places of
Entertainment (Licensing) Act 1967 (c.
19) and Part I of, and Schedules 1 and 2
to, the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982 (c. 30).

[ [14A Any function of a licensing
authority] 25

[ [Licensing Act 2003 (c. 17) and any
regulations or orders made under that
Act] 27

.

.] 26
] 24

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

186

[14AZA Powers and functions relating to Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Police Reform
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13)
late night levy requirements.
and any regulations made under that
Chapter.] 28

[14AA Duty to comply with requirement to [Section 29 of the [2005 Act] 31
provide information to Gambling
. ] 30
Commission.
] 29

[14AB Functions relating to exchange of
information.

[14AC Functions relating to occasional
use notices.

[14B Power to resolve not to issue a
casino premises licence

[Section 30 of the 2005 Act.] 33
] 32

[Section 39 of the 2005 Act.] 35
] 34

Section 166 of the 2005 Act.] 36

[Section 304 of the 2005 Act.] 38
[14C. Power to designate officer of a
licensing authority as an authorised
] 37
person for a purpose relating to premises.

[14CA Power to make order disapplying
section 279 or 282(1) of the 2005 Act in
relation to specified premises.

[ 14D. Power to institute criminal
proceedings [...] 42

[Section 284 of the 2005 Act.] 40
] 39

[Section 346 of the 2005 Act.] 43
] 41

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

187

[Section 350 of the 2005 Act.] 45

[14E. Power to exchange information

] 44

[14F. Functions relating to the
determination of fees for premises
licences.

[The Gambling (Premises Licence Fees)
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007
(S.I. 2007/479).] 47
] 46

[...] 48

[14G Functions relating to the registration [Part 5 of Schedule 11 to the 2005 Act.]
and regulation of small society lotteries. 50
] 49

15. Power to license sex shops and sex
cinemas.

The Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982, section 2 and
Schedule 3.

16. Power to license performances of
hypnotism.

The Hypnotism Act 1952 (c. 46).

17. Power to license premises for
acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing and
electrolysis.

Sections 13 to 17 of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1982.

18. Power to license pleasure boats and
pleasure vessels.

Section 94 of the Public Health Acts
Amendment Act 1907 (c. 53)51
.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

188

19. Power to register door staff.

Paragraphs 1(2) and 9 of Schedule 12 to
the London Government Act 1963 (c. 33)
and Part V of the London Local
Authorities Act 1995 (c. x).

20. Power to license market and street
trading.

Part III of, and Schedule 4 to, the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1982, Part III of the London Local
Authorities Act 1990 (c. vii) and section 6
of the London Local Authorities Act 1994
(c. xii).

21. Power to license night cafes and take- Section 2 of the Late Night Refreshment
Houses Act 1969 (c. 53)52
away food shops.
, Part II of the London Local Authorities
Act 1990 and section 5 of the London
Local Authorities Act 1994.

[...] 53

23. Power to license dealers in game and Sections 5, 6,17, 18 and 21 to 23 of the
the killing and selling of game.
Game Act 1831 (c. 32); sections 2 to 16
of the Game Licensing Act 1860 (c. 90),
section 4 of the Customs and Inland
Revenue Act 1883 (c. 10), sections 12(3)
and 27 of the Local Government Act 1874
(c. 73), and section 213 of the Local
Government Act 1972 (c. 70).

24. Power of register and license
premises for the preparation of food.

Section 19 of the Food Safety Act 1990
(c. 16).

25. Power to license scrap yards.

Section 1 of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act
1964 (c. 69).

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

189

26. Power to issue, amend or replace
safety certificates (whether general or
special) for sports grounds.

The Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975
(c. 52)54

27. Power to issue, cancel, amend or
replace safety certificates for regulated
stands at sports grounds.

Part III of the Fire Safety and Safety of
Places of Sport Act 1987 (c.27).

28. Power to issue fire certificates.

Section 5 of the Fire Precautions Act
1971 (c.40).

29. Power to license premises for the
breeding of dogs.

Section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act
1973 (c. 60) and section 1 of the
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act
1999 (c. 11).

.

30. Power to license pet shops and other Section 1 of the Pet Animals Act 1951 (c.
establishments where animals are bred or 35)55
kept for the purposes of carrying on a
; section 1 of the Animal Boarding
business.
Establishments Act 1963(c. 43)56
; the Riding Establishments Acts 1964
and 1970 (1964 c. 70 and 1970 c. 70) 57
; section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act
1973 (c. 60)58
, and sections 1 and 8 of the Breeding
and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999.

31. Power to register animal trainers and Section 1 of the Performing Animals
(Regulation) Act 1925 (c. 38)59
exhibitors.
.

32. Power to license zoos.

Section 1 of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981
(c. 37)60
.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

190

33. Power to license dangerous wild
animals.

Section 1 of the Dangerous Wild Animals
Act 1976 (c. 38).

34. Power to license knackers' yards.

Section 4 of the Slaughterhouses Act
1974. See also the Animal By-Products
Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/646).

35. Power to license the employment of
children.

Part II of the Children and Young Persons
Act 1933 (c. 33), byelaws made under
that Part, and Part II of the Children and
Young Persons Act 1963 (c. 37).

36. Power to approve premises for the
solemnisation of marriages.

Section 46A of the Marriage Act 1949 (c.
76) and the Marriages (Approved
Premises) Regulations 1995 (S.I.
1995/510) 61

37. Power to register common land or
Regulation 6 of the Commons
town or village greens, except where the Registration (New Land) Regulations
power is exercisable solely for the
1969 (S.I. 1969/1843).
purpose of giving effect to—

(a) an exchange of lands effected by an
order under section 19(3) of, or
paragraph 6(4) of Schedule 3 to, the
Acquisition of Land Act 1981 (c. 67) or

(b) an order under section 147 of the
Inclosure Act 1845 (c. 8 & 9 Vict. c. 118).

38. Power to register variation of rights of Regulation 29 of the Commons
Registration (General) Regulations 1966
common.
(S.I. 1966/1471) 62

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

191

39. Power to license persons to collect for Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc.
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 (c.
charitable and other causes.
31) and section 2 of the House to House
Collections Act 1939 (c. 44)63

40. Power to grant consent for the
operation of a loudspeaker.

Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory
Nuisance Act 1993 (c. 40).

41. Power to grant a street works licence. Section 50 of the New Roads and Street
Works Act 1991 (c. 22).

42. Power to license agencies for the
supply of nurses.

Section 2 of the Nurses Agencies Act
1957 (c. 16).

43. Power to issue licences for the
movement of pigs.

Article 12 of the Pigs (Records,
Identification and Movement) Order 1995
(S.I. 1995/11).

44. Power to license the sale of pigs.

Article 13 of the Pigs (Records,
Identification and Movement) Order 1995.

45. Power to license collecting centres for Article 14 of the Pigs (Records,
the movement of pigs.
Identification and Movement) Order 1995.

46. Power to issue a licence to move
cattle from a market.

Article 5(2) of the Cattle Identification
Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/871).

[46A. Power to grant permission for
provision, etc of services, amenities,
recreation and refreshment facilities on
highway, and related powers.

[Sections 115E, 115F and 115K of the
Highways Act 1980.] 65
] 64

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

192

47. Power to permit deposit of builder's
skip on highway.

Section 139 of the Highways Act 1980 (c.
66).

[47A. Duty to publish notice in respect of [Section 115G of the Highways Act
198067
proposal to grant permission under
section 115E of the Highways Act 1980. ] 66
] 64

48. Power to license planting, retention
and maintenance of trees etc. in part of
highway.

Section 142 of the Highways Act 1980.

49. Power to authorise erection of stiles
etc. on footpaths or bridleways.

Section 147 of the Highways Act 1980.

50. Power to license works in relation to Section 169 of the Highways Act 1980.
buildings etc. which obstruct the highway.

51. Power to consent to temporary
deposits or excavations in streets.

Section 171 of the Highways Act 1980.

52. Power to dispense with obligation to
erect hoarding or fence.

Section 172 of the Highways Act 1980.

53. Power to restrict the placing of rails,
beams etc. over highways.

Section 178 of the Highways Act 1980.

54. Power to consent to construction of
cellars etc. under street.

Section 179 of the Highways Act 198068
.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

193

55. Power to consent to the making of
openings into cellars etc. under streets,
and pavement lights and ventilators.

Section 180 of the Highways Act 1980.

56. Power to sanction use of parts of
buildings for storage of celluloid.

Section 1 of the Celluloid and
Cinematograph Film Act 1922 (c. 35).

57. Power to approve meat product
premises.

Regulations 4 and 5 of the Meat Products
(Hygiene) Regulations 1994 (S.I.
1994/3082) 69

58. Power to approve premises for the
production of minced meat or meat
preparations.

Regulation 4 of the Minced Meat and
Meat Preparations (Hygiene) Regulations
1995 (S.I. 1995/3205).

59. Power to approve dairy
establishments.

Regulations 6 and 7 of the Dairy Products
(Hygiene) Regulations 1995 (S.I.
1995/1086) 70
.

60. Power to approve egg product
establishments.

Regulation 5 of the Egg Products
Regulations 1993 (S.I. 1993/1520).

61. Power to issue licences to retail
butchers' shops carrying out commercial
operations in relation to unwrapped raw
meat and selling or supplying both raw
meat and ready-to-eat foods.

Schedule 1A to the Food Safety (General
Food Hygiene) Regulations 1995 (S.I.
1995/1763) 71

62. Power to approve fish products
premises.

Regulation 24 of the Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/994).

.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

194

63. Power to approve dispatch or
purification centres.

Regulation 11 of the Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998.

64. Power to register fishing vessels on
board which shrimps or molluses are
cooked.

Regulation 21 of the Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998.

65. Power to approve factory vessels and Regulation 24 of the Food Safety (Fishery
fishery product establishments.
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998.

66. Power to register auction and
wholesale markets.

Regulation 26 of the Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998.

67. Duty to keep register of food business Regulation 5 of the Food Premises
premises.
(Registration) Regulations 1991 (S.I.
1991/2828).

68. Power to register food business
premises.

Regulation 9 of the Food Premises
(Registration) Regulations 1991.

[69. Power to issue near beer licence.

Sections 16 to 19 and 21 of the London
Local Authorities Act 1995 (c.x.) and, to
the extent that it does not have effect by
virtue of regulation 2(3), section 25 of that
Act.] 72

[70. Power to register premises or stalls
for the sale of goods by way of
competitive bidding.

Section 28 of the Greater London Council
(General Powers) Act 1984 (c.xxvii).] 72

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

195

[71. Power to register motor salvage
operators.

Part I of the Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001
(c.3).] 73

[72. Functions relating to the registration Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 (c.26)
and the Commons Registration (England)
of common land and town or village
Regulations 2008 (S.I. 2008/1961) 75
greens.
.] 74

C. Functions relating to health and
safety at work

Part I of the Health and Safety at Work
Functions under any of the “relevant
statutory provisions” within the meaning etc. Act 1974 (c. 37)76
of Part I (health, safety and welfare in
connection with work, and control of
dangerous substances) of the Health and
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, to the
extent that those functions are discharged
otherwise than in the authority's capacity
as an employer.

D. Functions relating to elections

1. Duty to appoint an electoral registration Section 8(2) of the Representation of the
People Act 1983 (c. 2)77
officer.
.

2. Power to assign officers in relation to
requisitions of the registration officer.

Section 52(4) of the Representation of the
People Act 1983.

3. Functions in relation to parishes and
parish councils.

Part II of the Local Government and
Rating Act 1997 (c. 29) and subordinate
legislation under that Part.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

196

4. Power to dissolve small parish
councils.

Section 10 of the Local Government Act
1972.

5. Power to make orders for grouping
parishes, dissolving groups and
separating parishes from groups.

Section 11 of the Local Government Act
1972.

6. Duty to appoint returning officer for
local government elections.

Section 35 of the Representation of the
People Act 1983.

7. Duty to provide assistance at European [Section 6(7) and (8) of the European
Parliamentary Elections Act 2002 (c.24)]
Parliamentary elections.
78

8. Duty to divide constituency into polling [sections 18A to 18E of, and Schedule
A1 to, the Representation of the People
districts.
Act 1983] 79
.

9. Power to divide electoral divisions into Section 31 of the Representation of the
polling districts at local government
People Act 1983.
elections.

10. Powers in respect of holding of
elections.

Section 39(4) of the Representation of the
People Act 1983.

11. Power to pay expenses properly
Section 54 of the Representation of the
incurred by electoral registration officers. People Act 1983.

12. Power to fill vacancies in the event of Section 21 of the Representation of the
insufficient nominations.
People Act 1985.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

197

13. Duty to declare vacancy in office in
certain cases.

Section 86 of the Local Government Act
1972.

14. Duty to give public notice of a casual Section 87 of the Local Government Act
vacancy.
1972.

15. Power to make temporary
appointments to parish councils.

Section 91 of the Local Government Act
1972.

[...] 80

17. Power to submit proposals to the
Secretary of State for an order under
section 10 (pilot schemes for local
elections in England and Wales) of the
Representation of the People Act 2000.

Section 10 of the Representation of the
People Act 2000 (c. 2).

[18. Duty to consult on change of scheme Sections 33(2), 38 (2) and 40(2) of the
2007 Act.] 81
for elections.

[19. Duties relating to publicity.

Sections 35, 41 and 52 of the 2007 Act.]
81

[20. Duties relating to notice to Electoral
Commission.

Sections 36 and 42 of the 2007 Act.] 81

[21. Power to alter years of ordinary
elections of parish councillors.

Section 53 of the 2007 Act.] 81

[22. Functions relating to change of name Section 59 of the 2007 Act.] 81
of electoral area.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

198

E. Functions relating to name and
status of areas and individuals

1. Power to change the name of a county, Section 74 of the Local Government Act
district or London borough.
1972.

2. Power to change the name of a parish. Section 75 of the Local Government Act
1972.

3. Power to confer title of honorary
alderman or to admit to be an honorary
freeman.

Section 249 of the Local Government Act
1972.

4. Power to petition for a charter to confer Section 245b of the Local Government
borough status.
Act 1972.

[...] 83

[EB. Functions relating to community
governance

] 82

[1. Duties relating to community
governance reviews.

Section 79 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[2. Functions relating to community
governance petitions.

Sections 80, 83 to 85 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[3. Functions relating to terms of
reference of review.

Sections 81(4) to (6).] 82

[4. Power to undertake a community
governance review.

Section 82 of the 2007 Act.] 82

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

199

[5. Functions relating to making of
recommendations.

Sections 87 to 92 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[6. Duties when undertaking review.

Section 93 to 95 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[7. Duty to publicise outcome of review.

Section 96 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[8. Duty to send two copies of order to
Secretary of State and Electoral
Commission.

Section 98(1) of the 2007 Act.] 82

[9. Power to make agreements about
incidental matters.

Section 99 of the 2007 Act.] 82

[F. Power to make, amend, revoke, re- Any provision of any enactment (including
enact or enforce byelaws.] 84
a local Act), whenever passed, and
section 14 of the Interpretation Act 1978
(c. 30)85
.

[FA. Functions relating to smoke-free
premises, etc

] 86

[(1)

(2)] 86

[Function

Provision of Act or Statutory
Instrument] 86

[1. Duty to enforce Chapter 1 and
regulations made under it.

Section 10(3) of the 2006 Act.] 86

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

200

[2. Power to authorise officers.

Section 10(5) of, and paragraph 1 of
Schedule 2 to, the 2006 Act.] 86

[3. Functions relating to fixed penalty
notices.

Paragraphs 13, 15 and 16 of Schedule 1
to the 2006 Act.] 86

[

Smoke-free (Vehicle Operators and
Penalty Notices) Regulations 2007 (S.I.
2006/760).] 86

[4. Power to transfer enforcement
functions to another enforcement
authority.

Smoke-free (Premises and Enforcement)
Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/3368).] 86

G. Power to promote or oppose local
or personal Bills.

Section 239 of the Local Government Act
1972.

H. Functions relating to pensions etc.

1. Functions relating to local government Regulations under section 7, 12 or 24 of
the Superannuation Act 1972 (c. 11)87
pensions, etc.
.

[2 Functions under the Fire-fighters'
[Sections 34 and 36 of the Fire and
Pension Scheme relating to pensions, etc Rescue Services Act 2004 (c. 21)] 89
as respects persons employed by fire and
rescue authorities pursuant to section 1 of
the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004]
88

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

201

[I. Miscellaneous functions

] 90

[Part I: functions relating to public rights
of way

] 90

[

] 90

[ 1. Power to create footpath [, bridleway Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980 (c.
or restricted byway] 91
60).] 90
by agreement.

[ 2. Power to create footpaths [,
bridleways and restricted byways] 91

Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90

.

[3. Duty to keep register of information
with respect to maps, statements and
declarations.

Section 31A of the Highways Act 1980.] 90

[ 4. Power to stop up footpaths [,
bridleways and restricted byways] 91

Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90

.

[5. Power to determine application for
public path extinguishment order.

Sections 118ZA and 118C(2) of the
Highways Act 1980.] 90

[6. Power to make a rail crossing
extinguishment order.

Section 118A of the Highways Act 1980.]
90

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

202

[7. Power to make a special
extinguishment order.

Section 118B of the Highways Act 1980.]
90

[ 8. Power to divert footpaths [, bridleways Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90
and restricted byways] 91
.

[9. Power to make a public path diversion Sections 119ZA and 119C(4) of the
Highways Act 1980.] 90
order.

[10. Power to make a rail crossing
diversion order.

Section 119A of the Highways Act 1980.]

[11. Power to make a special diversion
order.

Section 119B of the Highways Act 1980.]

[12. Power to require applicant for order
to enter into agreement.

Section 119C(3) of the Highways Act
1980.] 90

[13. Power to make an SSSI diversion
order.

Section 119D of the Highways Act 1980.]

90

90

90

[14. Duty to keep register with respect to Section 121B of the Highways Act 1980.]
applications under sections 118ZA, 118C, 90
119ZA and 119C of the Highways Act
1980.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

203

[15. Power to decline to determine certain Section 121C of the Highways Act 1980.]
90
applications.

[16. Duty to assert and protect the rights Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90
of the public to use and enjoyment of
highways.

[17. Duty to serve notice of proposed
action in relation to obstruction.

Section 130A of the Highways Act 1980.]

[18. Power to apply for variation of order
under section 130B of the Highways Act
1980.

Section 130B(7) of the Highways Act
1980.] 90

[ 19. Power to authorise temporary
disturbance of surface of footpath [,
bridleway or restricted byway] 91

Section 135 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90

90

.

[ 20. Power temporarily to divert footpath Section 135A of the Highways Act 1980.]
90
[, bridleway or restricted byway] 91
.

[21. Functions relating to the making
good of damage and the removal of
obstructions.

Section 135B of the Highways Act 1980.]
90

Section 149 of the Highways Act 1980.] 90
[22. Powers relating to the removal of
things so deposited on highways as to be
a nuisance.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

204

[23. Power to extinguish certain public
rights of way.

Section 32 of the Acquisition of Land Act
1981 (c. 67).] 90

[24. Duty to keep definitive map and
statement under review.

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (c. 69).] 90

[25. Power to include modifications in
other orders.

Section 53A of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.] 90

[26. Duty to keep register of prescribed
information with respect to applications
under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.

Section 53B of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.] 90

[...] 91

[28. Power to prepare map and statement Section 57A of the Wildlife and
by way of consolidation of definitive map Countryside Act 1981.] 90
and statement.

[29. Power to designate footpath as cycle Section 3 of the Cycle Tracks Act 1984
(c. 38).] 90
track.

[30. Power to extinguish public right of
way over land acquired for clearance.

Section 294 of the Housing Act 1981 (c.
68).] 90

[ 31. Power to authorise stopping-up or
diversion of footpath [, bridleway or
restricted byway] 91

Section 257 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.] 90

.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

205

[32. Power to extinguish public rights of Section 258 of the Town and Country
way over land held for planning purposes. Planning Act 1990.] 90

[33. Power to enter into agreements with Section 35 of the Countryside and Rights
of Way Act 2000 (c. 37).] 90
respect to means of access.

[34. Power to provide access in absence Section 37 of the Countryside and Rights
of Way Act 2000.] 90
of agreement.

[Part II: other miscellaneous functions

] 90

[

] 90

[35. Functions relating to sea fisheries.

Sections 1, 2, 10 and 19 of the Sea
Fisheries Regulation Act 1966 (c. 38).] 90

[36. Power to make standing orders.

Section 106 of, and paragraph 42 of
Schedule 12 to, the Local Government
Act 1972 (c. 70).] 90

[37. Power to appoint staff, and to
determine the terms and conditions on
which they hold office (including
procedures for their dismissal).

Section 112 of the Local Government Act
1972.] 90

[38. Power to make standing orders as to Section 135 of the Local Government Act
1972.] 90
contracts.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

206

[39. Duty to make arrangements for
proper administration of financial affairs
etc.

Section 151 of the Local Government Act
1972.] 90

[40. Power to appoint officers for
particular purposes (appointment of
“proper officers”).

Section 270(3) of the Local Government
Act 1972.] 90

[41. Power to make limestone pavement Section 34(2) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (c. 69).] 90
order.

[42. Power to make closing order with
respect to take-away food shops.

Section 4 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (c.
30).] 90

[43. Duty to designate officer as the head Section 4(1) of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 (c. 42).] 90
of the authority's paid service, and to
provide staff, etc.

[44. Duty to designate officer as the
monitoring officer, and to provide staff,
etc.

Section 5(1) of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989.] 90

[44A. Duty to provide staff, etc to person [Sections 82A(4) and (5) of the Local
Government Act 200094
nominated by monitoring officer.
] 93
] 92

[44B. Powers relating to overview and
scrutiny committees (voting rights of coopted members).

[Paragraphs 12 and 14 of Schedule 1 to
the Local Government Act 2000.] 95
] 92

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

207

[45. Duty to approve authority's statement The Accounts and Audit Regulations
of accounts, income and expenditure and 1996 (S.I. 1996/590).] 90
balance sheet, or record of payments and
receipts (as the case may be).

[46. Powers relating to the protection of
important hedgerows.

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 (S.I.
1997/1160).] 90

[47. Powers relating to the preservation of Sections 197 to 214D of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990, and the
trees.
Trees Regulations 1999 (S.I.
1999/1892).] 90

[47A. Powers relating to complaints about Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act
2003.] 96
high hedges.

[48. Power to make payments or provide Section 92 of the Local Government Act
2000.] 90
other benefits in cases of
maladministration etc.

[49. Power to make an order identifying a Section 13(2) of the Criminal Justice and
place as a designated public place for the Police Act 2001 (c. 16).] 97
purposes of police powers in relation to
alcohol consumption.

[50. Power to make or revoke an order
designating a locality as an alcohol
disorder zone.

Section 16 of the Violent Crime Reduction
Act 2006 (c. 38).] 98

[Section 41 of the Commons Act 2006.]
[51. Power to apply for an enforcement
order against unlawful works on common 100
land.
] 99

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

208

[52. Power to protect unclaimed
registered common land and unclaimed
town or village greens against unlawful
interference.

[Section 45(2)(a) of the Commons Act
2006.] 102

[53. Power to institute proceedings for
offences in respect of unclaimed
registered common land and unclaimed
town or village greens.

[Section 45(2)(b) of the Commons Act
2006.] 104

] 101

] 103

Notes
1 . Substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment)
(No. 2) (England) Regulations 2004/2211 Sch.1 para.1 (September 28, 2004)
2 . Items revoked by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment)
(No. 2) (England) Regulations 2005/929 reg.2(4)(a) (April 22, 2005)
3 . Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(Amendment) (No. 2) (England) Regulations 2005/929 reg.2(4)(b) (April 22, 2005)
4 . Possible drafting error, words are purportedly inserted in item 18 but are more
appropriate in item 18A and therefore the amendment is applied to item 18A by
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment) (No. 2) (England)
Regulations 2005/929 reg.2(4)(c) (April 22, 2005)
5 . 1990 c.8. Section 171E was inserted by section 52 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
6 . Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(2)(d) (October 2, 2007)
7 . Item revoked by Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 (Abolition of
Conservation Area Consent) (Consequential and Saving Provisions) (England)
Order 2013/2146 Sch.1 para.6(a) (October 1, 2013: revocation has effect subject
to savings specified in SI 2013/2146 art.4 and SI 2013/148 art.5(4))
8 . Words revoked by Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 (Abolition of
Conservation Area Consent) (Consequential and Saving Provisions) (England)
Order 2013/2146 Sch.1 para.6(b) (October 1, 2013: revocation has effect subject
to savings specified in SI 2013/2146 art.4 and SI 2013/148 art.5(4))
9 . Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(2)(b)(i) (October 2, 2007)
10 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(2)(b)(ii) (October 2, 2007)
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

209

11 .Word substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(2)(c) (October 2, 2007)
12 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.2(1)(a) (November 23,
2004)
13 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.2(1)(b) (November 23,
2004)
14 .Entry inserted by Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register)
Regulations 2017/403 reg.19(2) (April 16, 2017)
15 .To which there are amendments not relevant to these Regulations.
16 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(a) (September 1, 2007)
17 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(b) (September 1, 2007)
18 .Schedules 5ZA was inserted by S.I. 1995/3231, article 5(6).
19 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(c) (September 1, 2007)
20 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(d) (September 1, 2007)
21 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(e) (September 1, 2007)
22 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(f) (September 1, 2007)
23 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1972 , section 204(6) and theLocal
Government, Planning and Land Act 1980, section 1(6), Schedule 6 paragraph 11
and Schedule 34, Pt VI.
24 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.1(1)(a) (November 23,
2004)
25 .Item substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013/2190 reg.3(a) (October 1, 2013)
26 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.1(1)(b) (November 23,
2004)
27 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013/2190 reg.3(b) (October 1, 2013)
28 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

210

(Amendment) Regulations 2013/2190 reg.3(c) (October 1, 2013)
29 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(g) (September 1, 2007)
30 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(h) (September 1, 2007)
31 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(3)(a) (October 2, 2007)
32 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(i) (September 1, 2007)
33 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(j) (September 1, 2007)
34 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(k) (September 1, 2007)
35 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(l) (September 1, 2007)
36 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment)
(England) Regulations 2006/886 Sch.1(1) para.1 (April 21, 2006)
37 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(a) (May 21, 2007)
38 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(b) (May 21, 2007)
39 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(m) (August 1, 2007)

40 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(n) (August 1, 2007)
41 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(c) (May 21, 2007)
42 .Possible drafting error, entry 14D not 14E contains words revoked by Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) (Amendment No. 3)
Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(o) (September 1, 2007)
43 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(d) (May 21, 2007)
44 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(e) (May 21, 2007)
45 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(f) (May 21, 2007)
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

211

46 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(g) (May 21, 2007)
47 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2007/1284 reg.2(2)(h) (May 21, 2007)
48 .Item revoked by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(3)(c) (October 2, 2007)
49 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(p) (September 1, 2007)
50 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2007/1950 reg.2(3)(q) (September 1, 2007)
51 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1974 (c.7), Schedule 6, paragraph 1,
section 18 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (c.57)
and section 186 of the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 (c.65).
Section 94(8) was substituted by the Deregulation (Public Health Acts Amendment
Act) Order 1997 (S.I. 1997/1187).
52 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1972, section 204(9) and the London
Local Authorities Act 1990 (c. vii), section 20.
53 .Entry revoked by Deregulation Act 2015 (Poisons and Explosives Precursors)
(Consequential Amendments, Revocations and Transitional Provisions) Order
2015/968 Sch.1 para.4 (May 26, 2015)
54 .Amended by the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport Act 1987 (c.27). See ,
in particular, Part II of, and Schedule 2 to, that Act.
55 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1974, section 42 and Schedule 8.
56 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1974, Schedule 6, paragraph 17 and by
the Protection of Animals (Amendment) Act 1988 (c.29), section 3(2) and (3) and
the Schedule.
57 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1974, section 35(1) and (2) and Schedule
6, paragraph 18 and by the Protection of Animals (Amendment) Act 1988, section
3(2) and (3) and the Schedule.
58 .Section 1 was amended by the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980,
section 1(6), Schedule 6, Schedule 34, paragraph 15 and by the Protection of
Animals (Amendment) Act 1988, section 3(2) and (3) and the Schedule.
59 .Amended by the Local Government Act 1974sections 35(1) and (2) and 42,
Schedule 6, paragraph 2(1) and Schedule 8.
60 .Amended by the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980, Schedule 6,
paragraph 6, and by section 3 of the Protection of Animals (Amendment) Act 1988.
61 .Section 46A was inserted by section 1 of the Marriage Act 1994 (c.34).
62 .Amended by S.I. 1968/658.
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

212

63 .The 1939 Act was amended by the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 29
paragraph 23. The 1916 Act and the 1939 Act are repealed (prospectively) by the
Charities Act 1992 (c.41).
64 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.1(2)(a) (November 23,
2004)
65 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.1(2)(b)(i) (November 23,
2004)
66 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.1(2)(b)(ii) (November 23,
2004)
67 .Sections 115E, 115F, 115G and 115K were inserted into the Highways Act 1980
(c. 66) by the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (c. 30),
section 20, Schedule 5, Part I, paragraph 1.
68 .Amended by section 22 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1982 (c.30).
69 .Amended by regulation 2 of the Meat Products (Hygiene) (Amendment)
Regulations 1999 (S.I. 1999/683).
70 .Amended by S.I. 1996/1699.
71 .Schedule 1A was inserted by S.I. 2000/930.
72 .Entries inserted subject to the operation of arrangements as specified in SI
2001/2212 reg.1 by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2001/2212 Sch.1(I) para.1 (July 10, 2001 except in
relation to local authorities as specified in SI 2001/2212 reg.1)
73 .Entry added by Motor Salvage Operators Regulations 2002/1916 reg.6 (October
21, 2002)
74 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.4 (November 28, 2008)
75 .As to the commencement of Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 see in relation to
England generally, the Commons Act 2006 (Commencement No. 3, Transitional
Provisions and Savings) (England) Order 2007 (S.I. 2007/2584), and in relation to
the pilot areas, the Commons Act 2006 (Commencement No. 4 and Savings)
(England) Order 2008 (S.I. 2008/1960).
76 .For the definition of “the relevant statutory provisions” see section 53(1) of the
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974. See also the definitions of “the existing
statutory provisions” and “health and safety regulations” in section 53(1) and, as
to “health and safety regulations”, section 15(1) of that Act which was substituted

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

213

by the Employment Protection Act 1975 (c.71), Schedule 15, paragraph 5.
77 .Subsection (4) of section 52 was substituted by the Representation of the People
Act 1985 (c.50), Schedule 4.
78 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(4)(a) (October 2, 2007)
79 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(4)(b) (October 2, 2007)
80 .Item revoked by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(4)(c) (October 2, 2007)
81 .Entries inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2008/516 reg.5(a) (March 31, 2008)
82 .Entries inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2008/516 reg.5(b) (March 31, 2008)
83 .Entry revoked by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.5 (November 28, 2008)
84 .Words substituted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006/886 Sch.1(1) para.2 (April 21, 2006)
85 .Section 14 of the Interpretation Act 1978 is applied to byelaws made under section
235 of the Local Government Act 1972 by section 22(1) of, and paragraph 3 of
Part I of Schedule 2 to, the Interpretation Act 1978.
86 .Item inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 4) Regulations 2007/2593 reg.2(5) (October 2, 2007)
87 .As to section 7 see also section 99 of the Local Government Act 2000 (c.22).
Section 12 of the Superannuation Act 1972 is amended by section 10 of the
Pensions (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1990 (c.7).
88 .Words substituted by Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (Consequential
Amendments) (England) Order 2004/3168 art.53(a) (December 30, 2004)
89 .Words substituted by Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (Consequential
Amendments) (England) Order 2004/3168 art.53(b) (December 30, 2004)
90 .Substituted subject to the operation of arrangements as specified in SI 2001/2212
reg.1 by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2001/2212 Sch.1(I) para.2 (July 10, 2001 except in
relation to local authorities as specified in SI 2001/2212 reg.1)
91 .Words substituted by Restricted Byways (Application and Consequential
Amendment of Provisions) Regulations 2006/1177 Sch.1(II) para.1 (July 2, 2006
in relation to England; July 11, 2006 otherwise)
92 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.2(2)(a) (November 23,
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

214

2004)
93 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.2(2)(b)(i) (November 23,
2004)
94 .Sections 82A(4) and (5) of the Local Government Act 2000 (c. 22) were inserted
by section 113 of the Local Government Act 2003 (c. 26).
95 .Words inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment
No. 3) (England) Regulations 2004/2748 Sch.1(1) para.2(2)(b)(ii) (November 23,
2004)
96 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment)
(England) Regulations 2005/714 reg.2(2) (June 1, 2005)
97 .Entry substituted by Local Authorities (Alcohol Consumption in Designated Public
Places) Regulations 2007/806 reg.10(2)(b) (April 6, 2007)
98 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Alcohol Disorder Zones) Regulations
2008/1430 Pt 6 reg.25 (June 5, 2008)
99 .Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
(Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(a) (November 28, 2008)

10 Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
0 . (Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(b) (November 28, 2008)
10 Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
1 . (Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(c) (November 28, 2008)
10 Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
2 . (Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(d) (November 28, 2008)
10 Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
3 . (Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(e) (November 28, 2008)
10 Entry inserted by Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
4 . (Amendment No. 3) Regulations 2008/2787 reg.6(f) (November 28, 2008)
Modifications
Sch. 1 para. 1

Modified by Local Government (Structural Changes)
(Transitional Arrangements) Regulations 2008/2113, Sch. 1
para. 1(d), Pt 2 reg. 6
Modified by Local Government (Structural Changes)
(Transitional Arrangements) Regulations 2008/2113, Sch. 1
para. 1(e), Pt 2 reg. 6

Crown Copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the Controller of HMSO
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

215

and the Queen’s Printer for Scotland
Subject: Local government

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

216

3B

Delegations to the Head of Paid Service
Corporate Directors and Statutory Officers

This Scheme sets out those delegations made to the Head of Paid Service and Corporate
Directors whether by the Council or by Cabinet (the Executive) or derived from statute. The
Scheme also sets out the powers of the Statutory Officers of the Council.
The Head of Paid Service, Corporate Directors and Statutory Officers may (where statute allows
this) further delegate responsibility for matters to officers within their departments. These
delegations must be in writing.
All delegated powers are derived from either the Council or Executive. The source of each
delegation is specified in the Scheme.
Council, Cabinet or Committees may reserve to themselves decisions that have been delegated
to officers by giving notice to the relevant Corporate Director or the Head of Paid Service.
When any new power or duty is given to the Council and it is unclear where responsibility for
that function lies, the exercise of that power or duty will be undertaken by the Head of Paid
Service or relevant Corporate Director.

Role of the Corporate Strategic Board (CSB)
The Chief Executive, Corporate Directors, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and
Director of Adult Social Services are members of CSB. All officer reports must be
considered by CSB in draft form before being submitted to Cabinet.
The terms of reference of CSB are as follows:
•

Provide strategic leadership by:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Setting a clear direction of travel and vision for the organisation
Developing council strategies and policies
Developing a corporate view and key messages
Providing robust and constructive challenge
Facilitating political management of cross council and partnership issues
Enhancing/maintaining the reputation of the council
Having overview of the council’s finances and budget
Having an overview of the council’s governance arrangements e.g. legal and
financial

•

Consider and make decisions on council issues which need cross council input
and/or ownership to deliver. These may be of particular high risk or complexity, or a
priority in the corporate plan.

•

Develop thinking at the beginning of a new policy or strategy to help set direction of
travel.
Collaborate on finding solutions to ‘sticky’ issues affecting the council or to improve
services.
Monitor corporate performance, budget and risk, and act as appropriate.

•
•

Role of the Building a Better Harrow Board (BBHB)
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

217

The Chief Executive, Corporate Directors, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer
Director of Adult Social Services and Divisional Director, People Services Strategy are
members of the BBHB. The terms of reference of the BBHB are as follows:
1. To provide a Strategic Regeneration Direction for London Borough of Harrow
to include:
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic Development & Council Lead Regeneration Plans
Long, Medium and Short Term Council Regeneration Investment Strategy
Wider Regeneration Programmes across the Council
Commercial Management of Councils Investments Vehicles (including Concilium
Group Ltd, Concilium Business Service Ltd trading as Smart Lettings, Concilium
Assets LLP and Sancroft Community Care Ltd)
Regeneration Programme - Build New Homes to provide long term income
streams to the Council, Affordable Housing and Social Rental properties.

2. To provide Strategic Direction & Statutory Compliance of all Councils Assets:
•
•
•
•

Asset Management Strategy (including Asset Rationalisation, Disposals and Best
use of Councils Assets)
Development of Corporate Landlord function (excluding Housing Assets)
Development of Council Regeneration Investment Programme (including land
assembly/acquisitions)
Strategic Management of all Councils Contracts including PFI contracts.

3. To provide a wider Strategic Direction on the interactions within Council
services to meet the Councils Ambition plan:
• Community Needs Strategy (including patterns of community need,
Homelessness, Care provision, Education and Health)
• Economic Strategy (including Income Generation with new businesses, Business
Retention and Rates, Homes, Employment, Apprenticeships and Improvement
of Harrow Town Centres/High Streets/District Centres)
• Improving Civic offer and making the most efficient use of public buildings.
Principles of Delegation
1

Officers may exercise delegated powers provided that the matter:a) is covered by an approved policy
b) there are no unusual features
c)

there are no political, controversial or other significant issues,

otherwise the matter should be referred to Members to determine.
2.

In exercising delegated powers officers must:

2.1

Incur expenditure within approved estimates/limits.

2.2

Comply with the Council’s Procedural Rules and Financial Regulations in force
at the time.

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

218

2.3

Comply with any policy, plan or direction of the Council, Cabinet or Committee.

2.4

Consult and where appropriate, and/or agree with other relevant officers.

2.5

Consult or refer the matter to the Head of Paid Service in appropriate cases.

2.6

Keep appropriate records and registers of decisions and report to Council,
Cabinet or Committee if required.

3.

In using delegated powers, officers are accountable to the Council or Cabinet or the
Committee from which those delegated powers derive.

4.

Acts of officers done under delegated powers are deemed to be acts of the Council.

5.

Delegations exercised in relation to contracts must follow the Contract Procedure Rules
in force at the time.

Non Executive Decision Procedure
The Head of Paid Service, Corporate Directors and Statutory Officers may be specifically
authorised to take decisions on behalf of the Council or a Committee in cases of urgency or in
relation to minor matters. In doing so the procedure set out below must be followed:

1.

Urgent Non-Executive Decisions and Minor Matters

1.1

Matters which are the responsibility of Council
In relation to matters which are the responsibility of Council, sSubject to
consultation with the Leader of the Council (or in his/her absence the Deputy
Leader) and the leaders of the political groups or their nominees, the Head of
Paid Service, Corporate Directors and Statutory Officers shall have the power to
act on behalf of the Council in cases of urgency and on minor matters, where the
urgent matter is of such a nature that it may be against the Council's interest to
delay and where it is not practicable to obtain the approval of the Council. In the
event of disagreement between the Members consulted the matter must be
referred to the Council., the delegated action shall not be exercised. The matter
must be referred to the Council. The safeguards in 1.3. below must be followed.

1.2

Matters which are the responsibility of Committees of the Council
In relation to matters which are the responsibility of a Council Committee,
sSubject to consultation with the Chair of the relevant committee and the
nominated members of the political groups or their nominees, the Head of Paid
Service, Corporate Directors and Statutory Officers shall have the power to act
on behalf of the Council in cases of urgency and on minor matters, where the
urgent matter is of such a nature that it may be against the Council's interest to
delay and where it is not practicable to obtain the approval of the Council
Committee. In the event of disagreement between the Members consulted, the
matter shall be referred to the Head of Paid Service who may take the decision
after consultation with the Leaders of all political groups or their nominees, and
if appropriate, with the statutory officers. The safeguards in 1.3. below must be
followed.

1.3

Safeguards

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

219

The procedure must only be used when considered essential to achieving the
efficient administration of the service and for urgent matters consideration must
be given to whether the matter can wait until the next scheduled meeting or
whether the calling of a special meeting can be justified.
The information in the report form must be given the same care and attention as
a report to the committee or to Council. Councillors must be given all the
information they need in order to fully consider the matter.

All decisions taken by officers under this delegated power must be
reported for information to the next meeting of the appropriate committee.
For minor matters the subject matter:

2.

•

should not give rise to implication of a policy or resource nature for the
authority;

•

the cost of implementing the decision must not exceed agreed budgets; and

•

the decision should not conflict with any plan or strategy agreed by the
Council.

Urgent Executive Decisions and Minor Matters Procedure
Matters, which are the responsibility of the Cabinet
All executive decisions shall be referred to the Portfolio Holder or the Cabinet
as appropriate for decision.

General
1.

Where appropriate the Head of Paid Service may exercise any function delegated to any
other officer, eg in case of absence.

2.

Corporate Directors may exercise any function delegated to any other officer within their
directorate.

3.

Corporate Directors may exercise any function outside their directorate delegations
delegated to them by the Head of Paid Service.

4. The Head of Paid Service and Corporate Directors have the following general powers:
4.

Tto manage and promote the services and functions for which they are responsible. This
includes:

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

220

Delegated Powers

3.1

General
Taking and implementing any decision
required for operational effectiveness.

Source of Delegated
Powers

Executive and Council

3.2

Responding to consultation documents,
which are considered appropriate to be Executive
dealt with at officer level. 

.

The Leader or and appropriate Portfolio
Holder for Performance, Customer
Services and Corporate Services, will
deal with all other consultation
responses – Section 3A Allocation of
Responsibilities

3.3

Bid for external resources for services within
their remit.

Executive

3.4

Liaise and develop partnerships with
external agencies, Government
departments and stakeholder
organisations.

Executive

Financial

Council

3.5

Authorise expenditure within approved
revenue budget estimates. Financial
delegations are set out in the Financial
Regulations.

3.6

Vire resources within the rules set out in
Section 3, paragraphs 13-16 of the Financial
Regulations.

Executive

3.7

Approve orders.

Executive

3.8

Authorise payment of invoices.

Executive

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

221

3.9

Authorise the collection of income.

Executive

3.10 Authorise petty cash and expenses via
payroll.

Executive

3.11 Write off debts up to £10,000.

Executive

3.12 To dispose of any minor asset (e.g furniture
and equipment) up to £10k in value in
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder.

3.13 To ensure at least an annual review of set,
vary and recover costs, fees and charges for
goods and services funded by the Council.

Executive

Contracts
Executive
3.14 Approve contracts without limit that do not
require sealing. Contractual Delegations are
set out in the Contract Procedure Rules.
Executive
3.15 Approve variations in contracts.

3.16 Approve use of consultants.

Executive

Human Resources
Council and Executive
3.17 To appoint, suspend and dismiss staff.
3.18 To take any action under the Council’s
employment policies and procedures.

Council and Executive

3.19 To re-organise staff within their directorates
subject to:
▪
Consultation with Head of Paid
Service and Head of HR
▪
Where appropriate, consultation with
staff and/or their representatives.
▪ Compliance with any relevant Council
policies or procedures
▪
No service policy implications.
▪
No expenditure in excess of budget.
▪
No growth in net expenditure beyond
the current year.

Council and Executive

3.20 To authorise absence leave and payments,
including overtime, expenses, loans, and ex

Executive

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

222

gratia payments subject to approval as set out
in the Financial Regulations and the Councils
Employment Policies.

3.21 To authorise training and development and
associated matters.

INDIVIDUAL DELEGATIONS

Executive

Source of Individual
Delegated Powers

Head of Paid Service
1.

To take any action necessary to ensure the
effective and efficient management and
operations of the Council. If following a
Borough Election the Leader has not been
elected as a councillor or, if re-elected, the
political party of which they are a member
does not have a majority on the Council, then
until a Leader is appointed, the Head of Paid
Service (in consultation with all Group
Leaders) shall be authorised to take and
implement any decision required for
operational effectiveness of the Council but
excepting any such responsibilities, duties and
powers specifically reserved to any other
person or body.

Executive and Council

2.

To promote the importance of the ethical
agenda and to sustain the highest standards
of ethical behaviour on the part of the
Council’s officers in accordance with the Code
of Conduct for Council Employees.

Council

3.

To make any decision delegated to another
officer with the exception of any decision
delegated to the Director of Legal and
Governance in respect of the Alternative
Business Structure licence obtained from the
Solicitor’s Regulatory Authority.

Executive and Council

4.

Approve minor and technical changes to the
Council constitution in consultation with the
Monitoring Officer.

Council

Council
London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

223

5.

Act in minor or urgent matters where to delay
for a Council meeting would not, in his/her
opinion, be in the Council’s interest, subject to
written approval of the Leaders of the political
groups. 

6.

Act in minor or urgent matters where to delay
for a Council committee meeting would not in
his/her opinion, be in the
Council’s interests, subject to consultation with
the political groups or their nominees.

Council

7.

To report as appropriate to the Authority in Council and Executive
the manner in which the Authority
discharges its functions:
the number and grades of staff required to
discharge its functions
the organisation of the Authority’s staff
the appointment and management of the
Authority’s staff.
8.

9.

Following consultation with the Leader
and Leader of the Opposition, to suspend
the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance
Officer in cases of emergency as defined
in the JNC procedure.
Following consultation with the Leader
and Leader of the Opposition, to refer
matters of discipline (as defined in the
disciplinary procedure) in respect of the
Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance
Officer to the Chief Officers’ Employment
Panel.

10. To make payments or provide other
benefits in cases of maladministration etc
in accordance with s92 of the Local
Government Act 2000.
11.

12.

To take any action necessary to ensure
the effective development and
implementation of the Council’s key
strategies and services.
To undertake any action necessary to
ensure the effective development and
implementation of the Council’s
Corporate Governance Framework.

Council

Council

Council

Executive and Council

Executive and Council

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

224

Commented [ST19]: Deleted as stated below.

Representing the Council on partnership or
external bodies as required (by Statute or
Council).

Council and Executive

 The powers in 5 and 6 above would be used only on production of a report, including
financial and legal implications. All decisions taken using the powers in 5 and 6 above
must be reported to the next meeting of the relevant committee or Council.

The Corporate Directors for
Community, Health & Wellbeing
People Communities, People and Environment
& Enterprise
Resources
Children & Families
All have the following delegated powers and duties

1.

To take any action necessary to ensure the
effective and efficient management of their
directorate

2.

To act in minor or urgent matters where to
delay to a Council Committee meeting would
not, in his/her opinion, be in the Council’s
interest, subject to consultation with the Chief
Executive and Leaders of the political groups
or their nominees.

3.

To take any action necessary to ensure the
effective development and implementation of
the Council’s key strategies and services
relating to their directorate.

4.

To undertake any action necessary to
ensure the effective development and
implementation of the Council’s
Corporate Governance Framework.

Council and Executive

Council

Council and Executive

Council and Executive

Director of Legal and Governance Services

1.

Director of Legal and Governance
Services
Council
To institute, defend or participate in any
legal proceedings, in any Court or Tribunal
and in any case where such action is
necessary to give effect to decisions of the
Council, or in any case where they he or

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

225

she considers that such action is
necessary to protect the Council’s
interests.
2.

Council
To delegate to any officer authority to
institute defend or participate in any legal
proceedings, in any Court or Tribunal and
in any case where such action is
necessary to give effect to decisions of the
Council, or in any case where they he or
she considers that such action is
necessary to protect the Council’s
interests.

To sign any document necessary to any legal
proceedings or proceedings on behalf of
the Council unless another person is
otherwise authorised by him or her them or
by the Council, or required to do so by an
enactment.
3.
4.

To authorise officers to appear in Court
on the Council’s behalf.
To act as the Pproper Oofficer for the
purposes of Births, Deaths and
Marriages, Elections , Key Decisions
Schedule and other appropriate
legislative requirements.

5. To undertake any action necessary to
ensure the effective development and
implementation of the Council’s Corporate
Governance Framework.
6. To authorise the affixing of the Council’s
seal and execution of deeds

Commented [C20]: This comes from the original wording in
Article 14.

Council

Council

Council and Executive

Council and Executive

To keep the Common Seal of the Council in a
safe place

Council?

To witness, or authorise others to witness, the
affixing of the Common Seal to those
documents which, in his or her opinion,
should be sealed.
7. To take all decisions in relation to HB
Public Law Limited, subject to the controls
given to the Council by the shareholder
agreement, and exercise day to day
control of the Alternative Business
Structure attached to the company.

Council?

Commented [C21]: From Article 14

Commented [C22]: From Article 14

Council and Executive

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities

226

London Borough of Harrow
Allocation of Responsibilities to Officers

227

STATUTORY OFFICERS
Head of Paid Service
Statutory Source of
Function
1.

Duty to prepare a report setting out proposals on the
following matters:
a.

b.
c.
d.

2.

the manner in which the discharge by the
authority of their different functions is coordinated;
the number and grades of staff required by the
authority for the discharge of their functions;
the organisation of the authority’s staff;
the appointment and proper management of the
authority’s staff

Sections
4 and
Local
Governm
ent and
Housing
Act 1989

Duty to arrange for a copy of the report to be sent Section 4 Local
to each member of the authority
Government and
Housing Act 1989

3.

Arrange for the authority to consider the report at Section 4 Local
a meeting held not more than three months after Government and
copies are first sent to members of the authority.
Housing Act 1989

4. All staff to be appointed on merit

Section 7 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989

5. Duty to adopt Standing Orders with respect to
staff.

Section 8 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1899

6. Confidentiality of staff records

Section 11 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989

7. Conflicts of interest in staff negotiations

Section 12 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989

8. Appointment of Staff

Section 112 Local
Government Act 1972

122

Monitoring Officer

228

Statutory
Source of
Function
1.

Report on contravention or likely contravention of any Section 5 & 5A Local
enactment or rule of law.
Government and
Housing Act 1989.

2.

Report on any maladministration or injustice where
Ombudsman has carried out an investigation.

Section 5 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989.

3.

Appointment of Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Section 5 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989.

4.

Report on resources needed to undertake Monitoring
Officer functions.

Section 5 Local
Government and
Housing Act 1989.

5.

Establish and maintain registers of member’s
interests and gifts and hospitality.

Sections 29 and 30
Localism Act 2011 The
Relevant authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests) Regulations
2012

6.

Advice to Members on interpretation of the Code.

Members’ Code of
Conduct

7.

Key role in framework for local determination of
complaints namely to:

Sections 28 – 34
Localism Act 2011

a. Decide, in consultation with an Independent
Person, whether to dismiss complaints that
are outside the Code of Conduct, are
considered to be frivolous or vexatious, are
about events which took place more than 6
months prior to the receipt of the complaint
by the Monitoring Officer, unless there are
exceptional circumstances and/or do not
merit further investigation on public interest
grounds.
b. Decide,
taking
into
account
the
recommendations of the Standards Working
Group following initial consideration of a
complaint which of the following options
should be pursued:
• the complaint should be investigated;
• the matter should proceed no further on
the grounds that there is no breach of the

123

229

•
•

Code or that it is not in the public interest
to proceed;
there has been a breach of the Code and
that a particular sanction should be
applied;
that further information should be
supplied to the Standards Working
Group.

c. Appoint an investigator to investigate
allegations of misconduct of Members in
accordance with the Standards framework.
d. Decide, following consideration of an
investigation report by the Standards
Working Group and taking into account their
recommendations, whether a hearing should
be held by the Standards Working Group or
whether no further action is required.
e. Decide, following a local hearing by the
Standards Working Group and taking into
account their recommendations, whether to
take action against a member on the
grounds that they have he or she has
breached the Code of Conduct or to take no
action.
f.

If they he or she feels it appropriate, refer a
matter back to the Standards Working Group
for further consideration where they he or
she disagrees with their recommendations
following a local hearing.

g. If he or shethey feels it appropriate, refer a
matter to the Governance, Audit, Risk
Management and Standards Committee for
decision. This can be done where they he
or she disagrees with the recommendations
of the Standards Working Group following a
local hearing and further consideration as
set out in f. above.
h. Advise Members, officers and the public on
the operation of the Code and how alleged
breaches should be investigated.
In exercising the delegations under a. - b. and d. – e
to seriously consider the view of the Independent
Person or Standards Working Group as appropriate.

8.

Advice to Members on Compensation or remedy for
maladministration.

Section 92 Local
Government Act 2000.

ODPM Gguidance.

124

230

9.

Advice on vires issues, maladministration, financial
impropriety, probity, policy framework and budget
issues to all members.

10. Following consultation with the Leader and
Leader of the Opposition, to suspend the Head
of Paid Service in cases of emergency as
defined in the JNC procedure.
11. Following consultation with the Leader and
Leader of the Opposition, refer matters of
discipline (as defined in the disciplinary
procedure) in respect of the Head of Paid
Service to the Chief Officers’ Employment
Panel.
To make minor and administrative changes to
the Constitution in order to ensure the aims
and principles of the Constitution are given
full effect and to make amendments in
accordance with changes to the law. All such
changes must be reported to the Council as
soon as possible after the change is made

Council decision July
2019

Council decision July
2019

Section 9P Local
Government Act 2000

Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer)

Statutory Source of
Function

1.

Section 151 Local
Government Act 1972

Oversight of proper administration of financial
affairs.

2.

Duty to nominate a member of his/her staff as chief
financial officer (if unable to act owing to absence or
illness).

Section 114 Local
Government Finance
Act 1988

3.

Duty to report on a Council decision or likely decision
which would lead to the authority incurring unlawful
expenditure or would cause a loss or deficiency to
the authority or entry of an unlawful item of account.

Section 114 Local
Government Finance
Act 1988

4.

Duty to report if the expenditure of the Council
incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur)
in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources
(including sums borrowed) available to it to meet
that expenditure.

Section 114 Local
Government Finance
Act 1988

5.

Duty to report on an Executive decision or likely
decision which would lead to the authority incurring
unlawful expenditure or would cause a loss or

Section 114A Local
Government Finance
Act 1988

125

231

deficiency to the authority or entry of an unlawful item
of account.

6.

Duty to report on the robustness of the authority’s
budget calculations.

Section 25 Local
Government Act 2003

7.

Duty to report on the adequacy of the authority’s
proposed financial reserves.

Section 25 Local
Government Act 2003

8.

Duty to report on previous years’ financial reserves if
it appears that controlled reserves is or likely to be
inadequate, including recommendations for
appropriate actions to rectify.

Section 27 Local
Government Act 2003

9.

Duty to assist the Council in carrying out regular
budget monitoring.

Section 28 Local
Government Act 2003

Director of Children’s Services

Statutory Source of
Function

1.

Responsible for functions conferred on or
exercisable by the authority in their capacity as a
local education authority

Section 18 Children Act
2004

2.

Responsible for functions conferred on or
exercisable by the authority, which are social
services functions, so far as those functions relate to
children.

Section 18 Children Act
2004

3.

Responsible for functions under section 23C to 24D
of the Children Act 1989, relating to looked after
children.

Section 18 Children Act
2004

4.

Improving well-being of children in the authority’s
area.

Sections 10 and 18
Children Act 2004

5.

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.

Sections 11 and 18
Children Act 2004

6.

Establish and maintain information databases in
relation to the well-being and safeguarding of
children

Section 12 and S18
Children Act 2004

126

232

Commented [C23]: Regs have been revoked – was to do
with something called ContactPoint which has been done away
with.?

7.

Preparation and publication of a
Children’s and young people’s plan.

8.

Sections 17 and 18
Children Act 2004.

Commented [C24]: There is no longer a requirement and the
reference to this is no longer in the policy framework..

Responsible for any function under section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 on behalf of an
NHS body so far as those relate to children.
Responsible for functions conferred on the authority by
Part 1 of the Childcare Act 2006

Section 18 Children Act
2004
Section 18 Children Act
2004

Commented [C25]: Added by Regulations in 2016.

Responsible for functions conferred on the authority under
section 2 of the Childcare Act 2016

Section 18 Children Act
2004

Commented [C26]: As above

9.

Section 18 Children Act
2004

Responsible for any additional functions as the
authority consider appropriate

Director of Adult Social Services

Statutory Source of
Function

1. Responsibility for all social services functions (other than Section. [1A] and
those for which the Director of Children’s Services is Schedule 1 of the Local
responsible under section 18 of the Children Act 2004). Authority Social
Services Act 1970

Director of Public Health

Statutory Source of
Function.

1.

Responsibility for the functions under S2B National
Health Service Act – taking steps to improve Health.

Ss 2B and 73A National
Health Service Act
2006.

2.

Responsibility for the functions under S111 National
Health Service Act – dental public health.

Ss 111 and 73A
National Health Service
Act 2006.

3.

Responsibility for the functions under S249 National
Health Service Act – joint working in respect of prison
health.

Ss249 and 73A
National Health Service
Act 2006.

4.

Responsibility for compliance with regulations made
under s6C(1) or (3) National Health Service Act 2006
–requirement to undertake functions of the Secretary
of State

Ss 6C(1) and (3)
National Health Service
Act 2006

5.

Responsibility for the functions under S7A National
Health Service Act – arrangements to undertake
Secretary of State’s functions.

Ss 7A and 73A National
Health Service Act
2006.

233

127

6.

Responsibility for the exercise by the authority of its
functions under Schedule 1 National Health Service
Act 2006 - inspection of school pupils.

Schedule 1 National
Health Service Act
2006

7.

Responsibility for any functions that relate to planning
for or responding to emergencies involving a risk to
public health.

S73A National Health
Service Act 2006.

8.

Responsibility for the functions under S325 Criminal
Justice Act 2003 – arrangements for assessing risk
of certain offenders.

S325 Criminal Justice
Act 2003

9.

To prepare an annual report on the health of the
people in Harrow

S73B(5) National
Health Service Act
2006

10. To be a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board

S194(2)(d) National
Health Service Act
Health and Social Care
Act 2012

11. Responsibility for the exercise of all other Local
Authority’s public health functions specified in
S73A(1) National Health Service Act 2006.

S73A National Health
Service Act 2006.

128

234

Scrutiny Officer

To promote the role of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and its sub-committees, to provide
support and guidance to members and officers of
the Committee and its sub-committees and to
provide support and guidance to members and
officers in relation to the functions of the Committee
and its sub-committees.

Statutory Source of
Functions

Section 9FB of the
Local Government Act
2000.

129

235

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Pages 237 to 242

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

APPOINTMENT OF EMPLOYERS’
REPRESENTATIVE (SCHEDULED AND
ADMITTED BODIES) TO THE PENSION
BOARD

237

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

Council

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Appointment of Employers’
Representative (Scheduled and
Admitted Bodies) to the Pension
Board
Dawn Calvert – Director of Finance
and Assurance

Responsible Officer:
Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

None

Enclosures:

None

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
This report recommends the appointment to a vacancy on the Pension
Board.

Recommendations:
The Council is RECOMMENDED to appoint Dr Simon Radford to the
Pension Board as the Employers’ Representative (Scheduled and Admitted
Bodies).

Section 2 – Report
1.

(The Pension Board’s terms of reference set out its role, responsibilities,
and the membership of the Board. The Board is constituted to have five
members, drawn from various groups of people, as follows:


2 Employer representatives – one each from
o The Administering Authority (Harrow Council)

239




o other scheduled and admitted bodies (ie other employers
who are participants in the Fund in accordance with the
LGPS Regulations)
2 Scheme Member representatives – one each from
o active members
o pensioners
1 Independent member (currently Mr Richard Harbord)

Elected Members and officers who are involved in the management
and administration of the Fund are not permitted to become Board
members. Board members are appointed for a three year term.
2.

The Board’s terms of reference also provide that all Board members will
be appointed by Full Council.

3.

It is a statutory requirement that the Administering Authority must be
satisfied that a person to be appointed as an Employer or Scheme
Member representative has the relevant experience and capacity to
represent employers or scheme members.

4.

There has been a vacancy for an employer representative from the
scheduled and admitted bodies since June 2018. At the request of the
Board, a further “recruitment drive” to fill the vacancy was recently
carried out.

5.

One nomination has been received for this vacancy, from Dr Simon
Radford, a governor at Stanmore College, one of the scheduled bodies
in the LBH Pension Fund. Officers have reviewed Dr Radford’s
nomination form and confirm that it indicates that he has the relevant
experience to undertake the role. At the invitation of the Chair, Dr
Radford attended the Board’s meeting on 8 July 2021 as an observer.

Legal Implications
6.

None.

Financial Implications
7.

None – Employer representatives are not paid by the Council for
undertaking this role.

Risk Management Implications
8.

Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No

9.

Separate risk register in place? Yes – Pension Fund Risk Register

240

10.

The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised
below. n/a

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality
Duty
11.

Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out? No

12.

There are no equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities
13.

Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the
Pension Fund. This directly affects the level of employer contribution
which, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities.
The Pension Board undertakes scrutiny of the arrangements for
management and governance of the Pension Fund, including investment
processes.

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
Statutory Officer: Dawn Calvert
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer

Date: 20/07/2021
Statutory Officer: Chris Cuckney
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer

Date: 29/07/2021
Chief Officer: Charlie Stewart
Signed by the Corporate Director

Date: 20/07/2021

Mandatory Checks
Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

241

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Report Author Jeremy Randall – Interim Pensions Consultant
Email Jeremy.randall@harrow.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

242

Agenda Item 14
Pages 243 to 246

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION
[20 APRIL 2021]

RECOMMENDATION I

SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 202021

243

This page is intentionally left blank

Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Minutes
20 April 2021
Present:
Chair:

Councillor Sachin Shah

Councillors:

Dan Anderson
Sarah Butterworth
Stephen Greek
Honey Jamie

Jean Lammiman
Chris Mote
Kanti Rabadia

Absent:

Councillor Jeff Anderson
Mr M Chandran
Harrow Youth Parliament
Representative

Mr N Ransley
Reverend P Reece
Ms M Trivedi

Recommended Items
155.

Scrutiny Annual Report 2020-2021
The Committee received the Scrutiny annual report 2020/21.
The Chair introduced the report and noted that due to the pandemic the report
could not be done in the format as the previous year, but thanked the officers
for delivering a good report.
The Committee thanked the officers for the report and be proud of what was
achieved given the circumstances. The Committee noted that it outlined the
past year well and gave a good insight into scrutiny.

245

Resolved to COUNCIL: That
(1)

the report be considered and agreed;

(2)

the report be submitted to Full Council for endorsement.

246

Agenda Item 15
Pages 247 to 250

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION
(20 APRIL 2021)
RECOMMENDATION I

SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME
2021-22

247

This page is intentionally left blank

Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Minutes
20 April 2021
Present:
Chair:

Councillor Sachin Shah

Councillors:

Dan Anderson
Sarah Butterworth
Stephen Greek
Honey Jamie

Jean Lammiman
Chris Mote
Kanti Rabadia

Absent:

Councillor Jeff Anderson
Mr M Chandran
Harrow Youth Parliament
Representative

Mr N Ransley
Reverend P Reece
Ms M Trivedi

Recommended Items
156.

Scrutiny Work Programme 2021-2022
The Committee received the Scrutiny Work Programme 2021/22.
The Chair introduced the report and noted this was a focus of what would
happen over the next year, with some key topics to come to scrutiny.
Resolved to RECOMMEND: (to Council)
That the Scrutiny Work Programme 2021-22 be submitted to Full Council for
endorsement.

249

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Pages 251 to 254

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

INFORMATION REPORT - DECISIONS TAKEN
UNDER THE URGENCY PROCEDURE COUNCIL

251

This page is intentionally left blank

REPORT FOR:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Decisions taken under the Urgency
Procedure - Council

Responsible Officer:

Hugh Peart – Director of Legal and
Governance Services

Exempt:

No

Enclosures:

None

In accordance with the delegations to Chief Officers, the Leaders of each of the
Political Groups on the Council were consulted on the following urgent decision,
which was approved on behalf of the Council, on the date below as it required
action prior to this meeting.
9 March 2021 – Membership of the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel
It was agreed that the membership of the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel be
increased from 5 to 7 (4 Labour Members, 3 Conservative Members) in order
to facilitate greater diversity on the Panel.

FOR INFORMATION
Contact:
Elaine McEachron, Democratic & Electoral Services Manager
Tel: 020 8424 1097
E-mail: elaine.mceachron@harrow.gov.uk
Background Papers: Urgent Decision Form.

253

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17
Pages 255 to 260

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

INFORMATION REPORT - DECISIONS TAKEN
UNDER THE URGENCY PROCEDURE EXECUTIVE

255

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

Council

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

Information Report - Decisions
taken under the Urgency
Procedure - Executive

Responsible Officer:

Hugh Peart – Monitoring Officer

Exempt:

No

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
This report sets out details of decisions taken under the Urgency procedure
by the Cabinet and Leader of the Council since the meeting of the Council
on 25 February 2021.

For Information

Report
In accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 47.6 set out in Part 4 of the
Council’s Constitution, any Executive decisions taken as a matter of urgency
are reported to the next available meeting of the Council.
There have been one such decision taken since the Council meeting on 25
February 2021, the details of which are below:
Subject

Decision Maker

Reason for Urgency

Leisure Contract – Future
Delivery Options

Cabinet – 29 April 2021

To enable the Council to
enter into a funding
agreement with the
Council’s leisure
operator, Sports and
Leisure Management
(Ltd) (Everyone Active)

257

as soon as possible to
ensure that the Council’s
3 leisure facilities can
remain open following
government approval to
do so on 12 April 2021
Ward Councillors, outside organisations and interested parties were consulted
on the reports considered by Cabinet and the Leader, as appropriate.
As the decision was deemed urgent, the agreement of the Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee was obtained that the decision would not
be subject to the call-in procedure.

General Exception, Special Urgency and Private Meetings
In accordance with Rule 17 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules, the
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed that the key decisions
in relation to the following recommendations from the Traffic and Road Safety
Advisory Panel (TARSAP) to Cabinet, which had not been included on the
Key Decision Schedule, could be taken:
Subject
TARSAP
Recommendations:

Decision Maker
Cabinet – 29 April 2021

(1) The Streetspace
Low Traffic
Neighbourhoods
(LTN) six-month
review

Reason for Urgency
1) The TARSAP met
and made
recommendations
on 22 April 2021;
2) The TARSAP had
indicated that the
recommendations
were urgent and
should be
considered at the
April Cabinet
meeting.

(2) The Streetspace
Cycle lane sixmonth review
(3) The Streetspace
School Streets
six-month
review

3) The experimental
traffic orders for the
schemes had a 6month statutory
consultation period
that ended in March.
It is necessary to
consider the large
number of public
representations
made and
determine whether
the traffic orders

258

should continue in
force.
4) Consideration by
the TARSAP had
already been
delayed to allow
specific consultation
to take place to
ensure that
residents' and other
stakeholders' views
were
understood. To
delay further would
lead to some
schemes being in
place for longer,
despite TARSAP
recommending
removal based on
the results of
consultation.

The General Exception procedure has not been used since the last report to
Council and nor has agreement needed to be sought from the Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Cabinet to meet in private.

Contact Details and Background Papers
Elaine McEachron, Democratic & Electoral Services Manager
Tel: 020 8424 1097
E-mail: elaine.mceachron@harrow.gov.uk

Background Papers:
Council’s Constitution
Reports considered by Cabinet on 29 April 2021

259

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 18
Pages 261 to 266

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

Information Report - Remuneration
Packages of £100,000 or greater

261

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

INFORMATION REPORT –
Remuneration packages of
£100,000 or greater

Responsible Officer:

Paul Hewitt
Corporate Director People Services

Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

N/A

Enclosures:

Appendix 1: Job Descriptions &
Person Specifications

263

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations
This report sets out a summary of the remuneration packages amounting to
£100,000 or greater approved by the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel for
the posts of Director of Education and Director People Services Strategy
and Commissioning.
FOR INFORMATION

Section 2 – Report
2.1

The Localism Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to agree and publish
an annual Pay Policy Statement.

2.2

The statutory guidance states: ‘Remuneration includes salary,
expenses, bonuses, performance related pay, as well as contractual
arrangements involving possible future severance payments’.
Authorities are required to take account of this guidance when
preparing their pay policy statements.

2.3

The Council delegates authority to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel
for determination of any remuneration package of £100,000 or payment
on termination of employment amount to £100,000 or greater. Council
also agreed that a summary of any remuneration packages or payments
on termination of employment amounting to £100,000 or greater
approved by the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel be reported for
information to full Council.

2.4

Since the last report to Council, the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel
has approved remuneration packages for the Director of Education and
Director of People Services Strategy and Commissioning in the People
Services directorate.

2.5

The current structure for People Services was established in April 2016
with the appointment of the Divisional Director Education Services and
Divisional Director People Services Strategy, Commercialisation and
Regeneration. Since then there have been several service reviews and
minor and major re-structures to realign services and ensure capacity is
effectively deployed including the People Services Commissioning restructure following the LGA Peer Review and the School Effectiveness
and Improvement and Early Years re-structures.

2.6

The role profiles for the Divisional Director posts and titles have been
reviewed and updated, to reflect the changes that had evolved over time,
and to incorporate the current responsibilities. The roles of these posts,
Director of Education Services and Director of People Services Strategy
and Commissioning are critical to ensure that there are clear lines of

264

accountability across the Directorate, and clarity about these
accountabilities for both internal and external stakeholders.
2.7

Prior to the evaluation, the current postholders were fulfilling the roles
and responsibilities set out at Appendix A and asked for the roles to be
re-evaluated. Both postholders are already in post and have been
assimilated to the new grade of D2, salary £109,785 - £123,588.

Legal Implications
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the Chief Officers’ Employment
Panel is required to approve a remuneration package of £100,000 or over for
any Council post.
The Panel is required to report back to Council, for information purposes, on all
such approved remuneration packages.

Financial Implications
The financial implications are contained within the current resources of the
People Services Directorate.

Risk Management Implications
Risk included on Directorates risk registers: No
Separate risk register in place: No
The report to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel complies with the Chief
Officer and senior manager contractual terms and conditions of employment.

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality
Duty
Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out? No
An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried out, as the
diversity of senior management is reported annually to the Employees’
Consultative Forum. The latest annual report identified from the Council’s
workforce profile data, that there is an under representation of women, BAME
and disabled staff in the current senior management structure. The following
actions have been proposed over the last number of years:


The Council will ensure all affected managers are treated fairly and there
is no discrimination.



The Council will continue to promote equality of opportunity and
encourage and facilitate the development and appointment of
underrepresented groups into senior posts.

265



As the current postholders has been assimilated into these roles, the
outcome of this exercise resulted in no change to this under
representation.



The Council will continue to monitor the representation of women, black
and ethnic minorities and those with a disability in senior management
through performance indicators and report this annually to the
Employees’ Consultative Forum.

Council Priorities
These roles will support the Council’s objectives in a number of areas and
relate to the following high-level priorities:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Improving the environment and addressing climate change
Tackling poverty and inequality
Building homes and infrastructure
Addressing health and social care inequality
Thriving economy

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Stacy Bailey, Interim Head of Employee Relations
Background Papers: Report to the Chief Officers’ Employment
Panel – 18 March 2021

266

Agenda Item 19
Pages 267 to 272

COUNCIL
30 SEPTEMBER 2021

INFORMATION REPORT – REMUNERATION
PACKAGE AND SEVERANCE PAYMENT OF
£100,000 OR GREATER

267

This page is intentionally left blank

Report for:

Council

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2021

Subject:

INFORMATION REPORT –
Remuneration packages and
severance payments of £100,000 or
greater

Responsible Officer:

Tracey Connage, Director of HR&OD

Exempt:

No

Wards affected:

N/a

Enclosures:

None

Section 1 – Summary
This report sets out a summary of the latest remuneration and severance packages
amounting to £100,000 or greater approved by the Chief Officers’ Employment
Panel.

FOR INFORMATION

269

Section 2 – Report
Background
1.

The Localism Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to agree and publish an
annual Pay Policy Statement.

2.

DCLG guidance (‘Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance
under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011’) states that that full Council
should be asked to determine whether it wishes to vote on any
remuneration package or payment on termination of employment amount to
£100,000 or greater.

3.

The statutory guidance states: ‘Remuneration includes salary, expenses,
bonuses, performance related pay, as well as contractual arrangements
involving possible future severance payments.’ Authorities are required to
take account of this guidance when preparing their pay policy statements.

4.

The Council delegates authority to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel for
determination of any remuneration package of £100,000 or payment on
termination of employment amount to £100,000 or greater. Council also
agreed that a summary of any remuneration packages or payments on
termination of employment amounting to £100,000 or greater approved by
the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel be reported for information to full
Council.

5.

Since the last report to Council, the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel has
approved remuneration packages for the following posts:



6.

Head of Change and Flexible Futures – Resources Directorate
Team Leader – Children Services – People Directorate

The post of Head of Change and Flexible Futures

On 27 July 2021 at the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel Members received
a report from the Corporate Director of Resources which set out details of a
new post of Head of Change and Flexible Futures and sought approval for a
potential salary level over £100,000.
7.

The Corporate Director of Resources outlined the content of the report and
explained that the matter was before Members as the role had been
evaluated at D1, the salary band of which straddled £100,000 and therefore
required the approval of the Panel. He advised that the postholder would
lead the introduction of flexible futures, which was critically important to the
Council, and augment further governance around project management. If
successful at the ring-fenced interview, the additional cost to the Council of

270

appointing the current Head of Change to this role would be £18,000 over
two years.
8.

It was resolved that the post of Head of Change and Flexible Futures be
allocated to the grade of D1, of which the top point exceeded £100,000.

9.

The post of Team Manager – Children’s Services – People Directorate
On 27 July 2021 at the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel Members received
a report from the Corporate Director of People which set out details of a
severance payment to a Team Manager within Children’s Services (see
costs in in point 13). The post is graded as MG1 (£53,568.00 plus on costs).
The statutory guidance states: ‘the components of relevant severance
packages may include salary paid in lieu, redundancy compensation,
pension entitlements, holiday pay and any bonuses, fees or allowances
paid’.

10. A significant proportion of the Council’s staff are members of the Local
Government Pension Scheme and many have long pensionable service.
Those aged 55 and over also have a statutory entitlement to payment of their
pension benefits if their employment is terminated on the grounds of
redundancy or efficiency of the service.
11. There has been a restructure within the Children’s Services team in order to
improve and strengthen service delivery to looked-after children and young
people. The restructure has been designed to implement best practice and
is in response to Ofsted inspection recommendations, feedback from
children and young people themselves, and messages from research about
the importance of stability and transitions for young people. The restructure
will build and strengthen capacity within the Corporate Parenting service,
minimise changes of workers for children and young people, develop
consistent decision-making and improve transitions for young people leaving
care.
12. This approach was endorsed by cross-party support at the Corporate
Parenting Panel. The new staffing structure will result in the deletion of 1 post
to realign staffing to resources to fit within the new structure. The new
structure is expected to be fully implemented from 1 October 2021.
13.

As the value of the severance payment exceeded £100k agreement from the
COEP was sought.

Section 3 – Financial Implications
The financial implications of this report will be contained within current budget
provision.’

Section 4 – Equalities Implications
Equality Impact Assessments, where appropriate, have been carried out and
published.

271

Section 5 - Statutory Officer Clearance
Statutory Officer: Dawn Calvert
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer
Date: 22 September 2021
Statutory Officer: Hugh Peart
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer Date:
Date: 22 September 2021

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background
Papers
Contact: Tracey Connage, Director of HR&OD –
tracey.connage@harrow.gov.uk
Background Papers:
Public report to the Chief Officers’ Employment Panel 27 July 2021.

272

